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The Dead Man Spoke ¢ o « ¢ o
The "Great Snow" of 1830-31, .
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All stories and yarns were copied per verbatim
from the book "Lincoln's Ovm Yarns and Storlies"
Edited by Col. A. K. McClure, except the paragraph
on page 3 and this was copied from "History of
Perry County, Indiana", by Thomas James De La Hunt.
(The paragraph in parenthesis.)
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ABRAHAM LINCOLN

The Unusual Lincoln Genealogical Circle

The Lincoln family originated in England.

The first of Abraham

Lincoln's progenitors, Samvel Iincoln, arrived in America in 1637.
From this chart may readily bes determined the curious fact that in

the last seven generauvions of the family not one of them died or
mrried in the state in which they were born. Abraham Lincoln II
died in England within a stone's throw of the birthplace of the
first American ancestor thus completing a genealogical circle.

SAIUEL LIWCOLN

Martha (Lyford ?)
> b Finghar , England
»“¢ M I'assachusetts

d Massaclusetts

~

//

ABRAHAM TINCOLN II

Y Washingten D.C. Sareh Jones

d London, Englard b Massachusstts

7\ M Massachusetts

ROBEET TODD LICOT ™ d Massachusetts
Mary Harlan
b Illirois
M Washington, D.C.
d Vermont

V/T\

MOREDCAT LINCOLN

/

IYORDECAI LINCOLN
Hannah Salter
b Massachusetts

ABUAHAM LIWCOLN M Wew Jersey

tary Tedd d Pennsylvania
b Kentucky -
¥ Illinois -

JOHN LINCOLN
Rebecca Flowers
b New Jersey

a We.shi&gton s D.C.

THCMAS LINCOLN
Mancy Hanks M Pennsylvania
b Virginia < d Virginia

. ~ /
M Kentuoky
d Miinois \ e
ABRAHAM T INCOLM
Bersheba Herrirg
b Fennsylvania
M Virginia
d Kentucky



LINCOLN GENEALOGICAL TABLE

£BRAHAM LINCOLN

1809-1865
i.ARY TCDD
1818-1882
Robert Todd Lincoln  Edwaird William ThoLas
18443-1926 18h5 1850 1853
Mary Harlan 1850 1862 1871
1847-1937
Mary Harlan Lincoln Abraham! Lincoln IT Jessie Lincoln
1869-1938 1872-1890 1875-194,8
Charles Isham
lst. Warren W. Beckwith
2nd. Edward F. Johnson
d. Rob dolph
Lincoln Isham 3rd. Robert Randolp
1892 . .
Leahalma Correa Mary lincoln Beckwith Robert Lincoln Beckwit
1898 1904

Mrs. Hazel H. Wilson
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THE BOY IN THE BACKVOODS =

His birthplace, in Hardin County, Kentucky, was but a wilderness, and
Spencer Covnty, Indiana, to which the Lincoln family moved when
Abranam was in his eighth year, was a wider and still more uncivilized
region. The little red schoolhouse which now so thickliv adorns the
country hillside had not yet been built. There were scattered log
schoolhovses, but they were few and far between., In several of these
Mr. Lincoln got the rvdiments of an education =- an education that was
never finished, for to the dav of his death he was a student and a
seeker after knowledge. Some records of his schoolboy days are still
left vs. One is a book made and bound by lincoln himself, in which he
had written the table of weights and rmessurec, and the sums to be
worked out therefrom. This was his arithmetic, for he was too poor to
own a printed copy.



A YOUTHFUL POET

On one of the pages of this quaint book he had written these four lines
of schoolboy doggerel:

"Abraham Lincoln,
His Hand ~nd Pen,
He will be {odd,
bput God lLunows when."

The poetic spirit was sirorg in the young scholar just then for on another
page of the same bcol he had written these two verses, which are supposed
to have been coriginal witii himg

“Time, what sn empty vapor ‘tis,
And davs, how swift they are;
Swift a3 an Indian arrow =-
Fly on like a shooting star.

The nrosent moment just is here,
Then slides away in haste,

That we can never say they're ours,
But only say they're past."

(One of his early teachers was Mr. Adam Shoenaker II who taught school in
Troy, Indiana (Spencer Ccuaty). )

Scme of Lincoln's early reading books were the Bible, Aesop's Fables, and
Veem's Life of Washington.

He wrote another specimen of poetical, or rhyming ability, and is found in
the following couplet, written by him for his friend, Joseph C. Richardson:

"Good boys who to their books apply,
%Will all be great men by and by."

The first law book he ever read was "The Statutes of Indiana". In reading
this book an idea came to him to becore a lawyer.

ABRAHAN LIWOOLN THE CH' ISTIAN - EARLY TRAINING

Mr, Iincoln's parents were Christians, first affiliated with the Free-Will
Baptist Church in Kentucky, 2nd afuwerward with the Presbyterian Church in
Indiana. Their home wes & heme of preyer, the Bitle was read morning and
evening, and his father alwav: vetuimed thanks at the table. On one occasion
the only thing they had for dinrer was roastved potatoes. After the father
had returned thanks for “these blessings," ycong Abe looked uwp and said,
"Dad, I call these mighty poor blessings."

COUILDN'T LCCATE HIS BIRTH’IACE

Yhile the celebrated artist, Yicks, was engaged in painting Mr. Lincoln's
portrait, just after the formert's first nomination fa the Presidency, he
asked the great statesman if he could point out the precise spot where he
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was born. Lincoln thought the matter over for a day or two, and then gave
the artist the following memorandum:

"Srringfield, Illinois
June 1h, 1860

"I was born Febrnary 12, 1809, in then Hardin Couvnty, Kentucky, at a point
within the now county of Larve, a mile or a mile and a half from where
Hodzen's mill now is. My parents being dead, and my own memory not serving,
I know no means of identifying the precise locality. It was on MNolen Creek.

A. LIVCOLN,"

"BOTH L'MGTH AND BREADTH"

During Tincoln's first ard only term in Congregg-- he was elected in

1846 -~ he forued quite a cordial friendshi~ w.th Stephen A. Dcuglas,

a member of the United States Senate from Illinois, and the beaten one

in the contest as to who should secire the hand of 1iiss Mary Todd.

Lincoln was the winner; Douglas afterwards beat him for the United States
Senate, but ILincoln went to the White House. During all of the time that
they were rivals in love and in politics they remained the best of friends
personally, They were always glad to see each other, and were freq ently
together. The Disparity in their size was always the more noticeable
upon such occasions, and they well deserved their nicknames of "Long Abe"
and the "Little Giant." Lincoln was the tallest man in the Mational House
of Lepresentatives, and Douglas the shortest (and perhaps broadest) man
in the Senate, and when they appzared on the streets together much merri-
ment was created. Lincoln, when joked about the matter, replied in a
very seriocus tone, "Yes, that's about the length and breadth of it."

"GOOD~-BYE TO Ttk OLD FOLK"

Earl in February, before leaving far Washington, Mr. Lincoln slipped
away from Springfield and paid a visit to his aged step-mother in Coles
County. He also paid a visit to the unmarked grave of his father and
ordered a suitable stone to mark the spot. Before leaving Springfield,
be rade an address to his fellow-townsmen, in vhich he displayed sincere
sorrov at parting from them. W"Friends," he said, "no one who has never
been placed in a like position can understand my feelings at this hour,
nor the opnressive sadness I feel at this parting. For more than a
quarter of a century I have lived among you, and during all that time I .
have received nothing but kindness at your hands. Here I have lived
from my youth until now I am an old man. Here the most sacred ties of
earth were assumed. Here all my children were barn, and here one of them
lies buried. "To you, dear frierds, I owe all that I have, all that I am.
A11 the strange, checkered past seems to c¢crowd now upon my mind, Today
I leave you. I go to assume a task more difficult than that which
devolved upon Washington. Unless the great God who assisted him shall
be with and aid me, I rust fail; but if the same omniscient mind and
almighty arm that directed and protected him shall guide and support me,
I shall not fail -~ I shall succeed. Let us all pray that the Ged of
cur fathers may not forsake us now, "To him I commend you all. Permit
me to ask tiat with egral sincerity and faith you will invoke His wisdom
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ptogridance for me. With tlese words I must leave you, for how long I
mww note.  Friends, one and all, I must now bid you an affectionate fare-
well." The journey from Swringfield to Philadelphia was a continuous
ovation for M, Lincoln., Crowds assembled to meet him at the various
places along the way, and he made them short speeches, full of humor

and good feeling., At Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, the party was met by
Allan Pinkerton, who knew of the plot in Baltimore to take the life of
Mr, Lincoln,

VAT AILED THZ BOYS

Mr, Roland Diller, who was one of Mr. Lincoln's neighbors in Springfield,
Tllinois, tells the following:

"T was called to the door one day by the cries of children in the street,
and there was Mr. Lincoln, striding by with two of his boys, both of whom
were wailing aloud. "Why, Mr. Lincoln, what's the matter with the boys?"
I asked. "Just what's the matter with the whole world," Lincoln replied.
"I've got three walnuts, and each wants two."

HOW HOMNINY WAS ORIGINATED

During the progress of a Cabinet meeting the subject of food for the men
in the Army happened to come up. From that the conversation changed to
the study of the Latin language. "I studied Latin once," said Mr. Lincoln
in a casnal way, "were you interested in it%" asked Mr. Sewart, the
Secretary of State. "Well, yes. I saw some very curious. things," was

the President's rejoinder. "Whatl asked Secretary Seward. "Well, there's
the vord hominy, for instance. Ve have just ordered a lot of that stuff
for the troons. I see how the word originated. I notice it came from the
Latin word homo == a man., "Homini =-- for man." "So you see, hominy
being 'for man,' comes from the Latin. I guess those soldiers who don't
know Latin will get along with it all right -~ though I won't rest real
easy until I hear from the Commissary Department on it."

LINCOLN'S IAST VRITTEN WQRDS

As the President and Mrs, Lincoln were leaving the White House, a few
ninvtes befcre eight o'clock, on the evening of April 1, 1865, Lincoln
rrote this note:

"Allow Mr. Ashmun and friend to come to see me at 9 o'clock a.m., tomorrow,
Anril 15, 1865."

THE DEAD I:AN SFOKE

Ir. Lincoln once said in a speech: "Fellow-citizens, my friend, Mr.
Douglas, had the startling announcement today that the Whigs are all
éead. "If that be so, fellow-citizens, you will now experience the
r-v.ity of hczring a speech from a dead man, and, I suppose you might
pronerly say, in the language of the old hymm: "Hark, from the tombs
a doiefui sound."
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THE Y"G'EAT SNCw" COF 1830-31

In explanation of Lincoln's great popularity, D. W. Bartlett, in his "Life
and Speeches of Abraham Lincoln," published in 1860, maskes this statement of
"ibet!s" efficient service to his neighbors in the "Great Snow" of 1830-1831:

"The deep snow which occurred in 1830-31 w as one of the chief troubles en~
dvred by the early settlers of central amd southern Illinois., Its conse-
quences lasted through several years., The people vwere illy prepared to
meet it, as the weather had been mild and pleasant -~ vnprecedentedly so up
to Christmas -- when a snow-storm set in which lasted tw: days, something
never before known even among the traditions of the Indians, and never
approached in the weather of any winter since.

"The pioneers who came into the State (then a territory) in 1800 . . . .
say the average depth of snow was never, previous to 1830, more than
knee-deep to an ordinary man, while it was breast~high all that winter.

o+ « o« It became crvsted over, so as, in some cases, to bear teams. Cattle
and horses perished, the winter wheat was killed, the meager stock of pro-
visions ran out, and during the three months continuance of the snow, ice
and continuous cold weather the ms t wealthy settlers came near starving,
while some of the poor ones actwlly did. It was in the midst of such
scenes that Abraham Lincoln attained his majority, and commenced his
career of bold and manly indepernderce. « . &

"Communication between house and house was often entirely obstructed for
tears, so that the young and strong men had to do all the traveling on
foet; carrying from one neighbor what of his store sorely needed. Men
living five, ten, twenty and thirty miles apart were called "neighbors"
then. Ycung Iincoln was always ready to perform these acts of humanity,
and was foremost in the counsels of the settlers when their troubles
seemed gathering like a thick cloud about them."

PEZTER CARTVEIGHT!S DESCEISTICN OF LINCOLN

Peter Cartwright, the famous and eccentric old Methodist preacher, who
used to ride a church circuit, as Mr. Lincoln and others did the court
circuit, did not like Lincoln very well, probably because Mr. Lincoln
was not a member of his flock, and once defeated the preacher for
Congress. This was Carturight!s description of Lineoln: "This Lincoln
is a man six feet four inches tall, but so angular that if you should
¢rop a plummet from the center of his head it would cut him three times
before it touched his feet."

DIGNIFYING THE STATUTE

Lincoln was married =- he balked at the first date set for the ceremony
and did nct show up at all -- November L, 1842, under most happy auspices.
e officiating clergyman, the Rev. Mr. Dresser, used the Episcopal church
service for marriage. Lincoln placed the ring up on the bride's finger,
and said, "with this ring I now thee wed, and with all my wordly goods I
thee endow." Judge Thomas C. Browne, who was present, exclaimed, "Good
gracious, Lincoln, the statute fixes all that!" "Ch, well," drawled
Linaeda 0T iast thanghto I3d-add 2 Titt]e dignity to the statute."
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ABRAHAI LINCOLN
WALKS AT MIDWIGHT

(In 8iringfield, Illinois)

Vachel Lindsay
(1879-1031)

It is portertcvs, and a thing of state,

That lhere at miduigrt, in our IiEile town,
A movraing figure walks, and will not »resth,
Near the old couwrthouse paciig up and dowm;

Or by his homesiezd, or in shadowed yar:s,
“e linzers vhaere ris children used to niay;

Or througa the markew. or the walli-worn stones
He stallkks until the dawn-stars burn away.

A bronzed, lank nar: His suit of ancient black,
A famocus high top-hat and nlsin wern snawl

“fake him the graint great fipwm o Llial men love,
The prairie-lawyer, master of us all.

He cannot sleen uwmon his hillside now.

He is amonz vs -~ as in times boeilcre!

And we wiro toss and lie awaxe for lung

Breathe deen, and start, to see him pess the door.

His head is bowed, He thinks on men and kings,
Yea, when the sick world cries, how can he sleep?
Too munmy pessants faght, tney krow not why,

Toc meny horesteads in black tarror weep.

The sins of all the usr-lords burn his heart.
He seas the dreasdnaughts scouring every main,
He czrries on nis shavl-wrarpad shecelders now
Tne bitterncss, the folly and the pain.

He canne? rest until a spirit--dswn

Shal’ come -~ tie shinivg hope of Furope free;
The leagie of scber folk, the Werkers'! Earth,
B*'*WlM long peace to Corwland, Alp, and Sea.

It breaks his heart that rinegs mast murder still,
That all kiz hours of travaili pere for men

Sce y in vain, And vho will bring white peace
lhav lie may sleer upon his hill again?



Mordecai 1771-1830
w. Mary Mudd

Josiah 1773-18358
m. Catharine Barlow

0od)

(s

Rotions! Mamariat

Sarah 1807-1828

n. Aaron Grigsby

ROBERT 1843-1926

m. Mary Harlan

16th President

Grandfather Father and of the United Edward 1846-1850
of the Mother Bf the States of
President President America
ABRANAM LINCOLN [Mary 1775- ? THOMAS LINCOLN _ |ABRAHAM 1809-1865 _ ABRAHAM LINCOLN
1744-1786 . Ralph Crume 1778-1851 m. Mary Todd 1809-1865
Married: Married: Married:
(1) Mary ? (1) Nancy Hankse Hary Todd

(;? Bersheba

Born in Penn-
sylvania, Married
in Virginia,
Killed by Indians
in Kentucky.

(2) Sarsh Bush

;ﬂ Johnston
THOMAS 1778-1851 /' Born 4n Virginia

@, (1) Nancy Hanks Married in
(2) Sarah Bugsh Kentucky, Moved
Johnston to Indiana, Died
in Coles County,
Illinois at
age 73,

Nancy 1780-1848
m. Willdam Brumfield

Thomas 1811-1811

Born in Kentucky

Willian 1850-1862

Moved to Indiana
Married (1842)
Congressman
(1846-48)
Pregident
(1860-65)
Assassinated in
Wash., D.C.(1865)
Buried in
Springfield, I11.

Thomas 1853-1871

Grandchildren:

From ROBERT & MARY LINCOWLY
1. Mary Lincoln
1869-1938
m. Charles Isham
2. Abraham (Jack) Lincoln
1873-1890
3. JESSIE LINCOLN
1875-1948
m. (1) Warren Beckwith
(2) Frank Johnson
(3) Robert Randolph

Great Grandchildren:

From Mary and Charles Isham
1. Lincoln Isham
1892-1971
n. Telhoma Correa
(No Children)

From JESSIE AND WARREN BECKWITH
1. Mary Lincoln Beckwith
1898-1975
Never Married

2, ROBERT TODD LINCOLN BECIWITH
1904~ 1985
m. (1) Mrs. Hazel Holland
Wilson
(No Children)
(2) Annamarie Hoffman
(No Children)

(3) Margaret Fristoe
(No Children)




Samuel 1650-1720

B. Debora Hersey

Daniel 1652-1732

m. Elizabeth Lincoln

Mordecal 1655-1655

MORDECAY 1§§e-17§§ .
m. (1)Hanah Salter
(2)Mary Robeson \ '
‘ \
\
Abraham 1688-1745% \

m. Rebecca ?

MORDECAT 1657-1727 \
®. (1) Sarah Jonek . \
(2) Mary Chapin\ . \
\
Thomas 1659-1661 \ Isaac 1691-1771 Y
Y] m. (1) Sarah Cummings
(2) Jael Garrett
SaamL LINcoln | Mary 1662-1752 . uppnECAY- LINCOLN - MORDECGAT LINCOLN
1619-1690 1657-1727 1686-1736
Married: Harried; Married:
Mary Lyford | pnonas 1664-1715 (1) Sarah Jomes|qs, .. 1694-1754 (1) Hanah
] 2 (2) Mary Chapin|[==—— ===l Salter
Moved from m. (1) Mary 1 m, Daniel Tower
England (Norfolkd  (2) "eh;::?t (2) Mary
Ringham County) : Robeson

to New Hingham,

Martha 1666-1741

Mass., in 1637.

Sarah 1669~1669

Sarah 1671-1743

Q1) (2)
1757 John Israel

Rebecca 1673- w. Clark Nichols

Moved to Monmoth
County, New
Jersey and then

E“Zili!h 1193_1724 on to Berks

c .
m. Ambrose Cole . oun'ty. Penn

' (1) (2)
Mary Susanna
Jacob 1708-1779 m. Holbrook Marble

JOHN 1716-1788

m. Rebecca
(Flowverxs)
Morris

\

Debora 1717- 1720 \

before
Hannah 17?7- 1769

w. Joseph Millard

after
Mary 1777~ 1769

w. Francis Yarnell

Ann 1725-1812

\

ABRARAM 1244~1786 -

a. () Mary 1
(2) Bersheba ?

Hannah 1748« 1803
W. ? Karrison

Lydia 1248- 1

m. Williaw Tallman

| Sarah 1727- 1810
m. William Boone

Mordecai 1730~1812

m. Mary Webd

Thomas 1732-1775"-°

m. Elizabeth Davis

Abraham 1736-1B06 m.

Y Isaac 1750-1816
o. Mary Waxd

JOHN LINCOLN Jacob 1751~ 1822
1716-1788 m. Dorcas Robinson
Married: -

Rebecca

(Flowers)

Morris John 1755-1835

Moved to Rock-
inghan County,
Virginia

Anne Boone

n. Mary Yarnell

Sarah 1757~ ?
m. ? Dean

Thomas 1761-~1819

m. Elizaleth.
Casner

Rebecca 1767-1E490
o. John Rircel
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Editorial
Abraham Lincoln and the Politics of Ethics

The post-Watergate standard of ethics has reached back in time to touch Lincoln. As with the ques-
tion of Lincoln’s view of race, attempts continue to be made to impose current standards and thinking
on mid-nineteenth century realities so that today’s investigators ask the question, ‘*‘Would Abraham
Lincoln have been prohibited from running for public office, or even indicted if he lived today?"’

Congressman Paul Findley, in his recently published A. Lincoln: The Crucible of Congress, tells us
how Congressman Lincoln falsified his travel expense voucher for travel to and from his home district
in Springfield. The use of the most “‘direct route” was required by Rule of the U.S. House of
Representatives. The national media, at the time of this book’s publication in 1979, as is their custom
for both the living and the dead, were quick to seize upon this alleged indiscretion. Yet the violation
was of Congressional rules, not federal laws, and the practice was sanctioned by the House committee
charged with overseeing these expenses. It was a form of remuneration or *perk’ permitted all Con-
gressmen domiciled away from the District of Columbia to aid them with their paltry stipends. It would
not be allowed today — perhaps because Congressmen now receive larger salaries and even larger
expense allowances.

Earlier in his career, Lincoln became foolishly involved in a dueling contest which never came to
fruition . He could have been criminally prosecuted for his actions, although the duel’s location was
outside the state of Ilinois where dueling violated the law. Section 44 of the Criminal Code of Illinois,
existing at the time of the invitation to duel, mandates that one who accepts or agrees to a duel should
be fined and prohibited from holding public office. The fact that he accepted the James Shields
challenge in 1842 could, if prosecuted and convicted, have ended his political career and thus denied
the country his great talents. While the consequences would have been devastating had Lincoln been
convicted, the fact remains that he was not.

The perception of crime and the enforcement thereof in our society shifts like sand. This fluidity in
our democratic society and in the administration of its justice defies a full rational explanation. In
Lincoln’s day, dueling was not uncommon. Law enforcement officials often looked the other way and
the sheriff, as in Lincoln’s case, usually sought out the parties not to arrest, but to protect them from
each other.

Lincoln, being honest — intellectually and otherwise, certainly must have been embarrassed by this
brush with the law. He may have feared arrest and prosecution; however, he probably worried more
about his reputation as a lawyer and Whig politician. His political party had long disavowed dueling
and attempted to embarrass Andrew Jackson with this very issue.

Lincoln, too, was not a quarrelsome, hot-blooded person. He would rather have worked things out.
On the one hand ‘‘honor and precedent’’ required acquiescence to the challenge of Shields, and on the
other, good sense required a diffusion of the potential threat of the law and bodily harm. Lincoln was
able to do the latter and remain a viable political force with his reputation intact.

Today, much would have been made of these events. The pressure of the media would force legal
confrontations as to the duel and House of Representatives disciplinary proceedings on the expense
accounts. But these events did not occur in 1983.

We cannot judge in any total sense certain events occurring over a century ago with what is currently
perceived as an illegal act or a case of bad judgment upon which the full wrath of press and prosecutor
would fall.

Nonetheless, Lincoln would have conducted himself today in a manner befitting his high moral and
honest nature. As for the events described above, they cannot be used to assassinate Lincoln’s
character. They are, in Lincoln’s words, ‘‘as thin as the homeopathic soup that was made by boiling
the shadow of a pigeon that had starved to death,”

Frank J. Williams

Editor’s Note: Frank J. Williams is an attorney who practices in Providence, Rhode Island. He is president of the
Lincoln Group of Boston and a member of the Board of Directors of the Abraham Lincoln Association, Spring-
field, Hlinois.

54



We Have Seen The Elephant:
The 48th Ohio At Shiloh

By Terrence J. Winschel

LINCOLN MUSEUM, LMU

Confederate Troops Charge into Camp @t Shiloh

As the light of dawn began 1o streak across the
horizon, the camps began (o stir. The forest abouot
was full of the sounds of an army coming to life:
the blowing of a bugle, the beating of a drum, the
voices of sergeants calling company roll, and the
clanking of cooking utensils. Even the aroma from
tins of colfee brewing on the fires (illed the air and
made its way to the picket line. Men who had stood
guard all night looked forward with expectation of
shortly being relieved and returning to camp to
enjoy a cup of the greatest solace known to a
goldier in the Neld. But reliel never came; for it was
Sunday, April 6, 1862, The great and bloody bartle
of Shiloh was abowt 1o begin,

I the spring of 1862 war wis still new to the na-
tion, then against itself divided. Although bartles
had already been fought in Arkansas, Missouri,
Tennessee, Virginia, New Mexico, the Indian Terri-
tory, and along the Atlantic and Gulf coasts, the
names of Antietam, Gettysburg, Vicksburg, Chick-
amauga, and scores of other Battles had vet o be
written on the pages of history, along with their
respective casualty lists. The men who would

=t

develop into the great battle captains were refative-
Iv unknown as the spring campaigns were liunched
throughout the fand. Many of the common soldiers
themselves still believed that the war would be
short, What foolishness prevailed! Few at thal time
could realize or comprehend the blood that was 1o
be shed before the inevitability of Appomaitox
would end the greatest tragedy in American
history.

For men such as Peter Sullivan this spring would
be o time of 1esting: for he was the colone] of a regi-
ment of raw recruils, the 48th Ohio Volunteer
Infantry fresh from Camp Denmison, Would he
prove himself a man worthy of his rank and of his
command? Or would fear and uncertainty prove
his master? No doubt, these same questions were
on the minds of his men as they awoke in cump that
Sunday morning , so far away from home and the
loved ones they had left behind. Only time would
tell.

These men of Calonel Sullivan's, good men all,
came from walks of life as varied as themselves.
They, like most men across the land, went off 1o



fight a war they knew little about. Many of them
were destined o die on bloodstained fields or
wither away in some prison; some would be
wounded or maimed for life, others would escape
the conflict unseathed. Yel, none would ever be the
same again. For Jesse Melson, Jacobh Thomas,
Isane Duncan, Clement Tudor, Hiram Manchester,
and others, the sands of time were aboul 10 run
out,

The regiment was  recruited  largely  from
southwestern Ohio, the counties of Highland,
Delaware, Clinton, Miami, Defiance, Brown, and
the city of Cincinnati. Their initinl training at
Camp Dennison consisted of squad, company, and
battalion drill, regular guard and fatigue duty, with
dress parade in the evenings, All this while, they
were withoul weapons of any sori. “Our ideas of
war, then," wrote John Berring, ““were rather ol a
romantic order. A skirmish, we supposed, would
be o recreation, and a battle a real enjoyment, and
some were even worried for fear the war would be
over belore we arrived, and peace declared before
we ever fired a gun, But these romantic notions
passed away, in the active service which soon
followed, "™

On Sunday, February 16, the aay Fort Donelson
fell, the regiment received orders to leave for
Paducah, Kentucky, the following morning, One
member of the regiment recalled that, **all was now
bustle and confusion. There were letters to write,
rations to cook, knapsacks to pack, teams 1o load,
et el bul at it we went with enthusiasm, and by
hard work we were ready at the appointed time. ™
OFT 1o war they went, soldiers every one, or al least
50 they thought, For many, the time to die had
come,

Leaving Cincinnati on the steamers Flastings and
Argonaut, the regiment arrived in Paducah on the
20th . An uneasy feeling hung over the camp as they
posted their first picket in the field, s6ill without
weapons. Finally, on ‘March 5, Austrian Rifle-
muskets were issued the men, and they immediately
drilled in the manual of arms. In one month's time,
these raw recruits with inferior weapons would ex-
perence the “glory'* of war in all its horror.

Without time to get accustomed to ther new
weapons, the regiment was sent 1o the feld of ac-
tive opetations. As the army concentrated at Fort
Henry on the Tennessee River, the regiment em-
barked on Empress and immediately  steamed
southward, Along with the T0th and T2nd Ohio
Volunteer Infantry Regiments, they formed the 4th
Brigade (Colonel Ralph Buckland), Fifth Division
(Brigadier General William T. Sherman), of the
Union Army of the Tennessee commanded by
Major General Ulysses S, Grant,

56

LINCOLN MUSEUM, LMU
Ulysses 8. Grani

All in readiness, the feet consisting of eighty-two
steameérs lelt Fort Henry and started up river
toward Savannah, Tennessee, Near Savannah, the
Army of the Tennessee awailed the arrival of
Major General Don Carlos Buoell's Army of the
Ohio marching from MNashville. The 5th Division,
however ,continued up river, their object was tocut
the Memphis & Charlesion Railroad ai Eastport,
Mississippi. This would prevemt Confederaie
Cieneral Albert Sidney Johnston from rendezvous-
ing with General Pierre G.T. Beauregard at
Corinth, Mississippi. Failing in this plan becausc
of heavy rains and high waters, the Division with-
drew downriver to Pittsbure Landing and there
remained.

The intersection of the Mobile & Ohio and the
Memphis & Charleston Railroads at Corinth was
the object of Grant's campaign. With this in mind,
additional units from Grant's army were sent from
Savannah to Pitisburg Landing. Thus, Grant was
unintentionally setting the stage for the bloody
battle ar Pittsburg Landing,

On the western side of the Tennessee River,
Pittsburg Landing was site of a store-house, a
grocery, and a dwelling. The surrounding country
consisted of a few cultivated Melds and vast tracts
of heavily timbered land. There were also several
roads which radiated from the landing to Ham-
burg, Crump's Landing, and Purdy, Tennessee,
and Corinth, Mississippi. Twe and one-half miles
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southwest of the landing was a small Methodist
Meeting House nomed Shiloh, which means,
“peaee. ' How strange it scemed that on this
Sunday morning, men gathered at this holy place
not o worship God, but to destroy the [inest of His
creations:

On Tuesday, March 18, after a twelve-day con-
finement aboard the Empress, the regiment had
disembarked at Pittsburg Landing . Marching o hall’
mile inland, the Ohioans bivouacked on the blulTs
overlooking the river. Three days later the brigade
moved Farther inland, making room at the landing
for the rest of the army, and camped near the in-
tersection of the Corinth and Purdy Roads. The
camp wias on ground sparsely forested with oaks
and cedars. Their tents were pitched on the brow of
a south sloping hill at the base of which flowed a
branch of Owl Creek. Two hundred vards 1o their
left stood Shiloh Meeting House. In from of and
beyond the small church was camped the 3rd
Brignde of the division under the command of
Colonel Jesse Hildebrand, Extending the line to the
right, Buckland's 4th Brigade was positioned with
the 70th Ohio on the left, 48th Dhio in the ¢enter,
and the 72nd Ohio on the right. Anchoring the line
on the right, was Colonel John A, McDowell's 11
Brigade of Sherman’s Fifth Division,

For the next two weeks, as the Union forees were
setting up camp between the landing and Shiloh
Church, the men of the brigade busted themselves
with picket duty and drill. With victories at Forts

Henry and Donelson already (o thelr credit, the
army took on an air of conlidence. Because of the
confidence, no one thought of preparing the camps
for defense, even though the Confederate army was
less than twenty miles distant, This neglect of or-
dinary precautions was (o cost Crant dearly on
April &, Tar there were entire regiments of uniried
men and officers under his command. These
“*green’’ units were in the most advance positions,
the 48th Ohio among them.

On April 3, the day orders were Issued for the
Confederate army lo advance on Pittsburg Land-
tmg, the regiment came under its first fire. The
brigade made a reconnaisanee along the Corinth
Road. Five miles from camp the road forked. Here
the brigade halted and sent two companies forward
as skirmishers. They guickly met those of the
enemy’s cavalry, but, as orders were "‘not 1o be
drawn into battle,”* the skirmishers fell back and
the brigade returned to camp.

The next day, early in the afternoon, enemy
citvalry attacked the left of the Ohioans' picket
line. The long roll beat and the brigade moved at
the double quick to the picket line. Before the
brigade became engaged, however, the Conleder-
ates withdrew laking Liewtenant John Greer of
Buckland's stall and eight other men with them as
prisoners. Again, on April § the long roll beat. The
brigade formed on the color line and there remain-
ed for an hour until the firing ceased.

The day wore away. The sounds of tattoo softly
filled the mir as the stars began to appear in the
evening sky. Many men in the ranks were convine-
ed that the entire Confederate army was in their
immediate front, because of the [requent atiacks
on the pickets and the bold mancuvering of the
enemy cavalry over the previous few days. Colonel
Sullivan strengthened the pickets, and issued orders
that he was 1o be awakened the moment the picket
line was fired upon , The brigade slept on their arms
during the night as they fel certoin to do battle on
the morrow. Unfortunately, the high command did
not share the premonitions of (he men in the Geld.
On April 5, Grunt had telegraphed Major General
Henry Halleck, *'1 have scarcely the faintest iden of
an attack being made upon us, but will be prepared
should such a thing take place.”' He wis not
prepared when the battle opened!

That night, barely two miles from Shiloh
Chureh , the Confederates held a council of war.
Both Johnston and Beauregard were present ai the
council, along with the corps commandérs except
Major General William Hardee, and a lew stafl
officers. Johnston concluded the council by saying,
*“We. shall attack af davlight tomorrow, .. .l
would fight them if they were a million.'™ The



stage was set. The battle would open with the rising
sun.

Musketry had been heard in the distance for
about an hour when the sun appeared creeping
over the hills east of the Tennessee River on April
6. The wind carried the sounds of a battle constant-
ly increasing in magnitude. Beyond the front lines,
skirmishers were contesting the advance of the gray
hosts, buying time for the army to prepare for
battle. The brigade’s picket line along Shiloh
Branch was strengthened, and the long roll beaten.
The Ohioans formed on their color line and
prepared to meet the enemy’s advance. Artillery
pieces along the Corinth Road near Shiloh Church
were brought to bear on the woods in their front.
The bloodshed was now to begin. By day’s end,
thousands of men Blue and Gray would give the
““last full measure of devotion.””’

As these preparations were being made, the rattle
of musketry and the roar of artillery became almost
deafening on the left. The Confederate attack came
crashing in on unprepared Union camps. Brigadier
General Benjamin Prentiss’ Sixth Division was
hard pressed and falling back. Twenty minutes
later the enemy appeared in Buckland’s front. To
the raw recruits the gray masses seemed to come on
in splendid style with lines neatly dressed and
extending beyond the Ohioans’ flanks in both
directions.

At first, Sherman did not believe the reports
which filtered back to headquarters. Shortly after 7
a.m., Sherman rode to his left to investigate the
commotion when his party came under fire. Look-
ing out, he could see ‘‘the glistening bayonets of
heavy masses of infantry to our left front in the
woods beyond the small stream. . . , and became
satisfied for the first time that the enemy designed a
determined attack on our whole camp.”* As Con-
federate artillery roared into action against Sher-
man’s line, he ordered his men to hold fast and he
sent for reinforcements.

The blueclad pickets fired a volley and fell back
upon the brigade which Colonel Buckland had sent
sweeping down the hill to support them. As the
48th moved forward, they realized that the Con-
federates had crossed Shiloh Branch and were
advancing on their camps. An officer of the 48th
recalled, ‘“The left of our Regiment was scarcely in
line, when the rebels, who were not more than a
hundred yards distant, opened on our ranks, killing
and wounding a number of the Regiment at their
first fire.”? The regiment’s lieutenant colonel, Job
Parker, reported, ‘“They came upon us so suddenly

*Positive identification cannot be made by use of
the regimental roster.
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that for a short time our men wavered, but soon
rallied again. . . . With the exception of Sergeant
Jones*, our color-bearer, who shamefully deserted
us in five minutes after the action commenced, our
men fought bravely. . . .>"'®

Union artillery roared into action with a
vengeance. The brigade opened fire, front rank
followed quickly by the rear rank. The Confederate
drive was checked and driven back across the
stream. One attack after another was repulsed with
fearful loss. For nearly two hours Sherman’s men
held grimly to their task. As the pressure began to
mount on the left, it soon became apparent that the
position could no longer be held.

Before the order to withdraw could be given, the
left of the line broke and fled to the rear. As the
Confederate onslaught came rushing in, Hilde-
brand’s brigade was overwhelmed and soon disap-
peared. Panic and confusion gripped the men as
the colonel of the left most regiment cried, ‘‘Fall
back and save yourselves.”'" The Union front was
giving way before the powerful Confederate
advance. Outflanked on the left, and facing over-
whelming numbers in front, there was nothing else
for the Ohioans to do but to fall back. At 10:00
a.m., the brigade began an orderly withdrawal to
the Purdy Road followed closely by the Con-
federates.

Back through their camps and over company
streets went the Ohioans toward the Purdy Road.
In an effort to stem the Confederate attack, Major
General John A. McClernand had his division take
up position along the Purdy Road to Sherman’s
left and rear. As the alarm sounded throughout the
remainder of the Union camps, thousands of
panic-stricken men fled toward the landing, dis-
rupting fresh, orderly lines advancing toward the
front. Hundreds of men threw down their weapons
and entire batteries were abandoned on the field.
The army was being forced back toward the Ten-
nessee River.

Buckland’s Brigade began to reform along the
Purdy Road, but the stand was short-lived. One of
the brigade’s colonels reported, ‘I formed on the
road, but so many retiring troops mingled with us
we became much broken and separated.’’'? Com-
pany E, Ist Illinois Light Artillery, lost three guns
to the enemy before they reached the Purdy Road.
A soldier in the regiment recalled, ‘“We had scarce-
ly halted, when a battery [Captain Frederick Behr’s
6th Battery Indiana Light Artillery] came dashing
along the road at full speed, to our right. They had
passed us but a short distance when they were
captured.’’'! The withdrawal continued, and the
gray tide swept across Purdy Road.

Back through the woods and fields west of



Corinth Road went the remnants of Sherman’s
Division. Solid shot and shell from Confederate
batteries came crashing through the trees and
among the men. Casualties began to mount, still
the men fought valiantly. The raw recruits from
Ohio were rapidly becoming soldiers to be proud
of. A half mile beyond Purdy Road the regiment
took up a strong position at the base of a slope.
Here they fought stubbornly, repulsing an enemy
attack and causing them to fall back in disorder.
‘““We are now cut off from the river by the road,”’
wrote a member of the regiment. *‘Behind us were
the marshy bottoms of Owl Creek; in our front was
the victorious rebel army; to our left, Pittsburg
Landing .After a consultation, as we were detached
[separated] from our Division, we took the nearest
practicable route to the Landing .”*'*

As Sherman’s and McClernand’s Divisions were
being forced back through the countryside north of
the Corinth Road through Sowell’s and Jones’
fields, the divisions of Prentiss and Brigadier
General William H.L. Wallace were making an
obstinate stand in a sunken roadbed further to the
left. A heroic stand, in what became known as the
‘““Hornets’ Nest,”’ bought the time necessary for
Grant to set up a last ditch line near the landing.
The stand in the “Hornet’s Nest”’ probably
prevented Grant’s army from being driven into the
river and destroyed.

The sun’s rays began to cast long shadows over
the countryside. The Union center was still holding
firm in the ‘“Hornets’ Nest,”’ but was slowly being
surrounded by the advancing Confederates. The
Union right was still being pushed back. The
Ohioans fell back across Tilghman Branch to the
Savannah-Hamburg Road. Once regrouped, the
regiment was ordered to the right to guard the
Savannah-Hamburg Road bridge over Snake
Creek; the road by which Major General Lew
Wallace’s division was expected to arrive at any
moment. The regiment marched a short distance
before the order was countermanded. The march
was then resumed toward the landing.

The sun was sinking in the western sky when
what remained of the regiment arrived at the land-
ing. It had been a frightful day! Yet, to the men
who had proven themselves to be soldiers, men
who had stood the crash of musketry, the roar of
artillery, the agonizing screams of wounded men,
and the smell of death, the sight of the landing was
more appalling than any they had seen on the
battlefield that day, Cowering under the bluffs
were thousands of panic-stricken, frightened men;
many of whom had fled from the front without fir-
ing a shot. There were some men attempting to
swim across the Tennessee River or float across on
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logs. Amidst the confusion at the landing, the regi-
ment stacked their arms and filled their canteens.

The battle continued to rage as the regiment fell
into line and advanced toward the front. An officer
in the regiment recalled how they ‘‘were greeted on
all sides by deafening cheers by the troops, who
thought we were the advance of Gen. Buell’s army,
who were then expected every moment. But when
we told them we had been in the battle all day, their
cheers died away, and they looked more gloomy
than ever.””'* But Buell’s army was near at hand, its
leading brigade was at that very moment appearing
on the eastern side of the river. If Grant’s army
could hold its own a little longer, the day could yet
be saved and victory won.

As Buell’s troops boarded a transport, the 48th
Ohio moved into position to support a battery of
siege guns. John Berring wrote:

. . .1o sooner had we occupied our position, than the
enemy opened on us a frightful fire from their ar-
tillery. They then entered the ravine in our front, to
make the final charge, and drive us into the Tennessee
River. Then came the “‘rebel yell,”’ that we had heard
so often that day, and we knew that the charge would
follow. . . .We could hear the heavy tramp of the
rebel columns advancing on double-quick. The next
moment our cannoneers sprang to their posts and
discharged their double-shotted guns, loaded with
grape [sic] and canister, at the rebel ranks, not more
than fifty yards distant, while the infantry poured
forth an incessant fire of musketry. The ground seem-
ed to tremble, and the woods before us were swept by
a storm of shell and canister men and horses suc-
cumbed to the withering fire, and when the smoke
cleared away the rebels were seen in full retreat, flying
in every direction.'®
Thus ended the first day of battle, a bloody day it
was! The bluffs overlooking Pittsburg Landing
were still in the hands of the blueclad army, but the
contest was not yet over.

Rain began to fall as darkness settled over the
fields. The downpour continued throughout the
night and drenched both man and beast. After
being issued a few crackers, the regiment stumbled
its way forward about a mile before lying down to
rest. But there was little sleep that night, for the
Union gunboats Tyler and Lexington fired their big
guns every fifteen minutes throughout the night.
The sounds of death were everywhere, penetrating
the darkness as did the rain, filling the night with
terror for those who lay in the mud, wondering
what it was all about. Did anybody really know?
Did anybody really care?

For Clement Tudor, Jesse Nelson, Jacob
Thomas and others, the war ended that day. Exact-
ly where or when they fell, few, if any, could say.
What had happened to the others missing from the



ranks at day’s end? Did they too lie dead upon the
field? Or was their lifeblood ocozing out from a
gaping wound? Were they making peace with their
Creator? Or were they thinking of loved ones at
home? One thing was certain—they had all *‘Seen
the Elephant.”

Throughout the night the rain continued as
preparations were made to resume battle on the
morrow. Lew Wallace’s division had finally arrived
on the field and was posted on the Union right. In
addition, the transports continued to ferry Buell’s
army across the river so that by morning much of
his army was in position on the Union left. With all
in readiness, the Union forces waited for the light
of dawn ‘“‘to redeem on Monday the losses of
3unday. "’

At daylight orders were issued for an advance of
the entire line to recapture the original camps. The
advance was not smooth as some units began
earlier than others. The advance met with little
resistance at first; for during the night, Con-
federate forces had disengaged and pulled back two
miles from Union troops.

Sherman had difficulty getting his units organiz-
ed, but finally advanced at 9:00 a.m. Through
Perry field and across Tilghman Branch, the divi-
sion advanced in a southerly direction. After an ad-
vance of one-half mile, the division came to the
eastern end of Jones’ field and halted. Here it came
under fire of Confederate artillery and remained so
for an hour. At 10:00 a.m. the advance continued
all along the line. Sherman’s troops charged across
the field on the double-quick, seeking shelter in the
woods on the other side. At this time, wrote one
member of the regiment, ‘‘Our batteries were soon
brought to the front, when a regular artillery duel
followed, which lasted about two hours, and at
times became almost deafening, sending the shell
and solid shot crashing through the timber, and
tearing up the ground around us.”’'* With renewed

vigor, the bloodshed continued.

Throughout the day the Confederates made a
determined stand at every advantageous point.
They even counterattacked when the opportunity
presented itself, but the effort and the sacrifice
were to no avail. The pressure of the Union ad-
vance continued to force the Confederates back.
By mid-afternoon the Federals had gained control
of the Hamburg-Purdy Road and had pushed the
Confederates beyond Shiloh Church. Once the
original line of camps had been reached the ad-
vance ceased. There was no pursuit. The battle was
over,

“Our camp and the battlefield was a heart-
sickening sight,”” wrote John Berring. ‘“The bodies
of dead horses and wrecks of wagons, caissons,
guns, and all kinds of war implements, were strewn
over the battlefield. The dead were lying in every
conceivable shape. Some had fallen with their guns
fast in their hands; others had received the
messenger of death, and with their life-blood ebb-
ing away, had sought the shelter of logs and trees,
and laid down to die.”’'® The regiment had lost 153
men killed, wounded or missing. Among the
wounded was Colonel Peter Sullivan who had his
left arm shattered late in the afternoon of the 7th.
The Ohioans buried dead of both sides, their own
dead in twenty graves, the Confederate dead in one
long trench.

Many years have passed since the cannon fell
silent. Rains and snows have washed the blood
from the fields; and nature has restored serenity
and tranquility to the countryside. But, there on
the hill overlooking the Tennessee River, are the
graves of Jesse Nelson, Jacob Thomas, Isaac
Duncan, Clement Tudor, Hiram Manchester and
other Ohio men who came to Pittsburg Landing to
stay. Their small stones bear mute testimony that
they too had “‘Seen the Elephant.”
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““Even the Less Important Consular Posts’’:
The English Consulates
and Lincoln’s Patronage Policy
By Neill F. Sanders

Twao recent articles in the Lincoln Herald, ** *Un-
fit for Consul?': The English Consulates and Lin-
coln's Patronage Policy," and ** *When a House is
on Fire': The English Consulates and Lincoln's
Patronage Policy,” tested the hypothesis that
President Abraham Lincoln and Secretary of State
William Seward held very different opinions as 1o
the appointment of Union consuls in the British
1sles. The studies indicated that Seward sought men
whose backgrounds would have prepared them to
serve as principle agents in an intelligence gathering
network, The Secretary envisioned a network of in-
vestigators who would report to Crown officials
that Confederate activities throughout the British
Isles subverted English neutrality and thréatened
Anglo-American relations. In this way he believed
that Richmond could be denied her much sought-
after British armory and ship building facilities. He
additionally concluded that the consuls' reports
about departure of rebel supply shipments would
aid the Union’s blockading squadrons.'

Lincoln, however, regarded Federal appoint-
ments primarily **as o greal treasury (0 be drawn on
at will,” a storchouse of rewards to molify
divergent Republican party factions and satisfy the
needs of personal friends, With pressure from
party leaders eager lor the spoils from their first na-
tional administration, and compounded by the
large number of Democratic office holders who
resigned in sympathy for the newly created Con-
federacy, Lincoln very early in his administration
adopted the presidentinl tradition of dispensing
Federal posts based on the applicant’s party con-
tribution, political influence and personal contacts.
While Lincaln

In some cases. . sought the man whose ahilities best
fitted him for the post, . these were distinctly excep-
tions. In general he followed the accepted doctring
that many could perform the duties required, and that
other gualities and cdreumstances showld be (nken into
consideration in making the selection.?
The President subscribed to this principle in the
majority of cases in his removal of 1,195 men from
1,520 presidential offices, including 16 new ap-
pointments at the 18 English consulates in existence
in 1861."

&l
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The previous articles in this series indicated that
the disagreement resolved isell In the White
House"s favor. The President posted politically
worthy men and personal [riends as consuls al
London, Liverpool, Cardiff, Bristel, Falmouth,
Glasgow, MNewcastle, Plvmouth, Dublin, Belfast
and Cork. Seward, in turn, soccessfully molded
this disparate collection of former clergymen,
politicians, editors, abolitionists and sea captains
into a surprisingly effective survetllance network
imittally under the supervision of the Minister to
Belgium and, subsequently, under the Minister to
Great Britain. This third and concluding article
affers a similar analysis of the men posted al
Dundee, Galway, Bradiord-Sheffield, Leith, Lon-
donderry, Manchester, Leeds and Southampton,
Only the latter three cities evidenced e¢ven n
modicum of rebel activity. Howeaver, as in the war's
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first year the White House did nol know what level
of Confederate sctivity would occur where, Lin-
coln's appointments al **even the less important
consilar poses™ are instructive in regard to his
patronage policy. In addition, a summary note
offers & framework for Murther study of the effect
of Lincoln's patronage policy on Seward’s policy in
Great Britain,

When the Civil War began, the Confederacy had
available few diplomatic tools. In 1861 only King
Cotton diplomacy—the withholding of needed
cotton from Europe’s looms—seemed a viable
wenporn in the South's struggle against the North in
Europe. MNowhere did the cotton famine strike
more harshly than in Lancashicre, England’s textile
center. While both its major cities, Liverpool and
Manchester, felt the effects of the cotton drought,
the former's more diversified economy helped
buffer it from the more severe problems experienc-
ed at Manchester. No other city suffered more than
Manchester from the famine: ar its height the
majority of the nearly one-guarter million unem-
ploved Lancashire textile workers and the approx-

&

imately one-half million people on relief were from
Manchester and its environs. Consequently,
thronghowt Lancashire, and especinlly in Man-
chister, “There was in fact a supreme determing-
tion 1o aid the South with at least moral backing
while the Morth was viewed with a mistrust that
deepened with the Intensity of Lancashire's
distress. "™

Into this maelstrom of anti-Union sentiment Lin-
coln posted Henry William Lord as consul. Born in
Northampton, Massachusetts, in 1821, Lord had
studied law but never practiced before the bar. In
1839 he moved to Detroit, Michigan, and four
years later to Pontiac. A businessman and farmer
of extensive holdings, Lord"s anti-slovery beliefs in-
volved him as a ploneer in the organization of the
Republican party. During the 1860 campaign he
stumped througheut Michigan on Lincoln's behalf,
Immediately after the innuguration he began his
lobbying efforts for the Honolulu consulate.” On
March 8 New Hampshire Senator and chairman of
the Naval Affairs Committes John Hale, Lord’s
friend from their former Free Soil party dayvs,
wrote Seward that this man “of Republican prin-
ciples” who had *‘numerous friends in Michigan
and elsewhere” deserved “‘a consular or diplomatic
appointment.”” Within the month support for
Lord"s appointment at Honoluly arrived in Wash-
ington from Michigan Senator Zach Chandler,
Anson Burlingame, the former Massachusetis con-
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gressman soon to be appointed Minister to China,
six members of Michigan’s House delegation,
James M. Edmunds, the Federal Commissioner of
the General Land Office, William Howard, chair-
man of the Michigan Republican state central com-
mittee and twenty-three leading Michigan
Republican businessmen.*

While the President did not oppose a post for
Lord, the Honolulu consulate had been reserved
for “‘Alfred Caldwell, organizer of the Republican
party in Western Virginia, and chairman of the Old
Dominion’s delegation at the Chicago Conven-
tion.”” Lincoln did have, however, a comparable
position available. On March 8, Duncan McCauly,
James Buchanan’s Manchester consul, wrote that
“it is my desire to be recalled as soon as con-
venient. . .” to his home in Louisiana. On March
28 the Department accepted the resignation. As he
did in many other cases, Lincoln held open the at-
tractive $2,000 post for purely political reasons:
while Lord’s party contributions and political con-
nections made him a worthy candidate, Lincoln
waited in anticipation of other applicants whose
support might eclipse Lord’s. When no one else
approached the White House for the post, the
President quietly submitted Lord’s nomination to
the Senate. On June 1 the White House informed
the Michigan Republican of his Manchester
reward.®

Of all the instructions given to the consuls the
most important warned that their intelligence
surveillance must be done ““without contravening
the provisions of existing [British neutrality]
statutes.’ Lord held strictly to this directive, a
significant accomplishment for a man whose ante-
bellum business and political career had accustom-
ed him to active, not passive, habits. Lord relegated
his activities to an assessment of conditions and
public opinion in Manchester. Whatever illusions
Washington held as to the cotton famine’s possible
minimal effect were quickly dashed by the consul.
At one point he wrote Seward that the city’s cotton
supply would not support a month’s full produc-
tion and that Indian cotton would not serve as the
hoped for alternative source of the fiber.” The
city’s economic plight was felt ‘‘very much more
severely than [in] any other part of England.” Not
surprisingly, Confederate agents such as James
Spence and Richmond supporters such as the news-
papers Guardian and Daily Post joined with the
Southern Independence Association’s well orches-
trated public meetings.'® Under these circumstances
it is logical that Lord regretfully reported that ‘‘the
Morrill Tariff is a pretex for hatred, and the Bull
Run disaster for contempt’’ and that *‘I am com-
pelled to the opinion that there is in the English
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people a /atent, if not active determination that this
rebellion should be successful.””''" Without secret
service funds, which the Department on occasion
provided certain consuls to augment their in-
telligence work, and with the Department’s strict
warnings on neutrality, Lord could do little in sup-
port of the few Union sympathizers in Manchester
such as Henry Ashworth, John Bright, Richard
Cobden and the Union & Emancipation Society.'?

While the acrid-tongued Benjamin Moran, the
Secretary of the London Legation, regarded Lord
as ““among the most stupid’’ and “‘a pompous self-
important little fellow,”’ Washington did not share
this opinion.”> The consul’s clear and insightful
assessments of Manchester’s economic problems
and its public opinion doubtlessly gave impetuous
to the North’s military-diplomatic strategy of open-
ing Southern ports for the shipment of cotton.
Similarly, Seward appreciated Lord’s investigation
of Confederate plans for recruiting skilled
mechanics and his suggestions about immigra-
tion.'* While Seward could do little to relieve the
consul’s frustrations about Manchester public
opinion, the Secretary did make Lord’s tenure
more financially attractive. During his first three
years as consul Lord had often complained that he
could hardly function as both consul and in-
telligence agent on his $2,000 salary. Without secret
service funds and sufficient consular agents in his
employ he could not thoroughly investigate his very
large consular district, and rising rents had forced
him to move the consular offices. He therefore re-
quested his salary be raised to at least $5,000, a sum
surpassed only by the London and Liverpool posts.
On Seward’s insistence Congress raised his salary
to $3,000 in 1864 in recognition of his ‘‘faithful and
efficient work.’’"* This made Lord the only consul
who received such a war-time increase.

Lord continued his reports about Manchester
conditions until the war’s end. But his contribution
to the Republican party did not end with his con-
sular resignation in 1867. He returned to Michigan
and served as a member on the State Board of Cor-
rections and Charities between 1871-1881. Still
deeply involved in Republican politics, he capped
his career with election to the United States House
of Representatives in 1881.'¢

Like his Manchester appointment, Lincoln’s first
consul at Leeds distinguished himself both as con-
sul and in Republican politics after the war. And
like Lord, the second Leeds consul owed his
posting to his supporters who were tied by bonds of
politics and friendship to the White House.

Had Lincoln’s primary concern been the in-
telligence network he would have retained Albert
Davy, the Buchanan consul at Leeds. A Pennsyl-
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vanian with ties to Edward Everet, Davy earned
the endorsement of Adams for reappointment
through his timely and accurate reports on rebel ac-
tivity, especially the departure of the supply
steamers Fingal and Bermuda, But the President's
primary concern was partisan politics, and the
2,000 salary at Leeds represented a choice
reward."'’

Willinm Muarsh most actively campaigned for the
post. A former businessman from Leeds, he had
lived in Springfield, Ilinois, since 1856, His first
letter to Lincoln on February 8, 1861, was one of
many from office seekers which deluged the
President-clect before he left for Washington.
Marsh regarded himself a likely candidate because
of his close ties with the Leeds business community
and the several unsolicited articles he had forward-
¢d 1o London newspapers which explained Repub-
lican goals, But Marsh had only modest political
support and Lincoln once again waited for other
applicants before he awarded Leeds.'*

The process by which James W. Marshall re-
ceived Leeds is typical of how Lincoln adroitly
balanced influential office seckers. On May 17,
1861, Marshall wrote the President and requested
appointment at Frankfort, Germany. Bormn in
Clarke County, Virginia, in 1822, he spent his
bovhood m Kentucky. After graduation from
Dickinson College in 1848 he remained at the
school as a professor of German, Latin and French
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and in his travels abroad he had often visited
southern Cermany. Friends such ns Edward Bates,
Thaddeus Stevens, Horatio King, Salmon Chase,
John Covode and Edgar Cowan testifled that
**. . Jthis ardent supporter of the Republican doc-
trines, ., ." possessed gentlemanly habits, business
skills, and a *“...pure love of honesty &
justice. . . " Mot lost on Lincoln was the fact that
Marshall’s friends and colleagues at Dickinson Col-
lege included Unjonist Democratic Congressman
Archibald MceaAllister, Glasgow consul Charles
Cleveland, Reverend John MeClintock of the
United States Chapel in Paris and Congressman
Charles O'Neil, But William Murphy, one of the
parly’s founders, also wanted Frankforl. Ever
aware of patronage conflicts, Lincoln solved the
problem when he eventually posted Marsh at
Aliona, ltaly, Murphy at Frankfort and gave Mar-
shall the Leeds consulate in August.'

Business nand personal affairs detained Marshall
in Carlisle and the new consul did not arrive in
Leeds until November, a month alter Adams had
applied for his exchequer. Well before he ofTicially
assumed his post Marshall enacted a scheme with-
oul benefit of secret service funds whereby he could
have investigated Confederate activity in the cities
which lie within his consular district, At Bradford,
Sheffield, Huddersfield, Halifax and, most impor-
tant, the port city of Hull, his consular agents
reported 1o him about public opinion, rebel supply



shipments, shipbuilding and recruitment. When
occasion demanded he personally visited the depen-
dencies and closely cooperated with Freeman
Morse, the London consul, on special assignments.
But like other consuls, Marshall also committed
errors. In one instance his diligence proved superior
to his judgment. In May, 1862, reports reached
him which indicated that the newly Hull-built
steamer Lodona had entered for Nassau. Her of-
ficers subsequently had requested from him entry
permits for Southern ports recently opened by the
Union . Although he had no instructions which pro-
hibited him from granting the request, he certainly
should have inquired of Adams how best to deal
with this new and delicate type of petition. Ill-
advisedly Marshall granted the clearance. On
August 15, however, Assistant Secretary of State
Frederick Seward admonished the consul that
Lieutenant Napoleon Collins’ Unadifla had cap-
tured the Lodona as she ran the blockade before
Hell Gate, Georgia.*®

Given his efforts on the Union’s behalf it came
as a surprise to Seward when Marshall resigned on
September 7, 1864, without any prior notice.
Perhaps the scholar did not appreciate the fact that
recently two of his dependencies, Bradford and
Sheffield, had been wrested from him and estab-
lished as a single consulate in its own right, It may
have been that as the Confederate war effort
deteriorated and the threat to the Union in Great
Britain subsided he believed he could better serve
his nation at home than abroad. Or, most telling, it
may have been that he simply wished ““to cross the
Atlantic to be with my family at as early a date as
possible. . . .>’?' In any case Marshall returned to
Carlisle and Republican politics. The professor of
German culminated his political career and con-
tribution to the nation as Post Master General
under Ulysses Grant.

Before he departed, Marshall made provision for
the appointment of his successor. In his letter of
resignation he requested of Seward that “‘If by the
time I am ready to leave my successor be not at
hand and empowered to act, I ask the favor that
my deputy, W.L. Raymond. . .be authorized to
act as vice-consul here. . . .”?* Born in 1837, the
son of the New York City wealthy businessman
James Raymond, William had been educated at
Columbia College in New York, and upon gradua-
tion served for three years as a tutor in the
College’s Grammer School. Physically disabled for
military service, he left the United States in the
summer of 1862 and spent the following year
“‘traveling through Europe and the East. "% Quite
naturally he visited his friends in Europe, including
Reverend McClintock and Marshall. A friend of
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the President, McClintock had also taught at
Dickinson College in the 1830’s and 1840’s before
he became minister of St. Paul’s Church in New
York City where he met the Raymonds. Posted as
pastor at the United States Chapel in Paris in 1860,
he remained abroad throughout the war as a lead-
ing spokesman for Anglo-American friendship.
Only poor health made him decline Lincoln’s
generous offer as Minister to France in 1865. Ray-
mond knew Marshall through their mutual friend-
ship of Emory McClintock, the minister’s son who
had received appointment as Bradford consular
agent in February, 1863.%

By June, 1863, Raymond had completed his
travels and was in Paris with Reverend McClintock
when he first evidenced a desire for a consular post.
Encouraged by the pastor, he wrote Seward on
June 14 and described himself as a man with ““firm
loyalty to the Government of the United States”
and requested his appointment as consul at Altona,
Denmark. The young applicant indicated that his
posting had the support of Charles King, President
of Columbia College, William Murphy, the then
Hamburgh Consul General, Congressman Moses
Odell of New York as well as the recommendation
of McClintock and Marshall. Within a month sup-
port for Raymond poured into the State Depart-
ment. Termed ‘‘an active, thorough Republican,’’
Reuben Fenton, the New York Congressman and
friend of both Seward and Lincoln, joined Henry
J. Raymond of the Times and A.V. Stout of New
York’s Shoe and Leather Bank in requesting Ray-
mond’s posting at either Altona or Ravenna, Italy,
should the former have already been dispensed.?
However, despite McClintock’s description of his
young friend as a scholar, gentleman and Chris-
tian, “‘not bad qualifications for an American Con-
sul,”” Lincoln had no suitable post available. There-
fore, in the fall of 1863 Raymond joined his friends
Marshall and Emory McClintock as the Leeds
deputy consul, a newly established designation. In
spite of efforts to make him vice consul Raymond
remained deputy consul for more than a year.?

When Marshall’s resignation reached Washing-
ton in late September, 1864, John McClintock was
at the capitol and spoke with Frederick Seward *‘of
the possibility of my son Emory McClintock desir-
ing the Consularship at Leeds.” Six weeks later,
however, the Reverend indicated that his son “‘does
not apply for it & to add my desire that Mr. W.L.
Raymond. . .be appointed consul.”’?” On October
4 Fenton also recommended Raymond, who

has been with Mr. Marshall for one or two years - he
is a true and loyal man, upright in his personal
character, & a life scholar & of unquestioned ability
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for the discharge of the duties of that responsible

Irust.™
But Raymond did not require those letters for his
appointment. Al home in New York City on a
short leave **from my duties as. . deputy in order
te prepare for an anticipated prolongation of my
residence abroad,” Lincoln had already determin-
ed to appoint Raymond consul in late September.™

From the time when he formally assumed his
duties on January 11, 865, until the war's end
Raymond had no responsibilities related to the in-
telligence network. In Fact, the only responsibilities
involved with the New Yorker's appoiniment were
those discharged by Lincoln to his friends and sup-
poriers,

Lineoin's appointment of consuls at the three
Channel ports are among his most curfous. As
previous articles have shown, he retained English
subjects at Falmouth and Plymouth as rewards for
an ohscure public service done for George Wash-
ington by one of their common ancestors.”’ The
third consulate, Southampton, went (o John Brt-
ton, a majority of whose Republican supporiers
were nol welocome guests at the State Department,

Born in Ireland, Britton immigrated to New
York City and became o naturalized citizen. A mer-
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chant marine sea captain by profession, his
political sympathies drew him into a group headed
by William Cullen Bryant and Parke Godwin of the
New York Evening Pogi, Hiram Barney, Schuyler
Colfax and Norman Judd. Arrayed against a
Seward-led laction comprised of Simon Cameron,
David Davis, Thurlow Weed and Caleb Smith, the
two groups in early 1861 waged their own violent
patronage wars in [llinois, Indiana, Pennsylvania
and Mew York, ™

The Bryant-Godwin camp cournted Britton's ap-
pointment as a trmumph over their rivals, as they
believed he received his post due 1o their interven-
tion, On January 1, 1861, Godwin boldly recom-
mended Britton for Southampton and described
him to Seward as “‘an old sea captain of this
port—a gentleman of highest honors, capacity, ex-
perience and energy. . . . There is no betler man
qualified for this position."""" Godwin had not sup-
ported Seward ai Chicago and the Secretary repaid
this transgression by denying him the Paris con-
sulate in 1861. Nonetheless, Godwin continued his
lobby for Britton when in March he again wroge
Seward and trumpeted Britton’s “‘ardeni
republicanism. "™ That same month Godwin and
Bryant took their appeal directly to the President.



While they claimed that the post at ‘‘Southampton
is of not much involvement but of great informa-
tion and dignity,”” they forwarded a declaration
signed by nearly two dozen of New York City’s
‘‘most prominent merchants and shipowners”’ who
attested to Britton’s nautical skills and experience
in Anglo-American commerce.**

Britton, however, owed his appointment not to
these men but to Moses Hicks Grinnell. A friend
and political ally of Seward’s since the 1830’s, the
New York ‘“‘millionaire merchant, once a Whig
Congressman, once President of the Chamber of
Commerce of New York, a Republican presidential
elector on the Fremont ticket’’ and one of Weed’s
lieutenants in support of Seward at Chicago, Grin-
nell had advised Seward on New York state
patronage as early as 1838. His knowledge of
vessels and the men who captained them earned
him a Federal appointment to develop plans for
arming Union war cruisers. On February 3, Grin-
nell requested Britton’s posting and forwarded to
Seward a copy of the captain’s application. It ap-
pears that Britton had worked for Grinnell for the
latter testified to his ‘‘high character and ability.”
Moreover, Britton’s political activities were not
confined exclusively to the Bryant-Godwin camp
for Grinnell pointedly told the Secretary that the
captain had the endorsement of *‘some of our most
active political friends.””** Although the Bryant-
Godwin support blunted Seward’s enthusiasm for
the captain, nonetheless the Secretary could not
overlook his friend and ally’s request. Conse-
quently, he forwarded to Lincoln Britton’s applica-
tion for the attractive $2,000 Southampton post.
Lincoln immediately seized the opportunity the ap-
plication represented. He fully supported Britton
for expedient political reasons. The post had
attracted only one other candidate, Thomas Rawl-
ings of Baltimore, who had only minimal political
support and therefore could be conveniently
dismissed. Conversely, Britton’s nomination gave
Lincoln the chance to accommodate rival New
York factions with one appointment. Hence, only
three wecks after the inauguration the Senate’s
confirmation made Britton the third consul posted
in the British Isles.”

In spite of his antebellum experience which had
often taken him into English harbors, Britton had
little better preparation than his consular colleagues
for his network duties. Additionally, a series of ac-
cusations plagued Britton during his first year at
Southampton, imputations which doubtlessly led
Seward to question the posting of a man whose
political support suggested divided loyalties.

On April 29, 1862, the Secretary wrote Britton
that William Thompson, Buchanan’s Southamp-
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ton consul, had leveled serious charges against his
successor . Thompson claimed that Britton still re-
tained English citizenship and that as recently as
1858 had been a ship captain in Southampton
employed by an English firm at that port. Britton
quickly lashed back: he directed that his attorney
send Seward a copy of his naturalization papers
and wrote that Thompson’s removal was a *‘Sad
disappointment to himself & his Bosom friends
[Confederate agents Ambrose] Mann & [William]
Yancey.”” Subsequently Thompson sent the State
Department depositions from Southampton offi-
cials and New York Republican Senator Ira Harris
which defended him against the slander of disloyal-
ty. Britton countered with a deposition from Henry
James, Thompson’s consular clerk, who had at the
consul’s instructions ‘‘rendered what service I
could” to the rebels Pierre Rost and Yancey when
they had visited Southampton in April, 1861.%
While that controversy drug on, both Seward and
Adams told the consul of their suspicions that the
shipping firm operated by his vice consul, the
English citizen J.H. Wolff, had outfitted suspected
Confederate vessels. Although this proved to be a
case of mistaken identity, the Wolff and Thomp-
son episodes brought into question Britton’s
honesty and judgment at a time when the C.S.S.
Nashville’s arrival at Southampton made that port
a focus of attention and required the unquestioned
energies of the Union consul.*®

The Nashville’s history is well documented: the
Confederacy seized the side-wheel merchant
steamer at Charleston at the war’s outbreak and
originally intended that she carry James Mason and
John Slidell to England. When those plans
changed, however, Lieutenant Robert Pegram’s
ship slipped the blockade on Qctober 26, 1861, and
ran into Bermuda. Armed only with two six-
pounders, she left the islands bound for England.
Enroute she captured the unarmed Union clipper
Harvey Birch on November 19 and set the ship
afire after taking her men aboard. Damaged by
storms after the assault, the Admirality agent at
Southampton gave Pegram permission to enter the
port for necessary repairs but forbade rearming.
On November 21, the MNashville entered the
Channel port.*

Britton immediately reported the docking to
both Seward and Adams. The ship’s presence
represented a major test of both Seward’s newly
reorganized intelligence network and the veracity
of his emerging foreign policy toward England. On
November 4 Seward had removed Sanford as head
of the network because his schemes directed against
rebel operations in England overtly violated
English neutrality. Seward wanted reports about,



not action against, Richmond’s men in England.
Adams, now in charge of the network, fully ap-
preciated this fact.*'

But such appreciation did not exist in the North.
The Harvey Birch’s destruction brought editorial
howls directed against Secretary of the Navy
Gideon Welles’ failure to protect Union commerce,
and demands for Union counteraction against
Confederate vessels. While Welles plotted aggres-
sive countermeasures, Adams moved with caution.
For example, the Minister hired lawyers who took
depositions from Captain Nelson of the Harvey
Birch and Britton limited his activities to the in-
vestigation of Pegram’s intentions in port.*?

But as the rebel’s repairs began, the news of the
Trent Affair exploded in England on November 26.
Captain Charles Wilkes’ action had a two-fold ef-
fect on the Nashville investigation: Britton’s
surveillance proceeded with even more discretion
while Pegram became bolder. The consul, for
example, prepared only 2 muted note of protest to
the Duke of Cambridge when English troops in-
sulted the United States flag. Conversely, ‘‘on
December 5. . .Pegram put his ship in dry dock
and confidently waited for her to be repaired and
released.”*

The self-proclaimed ‘‘purgatory’’ in which the
Trent Affair had placed Adams was substantially
lifted on January 8, 1862, when he learned of
Seward’s adroit solution of the problem, a solution
which anticipated the Secretary’s foreign policy
toward England for the remainder of the war. The
very next day, however, Adams learned from Brit-
ton of a new threat to neutrality. The consul
reported the arrival of the U.S.S. Tuscarora at
Southampton, a steam war cruiser captained by
Tunis A. Craven. The newly commissioned Phil-
adelphia-built warship had been sent by Welles
with the U.S.S. James Adger in search of rebel
ships in European waters. Already, Britton
reported to London, Union seamen had landed and
stood watch over the Nashville. In the excitement
of the arrival Britton had discarded his cautious
methods and had joined with Craven and ‘‘made
such arrangements. . .as will render it next to im-
possible for the Nashville to escape.” The Minister
immediately wrote both Britton and Craven that

I was glad to hear of the arrival of the Tuscarora. Her
presence will be a great check on the rebel movements.
I cannot however caution you too strongly against
furnishing any grounds of complaint to the British
Government of us for a violation of neutrality. I have
already received an official remonstrance against the
landing of an armed party to watch the Nashville.*

Adams further instructed Craven that England
adhered to the international law of belligerent ships
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which required the detention of one vessel for 24
hours after the other’s departure. Only in interna-
tional waters would the Minister condone the
raider’s capture.*

In spite of these warnings Craven created prob-
lems for the Minister as he “openly defied the port
authorities at Southampton. He kept his decks
cleared and his boilers fired for action. . . .A great
howl came up to London against this insolence—
an insult to the flag as great as the Trent Affair.”
In addition to protests sent to Adams, the Admiral-
ty stationed the H.M.S. Shannon at Southampton
to enforce the 24 hour rule.*

After Adams’ warnings Britton distanced
himself further from Craven’s menacing posture
and solely confined his activities to a watch of the
Nashville’s preparation for sea. Because of his
familiarity with Southampton’s harbor he knew
how difficult pursuit of the rebel would be. In addi-
tion to the 24 hour rule, the consul realized that
once the ship left her dock Pegram could elect one
of two exits to the Channel: once in The Solent
above Cowes in the Isle of Wright the Nashville
could dash southeast past Portsmith or steam
southwest beyond Yarmouth. Consequently, he
kept in close telegraphic communication with his
consular agents at those ports. On February 3, it
was Britton who announced the raider’s escape and
his Cowes agent who notified Craven of the Con-
federate’s exit choice.*’

The four Union officials involved with the
Nashville at Southampton held different opinions
about the episode. For Craven, the frustrations of
a month long vigil had proven fruitless: the
Nashville had run free into the Channel and return-
ed to Bermuda enroute to Beaufort, North
Carolina. Seward and Adams felt relief as the
threat of an affront to British neutrality through a
Tuscarora-Nashville encounter in English waters
had been averted. The incident provided Britton
with the only significant opportunity to demon-
strate his ‘‘capacity, experience and energy’’
through his intelligent and restrained surveillance
of a sensitive threat to Anglo-American relations.
While subsequent network duties simply involved
reports about the occasional visit of rebel ships and
the forwarding of messages to Union ships in the
Channel, Britton proved that his appointment was
a fortunate expedient accommodation.**

Situated on the Firth of Tay on Scotland’s North
Sea coast, the wartime history of the Dundee con-
sulate provides little insight into the intelligence
network’s operation because of the derth of rebel
activity at that port. Its history does, however,
clearly indicate the President’s final authority over
consular appointments and how he skillfully



piloted office seekers into comparable posts
without political damage to the White House. Most
important, it demonstrates the influence of per-
sonal friendship in the selection process.*

Although the Dundee consulate commanded a
$2,000 salary, which ranked it fifth in compensa-
tion among the 18 British Isles consulates in 1861,
its location and harsh climate attracted only three
significant applicants.* Two months before the
new administration took office John Prettyman
wrote Seward and requested appointment as
Glasgow consul. A surgeon and Republican news-
paper editor in Milford, Delaware, Prettyman had
the support of his state’s party officials, such as
George Fisher of Sussex County, and business
leaders such as E. Joy Morris of Philadelphia.*® In
March a second applicant, Charles Cleveland of
Philadelphia, assembled an armada of supporters
who lobbied for his posting at Dundee. Senators
Henry Wilson and James Grimes, Congressman
Thaddeus Stevens and former Secretary of the
Treasury William Meredith joined Pennsylvania
Governor Edward Coles and more than two dozen
Philadelphia bankers and merchants in testimony
to Cleveland’s ‘‘Experience in mercantile affairs,”’
‘‘Aptness for business’’ and ‘‘Energy of
Character.”*!

Under most circumstances such impressive
arrays of support would have secured both men
their appointments. But another applicant, one far
more worthy in Lincoln’s estimation, had to be
considered before the President could dispense
either post. On February 8, 1861, John Forsyth, a
Chicago surgeon, wrote Lincoln on behalf of his
father-in-law, the Reverend Dr. James A. Smith, a
man who needed no introduction at the White
House.*?

Born in Glasgow in 1801, Smith ‘““had been a
wild boy in his younger days in Scotland. . .a scof-
fer at religion.””** But his attitude changed after he
came to the United States. He became a naturalized
citizen, joined the Democratic party and became an
ordained Presbyterian minister who preached in
Tennessee and Kentucky before he settled in
Springfield, Illinois, in the 1840’s. As a close friend
and pastor to Mary Todd Lincoln and her cousin,
Mary Todd Grimsley, Smith counted Mary’s hus-
band as one of his parishioners at the First
Presbyterian Church in Springfield. Smith per-
formed the sad rite of saying the funeral sermon for
the Lincoln’s son, Eddie, in 1850. A close friend-
ship soon developed between Smith and Lincoln
which saw the latter often attend the Reverend’s
temperance lectures. Smith, in turn, became a fre-
quent and welcome caller at the Lincoln home
where the two men discussed religion and Smith’s
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noteworthy book, A Christian’s Defense, which he
‘‘addressed to infidels and atheists.’’**

In Forsyth’s February letter the surgeon told the
President that Smith had resigned his pulpit and
sought a consulate for support of his family. On
March 9 Dr. Smith wrote his friend in the White
House and coyly indicated that ‘‘Glasgow is my
native city and I would prefer the Consularship
there but if that is too important a position for me
who has no claims then perhaps Dundee might be
granted. ”** Determined that Smith receive one of
the posts Lincoln nevertheless moved cautiously so
as not to disappoint Prettyman and Cleveland’s
friends. By early summer, however, the President
had found a compromise solution: award Pretty-
man the $3,000 Glasgow post, Cleveland the $1,500
Gardiff consulate and reserve for the pastor the
$2,000 commission at Dundee.*

But in midsummer Dr. Smith made a new re-
quest of his friend. He asked that the President
withdraw his application in favor of his son, Hugh,
who like the pastor was also a Democrat in search
of a Federal post. Lincoln’s feelings toward the
senior Smith overrode any political considerations
which he might have felt, and when Dr. Smith
visited the Executive Mansion on June 11 the Presi-
dent happily informed him that his son had been
appointed consul the previous day. Some confu-
sion exists in the literature about the younger
Smith’s appointment and his brief tenure in office.
In spite of claims to the contrary, he did not die in
office nor had he previously served as Buchanan’s
Dundee consul. State Department records record
his date of Commission as June 10, 1861, and that
prior to this appointment he had never resided in
Great Britain. Similarly, as both Smiths were
Democrats, one study is incorrect in its statement
that Cork consul Patrick Devine, ‘“‘a Brooklyn
Democrat [was] perhaps the only member of the
opposition party to receive such a [consular] ap-
pointment,”*’

Born in Nashville and officially appointed from
Kentucky, Hugh Smith sailed for Dundee in July,
1861, accompanied by his father who planned to
assist his son in his new duties. They arrived in a
city whose sluggish economy and port facilities
compared poorly with Glasgow, its Clyde River
port neighbor to the southwest. Consequently,
Dundee experienced little rebel activity. J.B.
Holderby, Buchanan’s consul, correctly assessed
the situation when early in the war he informed the
State Department that he did ‘‘not think it likely
that any contraband articles will be supplied from
this district.”’ Hence, it did not matter that the con-
sul’s sole qualification as a network agent was his
father’s friendship with Lincoln; nor did it matter



that only the father involved himself in
surveillance. What mattered was that a family of
old and close friends had been rewarded.*

Hugh Smith remained at his post until spring,
1862. Without prior notice of any kind he wrote
Seward on May 27 that due to “‘gastric and brain
fever”” his physician had advised his immediate
return to the United States. He further indicated
that with Adams’ approval he had appointed his
father vice consul in his absence.**

Smith was not the first Union consul in Scotland
who abandoned his post without permission. In
December, 1861, Neil McLachlan, the Indiana
Republican posted at Leith, left for Fort Wayne
and did not return to Scotland until late March,
1862. But the unauthorized departure of one of his
network’s agents at a minor port without Con-
federate activity did not trouble Seward. Occupied
with far more important matters of state, including
the growing Radical opposition to both his politics
and policies, the Secretary did not respond to
Smith until the summer. However, ever sensitive to
Washington’s political currents which steered
office seekers to his Department, Seward saw an
opportunity of replacing the Democrat Smith with
a Republican. Thus, on August 14 he threatened
Smith that ‘‘a successor would be appointed unless
he returned to his post.’’¢°

When Seward received no reply from Smith for
two months, the Secretary nominated Lewis W.
Hall, of Blair County, Pennsylvania. A Republican
and former Speaker of his state’s upper chamber,
Hall had the backing of Simon Cameron, his friend
and political ally. He also garnered the support of
Congressman Archibald McCallister, the Penn-
sylvania Union Democrat, Thomas Scott, vice
president of the Pennsylvania Railroad and late
Assistant Secretary of War under Cameron, as well
as Keystone state Congressman Samuel Blair. On
November 28 the Senate formally removed Hugh
Smith and appointed Hall. Seward considered the
matter closed when four days later he informed
Lincoln in a perfunctory note of the Senate’s
action &

But the matter did not end there. Informed of
the Senate’s action, James Smith hurriedly wrote
his son-in-law on December 19 and requested that
he intercede on his behalf. On January 6, 1863,
Forsyth wrote Illinois Senatoe Orville Browning
what the surgeon considered the facts surrounding
Hall’s appointment. He encouraged the Senator to
‘“‘lay this letter before the President’’ and argued
that his brother-in-law had only left his post
“‘because of feeble health, leaving his father [in
charge] as Vice Consul,” and, furthermore,

Knowing the friendly feelings between the President
and Doctor Smith I hardly believe the President
desired to remove Dr. Smith from this office. I sup-
pose the appointment was made of Mr. Hall by the
President without his remembering the Doctor was
acting as Consul.*?

Browning did show the letter to Lincoln. After
apparently discussing the elder Smith’s plight with
his wife, Lincoln tersely informed Seward on
January 9 that “Dr, Smith, . .is an intimate per-
sonal friend of mine, and I have unconsciously
superseded him. . .please inform me how it is.”
Stung by the White House’s criticism, Seward
replied in a lengthy formal memorandum dated
January 10. Fortunately for the Secretary, Hall had
declined the post in December and no replacement
had been designated. Seward defensively explained
that Hugh Smith had no right to abandon his post
and that this ‘‘was done without the application to
this Department as required by law. Mr. Smith said
he had the sanction of the Minister who had no
authority to grant it.”’ Contrary to Forsyth’s letter,
Seward complained, Dr. Smith was only ‘““tem-
porarily doing the duties of the Office,”’ and in no
way could he be considered the post’s official
representative either as consul or vice consul. As to
the appointment of a permanent replacement, the
Secretary concluded that ‘“‘nothing will be done
without instructions from the President.”’*?

Irritated by what he considered the mistreatment
of his friends, Lincoln gave his Secretary the in-
structions he had requested when on January 14 he
penned an abrupt note at the bottom of Seward’s
January 10 memorandum.

As I understand the Consulate at Dundee has not
been accepted by Mr. Hall, and I was inconscious in
appointing Mr. Hall ([f 7 did if) that | was interferring
with my old friend, Dr. Smith. I will be obliged if the
Secretary of State will send in a nomination for Rev.
James Smith, of lllinois, for that Consulate.**

Seward promptly responded and on January 16

"appointed James Smith temporary vice consul,
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pending Senate confirmation of his consular com-
mission. When that arrived in May and Smith of-
ficially assumed his duties in June, more than two
years had passed since the minister had approached
his parishioner with a request for a Scottish con-
sulate.®*

Both the Smiths owed their appointments solely
to Lincoln’s personal friendship and that of his
family. Reverend Smith remained close to Mary
Lincoln until his death in office in 1871. Fortunate-
ly for the Union little rebel activity occurred in
Dundee as Dr, Smith cccupied most of his time as a
correspondent with Mrs. Lincoln as a guide when



she visited Scotland and as her able defender
against Willinm Herndon's published attacks in
1B6T.*

In addition to the Smiths at Dundee and Devine
at Cork, only ai Londonderry did another
Democrat serve as Linion consul in the British [shes.
Moreover, only at Londonderry dicl Lincoln retain
g United States citizen as consul who had received
his appointment prior 1o 1861, The post provided
no salary, the income of between 5150 and S200 an-
nually being derived from fees charged for the 111
officially recognized services consuls rendered
American citizens. Consequently, Londonderry at-
tracted only two Republican applicants of note.*’

In February, 1858, Buchanan appointed Alex-
ander Henderson as Londonderry consul. Born in
County Tvyrone, Ireland, he came to the United
States and became a naturalized citizen in 1830 and
resided in Pitsburgh (or more than 20 years.
Shortly after his marriage in 1851 he retired from
business due to “being in delicate health™ and
returned (o County Tyrone and took up larming
near Londonderry. While in the United States
Henderson had established himself as a successful
businessman and active supporter ol the Demo-
cratic party. In Pittsburgh he hod worked as an
agent lor o packet line company and in the hard-
ware business before he joined in successful part-
nership with Silas Moore and won o contract 1o
carry Federal mail between Pittsburgh and Phila-
delphin. Through his business ventures Henderson
worked closely with a variety of both Democratic
ancl Republican businessmen and politiclans, His
mail contract brought him the acguaintance of
Buchanan and the friendship of James Camphell,
Franklin Pierce’s Postmaster, while his position
with the packet line company earned him the
respect  of the company's president, James
Moorhead, a Republican and soon to be a Con-
gressman from the Plttsburgh district. Henderson
alse counted as (riends Philadelphia’s George
Stuart, chairman of the Christian Commitiee dur-
ing the wor, and Pittsburgh business leaders such ns
George White of White, Orr & Company as well as
Robert Taylor of Taylor Company. A close friend
and business associate, Hugh Campbell, lobhied
Buchanun and Secretary of Siate Lewis Cass for
Henderson's posting. A businessman who had
come 1o the United States from County Tyrone,
the influence of Hugh Campbell and his brother
Robert reached west from Philadelphin o St
Louis, Buchangn paid particular attention to Hugh
Campbell's support of Henderson, especially when
the businessman reminded the President that
Henderson and Moore “both  were. . .earnest
political friends of yours."™*
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For three years Henderson served well s consul.
Lincoln's election, however, jeopardized his posi-
tion. In late February, 1861, Lincoln recelved pet-
tions for the appointment of Alexander McPherson
to Londonderrv. Bom in that northern Ireland
city, McPherson had come to Ohlo in 1834 and
eitablished himself as *‘a stirring active
businessmian™ and through his election o the Ohio
assernbly as o “recopnized. . active and leading
member of the [Republican] party.” In Februnry
and March nearly a dogen letters of recommenda-
tion poured ino the White House and State
Department, including ones from Senditor lohn
Sherman, Ohio Governor William Dennison and
State Congressman Samuel Worchester, Sherman
confidently asked Seward “Will vou be kind
enough to appoint Alex. McPherson consul ot
Londonderry, Iréland in plage of Alex, Hender-
son. . . He wants to go 10 his native country with
a title. Pray give it to him."™"

As with most other consular appointments Lin-
coln waited for other applicants belore he decided
which delegation or party faction would receive the
reward. On May 21 a second applicant appeared.
On that date New York juris John H. MceCunn



telegraphed the State Department to ‘‘Please say by
telegraph who is consul at London Derry Ireland.’’
The man who two years later as a Justice of New
York City’s Superior Court ruled unconstitutional
Lincoln’s Conscription Act, sought the post for his
brother, Thomas, who resided in Londonderry. An
English subject, Thomas had only recently arrived
in New York on a visit to his brother. Doubtlessly
the brothers had reasoned that it would be finan-
cially advantageous to Thomas if when he returned
to Ireland he held a Federal post. Although they
recognized that the fee-based post would not
generate much income, his appointment ‘‘would
exempt him from ‘income tax’ which is. . .rather
onerous.” Consequently, Thomas had taken the
first step required for Federal appointment when
on May 16 he filed with the State of New York a
declaration of intention to become a naturalized
citizen . Lincoln held both applications well into the
summer. But in July he learned that McPherson no
longer wanted Londonderry. Conversely, John
McCunn on July 11 again indicated his brother’s
interest in the post which he described as *‘a posi-
tion of honor & trust rather than entitlements. . . .
My brother Thomas McCunn is well qualified to
fill the place. . . . Derry is the home of our child-
hood where all our Kith and Kin reside.” A month
later the President gave the remaining applicant the
Londonderry consulate.™

When Henderson learned in September that Mc-
Cunn had replaced him he began a campaign to
discredit McCunn and retain his post. He wrote
Seward on September 25 and asked that his
‘‘appointment to this office may be made on the
recommendation of a large number of the most
respectable merchants of Philadelphia.”” On
October 16 he wrote Hugh Campbell and requested
his help. Recently appointed by Lincoln along with
David Davis and Joseph Holt to the War Claims
Commission in St. Louis, Campbell wrote Seward
and incorrectly charged that McCunn had not yet
applied for citizenship. Therefore, he hoped that if
Seward would

deem it proper io remove Mr. McCunn, you will con-
fer a favor on me. . .by reappointing Mr. Hender-
son. . . .I have not the honor of a personal acquain-
tance with you, but would beg leave to refer you to
your colleagues, Misters Cameron, Bates and Blair—
with each of whom I have the pleasure of being ac-
quainted.™
Campbell’s letter did have an effect because
evidence indicates that at least Seward mentioned
Henderson’s reappointment to the President.
However, by spring, 1862, the issue had become
academic. On New Year’s day Adams expressed his
frustration over consular appointments when he in-
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formed Seward that the Foreign Office had not yet
approved McCunn’s exchequer, due in large
measure to the fact that the Londonderry mayor
objected to the fact that McCunn lived 30 miles
outside that port city. ‘““Without pretending to any
right of judgement in these cases,”’ the Minister
said,
I trust it will not be considered improper in me regret-
fully to suggest the expediency of mature reflection in
the appointment of persons to fill even the less impor-
tant consular posts.”
Without his exchequer, Adams ordered that
McCunn turn over the consular duties once again
to Henderson. Campbell seized upon this and
wrote Seward on March 3 and quoted information
from the London Legation which indicated that
McCunn ** ‘does not care a d-n for Mr., Adams’
[instructions], and that no other person shall visa
the passports.” He seems to be a very modest,
almost bashful Irishman!’’ Such attacks were un-
necessary: sympathetic to Adams’ frustrations and
not wishing to give the Crown any, even minor,
irritants in the wake of the Trent Affair, Seward
took advantage of his knowledge of the Foreign
Office’s ultimate denial of McCunn’s exchequer
and approached Lincoln with Henderson’s renomi-
nation. On March 6 the President reappointed
Buchanan’s consul.™

As in the case of the majority of the men posted
at the minor consulates, Henderson spent the war’s
remainder in obscurity. He did not gather in-
telligence about rebel agents nor ferret out infor-
mation about Confederate supply shipments for
there were neither in Londonderry. Instead his last
years were devoted to gathering data simply for his
quarterly consular trade reports and providing help
to destitute American seamen.”

Like Londonderry, the Leith consularship was
among the eight unsalaried posts in the British Isles
where the consuls’ income depended upon fees.”
Unlike the more sought-after salaried consulates,
the fee-based positions shared several common
characteristics: few applicants applied; those who
did lacked personal access to the White House; the
office seekers had made only minor contributions
to the Republican party and, thus, had little
political support. However, as the Leith and
Galway histories reveal, the fee-based posts shared
one characteristic with the 12 salaried consulates in
that the quality of service to the Union provided by
the appointees varied from post to post.

Only the Indiana Republican Neil McLachlan
applied for Leith. Born in Glasgow, he came to the
United States and settled in Fort Wayne where he
became an American citizen. Apparently a skilled
mechanic and engineer, he joined the Republican




party soon after its organization and in the 1860
election he had worked for both gubernatorial and
senatorial candidate Henry Lane and Congressman
William Mitchell “just as hard and with as much
success as any man in the [Fort Wayne] district.”
Lane repaid the debt when the Senator arrived in
Washington and spoke with Seward about an ap-
pointment for McLachlan, possibly as consul at his
former home of Glasgow. But influential Delaware
and New Hampshire Republicans contended for
that $3,000 port. When he learned that no one had
sought Leith, McLachlan sought that post after
Seward assured him through Lane that the consul
could expect an income of $1,000 annually. His ap-
plication to this minor post passed the scrutiny of
both the White House and the Senate. On May 6
McLachlan informed the State Department that he
would accept the appointment.’®

After he concluded his business affairs in Fort
Wayne, McLachlan sailed with his family to
Glasgow where he settled them with other family
members while he departed for Leith. Situated just
north of Edinburg on the Firth of Forth,
McLachlan arrived at his post on July 1 poorly
equipped for its responsibilities. Luckily for the
North Richmond confined most of its operations in
Scotland to Glasgow because McLachlan’s exper-
ience and dedication in no way suited him for his
appointment. While he believed that ‘““There is not
much news about the place that 1 think worthwhile
in reporting,”” McLachlan contributed virtually
nothing to the war effort. For example, in four
years he made only one report about Confederate
arms procurement in his district, commented only
once about the tenor of public opinion, made no
mention of Henry Ward Beecher’s Edinburgh lec-
ture and lent no assistance to the network’s in-
vestigation of the Pampero at Glasgow.’” Indeed,
he simply regarded his posting as political plunder
and a guarantee of income.

What he did think worthwhile, however, were
constant appeals for either a salary or ‘‘a change to
Belfast, Dundee or any other place in Great Britain
or Ireland where the remuneration will be over one
thousand dollars.” Such appeals were prompted by
the fact that much to his chargin he quickly learned
that most of Leith’s ante-bellum trade with the
United States had been with the now closed
Southern ports. As a result, in his first 70 days in
office he had collected only $22 in fees. Claiming in
August that he had spent nearly $2,000 of his own
money since he had left Fort Wayne, he acidly sug-
gested that Seward name a “‘rich man’’ Leith con-
sul. By October Seward had had enough of
McLachlan’s carping and told him that should
“you find it expedient to leave,”’ the Secretary
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trusted that the consulate would be placed in the
hands of a loyal man, hopefully a citizen of the
United States. The Secretary also assumed that
McLachlan would either formally resign or official-
ly request a leave.™

McLachlan did neither. On December 19 he
decided “that business of a very important
character compelled me to leave Leith. . .[and] to
remove my family to the United States.” He had
not requested a leave for his trip to Fort Wayne,
nor had he Seward’s permission to put William
Black in charge of the consulate. While Black had
worked previously for James McDowell, the
Buchanan Leith consul, he was better known as ‘“‘a
common tailor in Leith”’ who “‘runs after sailors of
ships in port to try to get them to come to his tailor
shop to buy clothes.”” On January 28, 1862,
Seward first learned of McLachlan’s absence when
Black filed the consulate’s fourth quarter returns
for 1861. The next day the Department demanded
to know McLachlan’s whereabouts, and in reply
Black simply noted that “Mr. McLachlan went
from Leith to America in December last and ap-
pointed me to act for him during his absence.’’ Not
until mid-March, when his stay in Fort Wayne had
been concluded, did the consul write Seward from
that city and stated that “now as I have got my
business settled up I will return immediately to my
post at Leith. . . .”'™

In spite of his continued poor performance
Seward did not recall him for several reasons.
Although the consul admitted that he devoted a
substantial portion of his time to a business he
established in Leith and while his dedication to
duty did not improve, neither did he again overtly
violate consular regulations. But most important,
the Department could not find a willing replace-
ment until 18661*°

Unlike his Leith appeointment, Lincoln made a
fortunate choice for the fee-based Galway con-
sulate. Located on Ireland’s west coast directly
across the island from Dublin, Galway attracted
little United States ante-bellum trade and, hence,
did not appear as an attractive patronage reward.
Early in the war Peter McNally wrote both Lincoln
and Seward seeking the post. A native of Erie and
an English citizen, McNally requested appointment
at Galway or any other Irish consulate. But without
political support in the United States Lincoln
quickly dismissed McNally from consideration.*'

The President and Secretary did, however,
warmly receive an application for the post from
William West. As West’s background has already
been detailed in an earlier article, suffice it to say
that the Irish native had come to New York in the
ante-bellum period and had joined that state’s



Republican organization. With the support of New
York’s George Patterson and Edwin Morgan, West
wrote Seward in June, 1861, in search of a Federal
post. An author by profession, West received the
appointment as Galway consul after Lincoln read
his letter to Seward which indicated that he had
been

told by my publishers Challen & Sons that my books

cannot appear until peace is restored & I am now

seeking your friendly aid for a position where I could
support my family. 1 would like to go to the United

Kingdom. But whether at home or abroad I shall give

my best service to my adopted country and my heart-

felt gratitude to you.*

For two years he competently carried out the
traditional consular duties at Galway, but not until
he assumed responsibility for Dublin did West con-
front Richmond’s agents. In July, 1863, the Dublin
consul, Henry Hammond of Massachusetts, resign-
ed because of a lack of income at that fee-based
port. That same month Seward ordered West to
Dublin and planned that he would divide equally
his time between the two ports while Washington
searched for a new Dublin consul. Appointed
Dublin’s vice consul pro tem, West immediately
discovered considerable rebel activity and found it
difficult to return to Galway on a regular basis.
Whereas Hammond had spent his days lobbying
for a salary, at Dublin West involved himself with
reports about Confederate supply shipments,
shared information about rebel agents James
Capston, James Mason and James McFarland with
other consuls and helped diffuse the Patrick Finney
recruitment scandal.*

But West’s actions went unnoticed in Washing-
ton because of Republican politics: it mattered little
to Lincoln who served at Galway and Dublin, as
long as both posts could be given to worthy men.
News of West’s new duties at Dublin quickly reach-
ed Dungamisson, County Tyrone, where Valentine
Holmes, President Millard Fillmore’s Belfast con-
sul, sought the post. A former businessman from
Philadelphia, he had moved to Ireland in 1862 for
health reasons and now claimed the support of
William Kelley, the Pennsylvanian Congressman
and Joseph Chandler, a former Whig Congressman
and Minister to the Two Sicilies under Buchanan.
Similarly, a candidate for the Dublin position ap-
peared in September. James Cantwell had been
born in Ireland but had lived in Philadelphia from
1848-1859, and then returned to Dublin shortly
before the war’s outbreak. With the backing of
Union General Thomas Meaghor of the Irish
Brigade, Cantwell seemed a viable candidate for
Dublin. Lincoln gave Cantwell the capitol and
decided that West should retain Galway as his
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political influence surpassed Holmes’. But
Lincoln’s plans changed in early 1864 when the
Crown refused Cantwell’s exchequer after English
officials learned of Cantwell’s leadership in the
abortive 1848 Irish Rebellion. Apparently Cantwell
had arrived in the United States in 1848 one step
ahead of the law! Consequently, Seward closed the
Galway post and permanently assigned West to
Dublin

During the war Lincoln established two new
British Isles consulates. In 1861 at the former
Bristol dependency of Cardiff, he posted the
Philadelphia educator Charles Dexter Cleveland.
In 1864 he appointed George Abbot as consul of
the newly created combined Bradford-Sheffield
consulate which had been Leeds dependencies.
Abbot’s appointment was unique in that it
represented a well-deserved reward for more than a
decade of outstanding service to the State Depart-
ment and the Union.**

Abbot’s ancestors came to colonial Massa-
chusetts from the Leeds environs. Born in New
Hampshire a direct descendant of J ohn Cotton, he
retained the family property in Massachusetts
throughout the antebellum period. He came to
Washington, D.C. in 1836, and 14 years later
entered the government service when Secretary of
State Daniel Webster appointed him *‘a clerk in the
Department of State at a salary of fourteen hun-
dred dollars a year.”” His association with Webster
ripened into a personal friendship, and he occa-
sionally acted as Webster’s private secretary.
Abbot remained a valuable Consular Bureau
employee throughout the 1850s, and for several
years served as Superintendent of Correspon-
dence.®* In that capacity he thoroughly learned
consular responsibilities as he served as a Mordecai
at the gate: he read consular despatches and deter-
mined what information should be forwarded to
his superiors, including the Secretary.

The Republican inauguration threatened even
the most skilled incumbents as patronage and
loyalty tests purged many throughout the govern-
ment. Although he did replace with friends those
he removed, Seward did not greatly expand the
number of employees under his direction. For
example, at the war’s end the Department had the
same number of watchmen and messengers and
only two additional clerks as compared to 1861.
While Seward did make some early changes in per-
sonnel, as in the cases of Assistant Secretary and
Superintendent of Statistics, he did retain all loyal
clerks and by the end of 1861 the Department
employed 21 clerks, including Abbot as a Class
Four clerk with an annual salary of $1,800.%’

Those clerks Seward retained and appointed



represented  the speéctrum of men who served
throughow! Lincoln's administration, Seward re-
tained William Hunter as Chief Clerk and he SUper-
viscd o curious collection of incumbents, adven-
turers and paironage seekers, many of whom even-
tually found more lucrative posts during the War,
Hunter entered the Department in 1829 and
became Chief Clérk 13 vears later, Recognized as
“an authority on every phase of the Department’s
work,"" his abilities brought him an offer of ap-
pointment oy Assistant Secrelary in 1853 which he
declined. He did, however, serve twice as Secretary
aef dmterim. Seward also lound places for old
friends: his biographer, George Baker, became
Disbursing Clerk while his publisher, James Derby,
served ns a consular clerk. OF the upwardly mobile
clerks Erastus Webster was hired in 1861 “to
handle: correspondence relating to  political
prisoners and ‘rebels’ ** but within a year moved on
to the War Department before he returned 1o State
as o consular commeraial agent. Another clerk,
Adam Badeau, became an nid to two generals
before he received an appointment as Heutenant
colonel and Grant’s private secretary, Adam
Curowskl proved the oddest clerk appointment.
Hired because he knew 16 foreign langoages, the
“rempestous Pole' left the Department after his
scurrilons attacks on Seward and his colleagues
became public with the publication of his journal,*

Like many of his fellow clerks Abbol saw the
war as an opportunity for advancement. Henee, in
early 1862 he approached Seward about a consulnr
post in Europe. Unfortunately Abbot did not pre-
senl i strong case [or appeintment. Evidence shows
that he did not ask that his circle of friends in Con-
gress support his request, Nor could he satisfac-
torily explain how he could betier serve the Union
abroad when his experience and skills were so in
demand in Washington. As i result, Abbol did not
receive a post and he acquiesced 1o the “suggestion
of the Assistant Secretary that some inconvenience
might tesult from my withdrawal [from Washing-
ton] at that time led me 1o give the subject no fur-
ther consideration.' Abbot contented himsell with
the routine of the Department for the next two
vears. His abilities led 1o promotion as head of the
Consular Bureau and he distinguished himself as
co-author of a detailed report prepared for the
Commissioner of Customs which reorganized the
Union's Canadian consular agencies,*”

By early 1864 the Department had under advise-
ment the creation of a Bradford-Sheffield consular
district because of the great volume of Anglo-
American (rade those cities generated. For exam-
ple, midway through the war the two Leeds
dependencies accounted for nearly three-quariers
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of the district's certified involces. For two years
Abbot had bided his time in guest of a consular
post. Bul once Seward verified the creation of the
new district Abbot ngeressively sought the post for
several regsons: it would, of course, afford him the
chance to serve the Union in & new and, in his
estimation, more important capacity; perhaps most
important, the new district encompassed his fore-
bearers’ original home. Although he knew that the
fee-based post would generate far less income than
his. clerk's position, he nevertheless guickly
assembled both his supporters and arguments in
defense of hiy application. Letters of recommencda-
tion flooded Seward from many sources from
March through July. Viee President Hannibal
Hamlin joined Senators William  Fessénden,
Edward Ewverert, Charles Sumner, Lot Morrill,
Congressman Samuel Hooper, former Congress-
man Anson Morrill and  political kingmaker
Charles Hale of the Bosfon Advertiser in lestimaony
to Abbot's “culture and attainment, superior fnlel-
ligence, energy, and conscientions devolion lo
duty.” Summer succinctly summarized all the le-
ters' tone when he wrote Seward that “*Mr, Abbot
must be so well known at the Depariment of State
that any recommendation rom me would be super-
fullcions.”™™ Whereas in 1862 Abbot had no
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suitable answer to the question of who would carry
out his many Department tasks should he be posted
abroacd, in March, 1864, he confidently reasoned to
Seward that

The lapse of nearly two vesrs made the Consuls
generally acquainted with their duties and the employ-
meit in the Consular Bureau of the present excellent
and experienced officers removing the objections
which may have been entertained, 1 am induced 10 re-
quest the appointment of Consul m Sheffietd and
Bradiord in England.*
As he had done before, Lincoln held Abbot's ap-
plication until the summer of 1864, However, with
Seward s apparent lack of objection and with no
other office seekers interested in the post, the Presi-
demt awarded the deserving cvil servant the
Bradford-Sheffield consulate in August.*™
As had been the case when Bradiord and Shef-
field were Leeds's dependencies, these cities ex-
perienced no Conlederate activity during Abbot s
tenure.” Monetheless, like all the other consuls
posted after 1861, Abbot’s appointment is signifi-
can! because it shows that throughout the war Lin-
coln continually used these posis as palronage
rewards. Undoubtedly the Morth benefited from
Abbort'y familiarity with consular duties; but he
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owed his appoimment simply 1o the fact that he
had marshalled an impressive array of political
suppor.

Three significant conclusions are indicated by
the history of Lincoln’s British 1sles consular ap-
pointments and the service these men rendered the
Union. First, the evidence indicates that the Presi-
dent treated these appointments as he did the vast
majority of his other postings: namely, he was
more sentitive to political and personal considera-
tions than to the needs of the State Departmient.
The 19 consulates represented financially attractive
posts, While in 1860 the mean per capita income in
the United States was $300, 12 of the posts had
annual salaries of 1,500 or more. For those met
initially appointed in 1861 to the 7 fee-based posi-
tions, even they held promise of financial gain,
Consequently, Lincoln made new appointments Al
15 of the 17 (or 88%) consulates which he inherited
from Buchanan, while overall he made changes in
only 79% of the offices under his jurisdiction.
Technically Lincoln retained three Buchanan con-
suls: the Fox cousins at Plymouth and Falmouth
and Henderson s Londonderry. More telling,
however, is the fact that when the President madie
his decision for appointment al these minor fee-



based ports there were no other serious applicants
known to the White House who could not be
posted at more attractive posts.”*

As this and other studies have made clear, an ap-
plicant’s background mattered far less than
political and personal influence. For example,
excluding Henderson and the Fox cousins, of the
other 22 men who ultimately served only one,
George Abbot, had any remotely related consular
experience. Of the remainder, five came from
academic circles, three from the bar, two had held
political offices just prior to appointment, while
the rest had been either surgeons, ministers,
businessmen, authors, skilled mechanics or saloon
keepers. While all but the Foxes held United States
citizenship ,only 16 were born in the United States.
Of the rest, five were born in Ireland and two in
Scotland. Similarly, the President’s need to satisfy
various Republican factions resulted in the ap-
pointment of men from several states. Four receiv-
ed appointment from New York and Pennsylvania,
three from Massachusetts and Kentucky, two each
from Maine, Illinois and Indiana while New Jersey,
Delaware and Michigan contributed one consul
each. But by far political influence and personal
friendship were the most important criteria for
selection. For example, 23 (again excluding the
Foxes) received appointments with William West
twice being appointed, first at Galway and then at
Dublin . Although support came from many
sources, the most important recommendations
came from four broadly inclusive categories:
members of the United States House and Senate
(48% of the applicants), Republicans and
Democratic-Unionist supporters of merit outside
the government (31%), Lincoln’s personal friend-
ships (13%) and Cabinet members (8%). While
certainly membership in the Republican party was,
except in extraordinary cases, a major criteria for
selection , only 19 of the 23 United States citizens
posted held such membership. The four Democrats
received their posts because of special circum-
stances: the Smiths at Dundee because of Lincoln’s
friendship which overrode politics; Henderson at
Londonderry because no Republican applicant
came forward to the President; and Devine at Cork
because, frankly, both Seward and Lincoln believ-
ed him to be a Republican.

The second conclusion indicated by the evidence
concerns the consuls’ performance. Given the
reason for their selection, the Union policy objec-
tives in Great Britain and, with the exception of
London, Liverpool and Glasgow, the almost total
lack of direction and supplemental funding,
Lincoln’s British Isles consuls performed well.
Most did make reports about the descriptions and
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departure dates of nearly 200 suspected Con-
federate vessels; whenever possible the majority did
assemble evidence that rebel activity violated
English neutrality; and all but a few did inform
Washington as to their district’s tenor of public
opinion . While the 23 United States citizens
originally took their posts for self-serving reasons,
again the majority remained to serve the Union
throughout the war. While most carped about their
income, only four resigned over the issue. Addi-
tionally, one left due to illness, another to be
reunited with his family and one was replaced due
to patronage considerations. However, Lincoln
had to recall only one because of ineptitude.

That the caliber of men posted by Lincoln in-
fluenced Seward’s policy options in Great Britain is
the third and most significant conclusion warranted
by the evidence. In the war’s earliest months
Seward had no recognizable foreign policy as his
actions and plans vacillated between threats and ac-
commodation. This lack of policy is mirrored in his
English intelligence network. For example, while
his belligerent April 1 “Thoughts for the
President’s Consideration’’ voiced one tone, he
balanced that bluster with an April 21 circular to
his English consuls which pointedly warned against
giving even the slightest hint that their activities
violated English neutrality. Moreover, he lobbied
for the preceived Anglophile Adams’ appointment
at London, but dispatched the adventurous Henry
Sanford as coordinator of the European network.
In this capacity Sanford nearly embroiled the
Union in a controversy potentially more dangerous
than the Trenr Affair.”* Ultimately, of course, a
most successful policy designed primarily to pre-
serve English neutrality—and not to aggressively
and clandestinely thwart Confederate operations in
England —evolved in the State Department by the
late winter of 1861. Most scholars ascribe its evolu-
tion to the Secretary’s growing adjustment, ex-
perience and maturity in office as well as to the
measured advise of men such as Adams.

But an additional factor influenced the evolu-
tion: by the end of 1861 Lincoln’s appointments
severely limited Seward’s options in England.
While Jefferson Davis sent Bullnch, Spence,
McFarland and Capston, Lincoln gave Seward
clergymen, teachers, politicians and saloon
keepers. Hence, had the Secretary wished to test
the limits of British patience and neutrality by
battling Confederate designs in England in more
arenas than the law courts and the Foreign Office
corridors, he realized from the war’s earliest hours
that Lincoln’s patronage policy had denied him
that opportunity.
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THE INTIMATE LINCOLN
Part X
The Sixteenth President, 1861-1863

By Joseph E. Suppiger

It took the train twelve days to wend its way to
Washington, and at every stop along the route,
scheduled or otherwise, Lincoln was expected to
make a speech. No longer could he plead that the
time was not right; he had finished his inaugural
address, would soon be delivering it, and these
Midwesterners and Middle Atlantic area residents
wanted to know what he would say and do in the
nation’s capital. They would be disappointed—
even angry—if he refused to speak. He wanted to
be evasive, but he could not afford to speak of
fashions and the weather.

Passing through Tolono, Illinois, he gave one of
his shortest speeches, saying only that he was on an
“errand of national importance’’ but was op-
timistic nonetheless. Later in the day, February 11,
1861, he spoke at Danville, the Indiana state line,
Lafayette, Thorntown and Lebanon, Indiana,
before reaching Indianapolis where he spent the
night. The Indiana legislature was in session, and
Governor Oliver P. Morton wished Lincoln to
make several speeches and added remarks for the
legislators and townspeople. This the President-
elect was pleased to do, speaking from the balcony
of the Bates House, declaring that the South was
coercing the North, not vice versa; and adding a
touch of humor, he said: ““In their view, the Union,
as a family relation, would not be anything like a
regular marriage at all, but only as a sort of free-
love arrangement—to be maintained on what that
sect calls passionate attraction.’’

The following morning found Lincoln on his
way to Cincinnati by way of Lawrenceburg,
Indiana. Most of his 52nd birthday was taken up
with speech making in this ‘“‘porkopolis’’ on the
Ohio. Many of his words were aimed at Ken-
tuckians who had crossed that river just to see him,
but many were doubtless displeased by his
disinclination toward ‘‘compromise’’ on the

*Despite stories to the contrary, Lincoln was not
disguised in a ridiculous outfit including a Scottish
plaid cap and a long military greatcoat. Elihu
Washburne, who joined them that morning, saw
no such apparel.
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slavery issue. The heavy German population was
also singled out before Lincoln called it a night.

Relentlessly, Lincoln plodded through impromp-
tu and extemporaneous speeches of a vague and
unremarkable nature in London, Columbus,
Newark, Cadiz Junction, Steubenville, Wellsville,
Alliance, Cleveland, Ravenna, Hudson, Paines-
ville, Ashtabula, and Conneaut, Ohio and in
Rochester, Pittsburgh, Erie, Philadelphia, Leaman
Place, Lancaster, and Harrisburg, Pennsylvania.
In New York he visited and spoke in Westfield,
where he greeted Grace Bedell who ‘‘advised me to
let my whiskers grow.” Then it was on to Dunkirk,
Buffalo, Batavia, Rochester, Clyde, Syracuse,
Little Falls, Fonda, Schenectady, Albany, Troy,
Hudson, Poughkeepsie, Fishkill, Peekskill, and
New York City.

While in New York, the Lincolns stayed at the
Astor House where he was surprised in the recep-
tion room where Webster and Clay had given fine
speeches, and was expected to do likewise. For
several minutes Lincoln spoke amusingly to the
crowd, but the upshot of it all was that he was not
prepared to talk about the national crisis, and
doubted that big city boys like them could be put
off with lesser topics.

In New Jersey there were stops at Newark, Jersey
City, New Brunswick and Trenton; but Lincoln
was on his way to Harrisburg, Pennsylvania to ad-
dress the general assembly of that state when he
was confronted by Allen Pinkerton, the (now)
famous private detective. Pinkerton informed
Lincoln that a plot was afoot to kill him when he
visited Baltimore on his next scheduled visit. Still
not alarmed, Lincoln was only persuaded to change
his schedule when William Seward’s son,
Frederick, corroborated Pinkerton’s evidence, and
Norman Judd insisted upon it. In this atmosphere
of tension, Lincoln was hurried off from Harris-
burg to Washington on the night of February 22nd-
23rd, arriving in the care of Pinkerton, Lamon and
four army officers at Willard’s Hotel early in the
morning *

On the afternoon of the 23rd Lincoln greeted his
wife and children at their suite in Willard’s. Almost
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1wo weeks remained before the inouguration, but
the President-elect needed every minute of that
time to greet the hundreds of politicians and others
who swarmed about the hotel demanding o see
Lincolin. Nicolay did what he would 1o bring order
ot of this chaos, although there is no evidence that
Lincoln was paying him anything at this time to
serve as an appointments secretury.*® Meanwhile
Mary was adding 1o the stress factor by throwing
temper tantrums whenever il looked like the ladies
of Washington Society were snubhing her,

Desperntely trving 10 hold on to Fort Sumiter and
whal was left of the federal presence in the
Southern states, Lincoln greatly feared dislovaliy in
the officer corps of the army. He semt Colonel
Thomas Mather, a Connecticut Yankee, (o visit the
senior major general, old Winfield Scott of
WVirginia, and gauge the level of s lovalty, Scon
was ill at the time and confined to his room, but he
was obviously so strong for the Union and so deter-
mined 1o detend Lincoln on inauguration cay (et
Muther had no reservations in recommending him
for comtinued command.

== incaln’s fiscal records were being kept by his
financial agent at the Springfield Marine and Fire
Insurance Company, Robert Irwin.
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Lamon declared that the inhabitants of Willard's
Hotel could see the inaugural procession forming il
9:00 n.m. and moving toward them at 11:00, But
President Buchanan did not wiste a single minule
of his tenure enroute, and it was 12:30 belore he
called for the new President at the hatel. Then they
rode nhend of the multitude in an open barouche (a
four-passenger  carringe) down Pennsylvania
Avenve o the Capitol. With Senators Edward
Baker and James Pearce they appeared first in the
Senate chamber, and then al the east portico of the
Capitol. As the public now took them in, they musi
have been impressed with the physical differences
between the two men; one was short, gray, and
distinguished, while the other was wll, dark, and
homely, Then oo, one represented the Indecisive
past, while the other represented the determination
of the futare.

Asg Lincoln appeared on a temporary platform
by the cast portico, he looked unéomfortably about
him at the somber crowd, the overcast sky, piles of
construction materials for the incomplete capitol,
and a great bronze statue of “*Freedom,™ lying in
the mud nearby. Armed soldiers were necessary 1o
keep order in the streets; a spectator fell out of o
tree o short distance away, seccessionist Senator
Louis Wigfall of Texas glared down upon him from



the doorway; and the only friendly gesture seemed
to come from Lincoln’s longtime adversary,
Stephen A, Douglas, who offered to hold his new
sitk hat. Then Senator Baker, his old friend, in-
troduced him, and Lincoln stepped forward 1o
render his first inaugural address. After adjusting
his glasses and smoothing oul his papers, the Six-
teenth President of the United States spoke:

Fellow cifieens of the United Sianes: In complinnge
with o custom as old as the govermment itself, | appear
helore you 1o pddress youo briefly. | . .1 have no pur-
pose, directly or indircctly; (o interfcre with the in-
stitution of stavery in the states where it exists. . . .
Hut a disruption of the Federal Union, heretofone on-
ly menaced, i3 now formidably attempled. - . [ond]
no siate, upon its own mere motion, can lawfully gt
out of the Unjon. . . .the power confided 10 me will
b used 1 hold, occupy, and possess the property and
places belonging to the government . , . .

| am loath o close, We are not enemies, but
friends, We must not be enemies, Though passion
may have strined, it must not break our bonds of
wffection,

The mystic chords of memory, stretching ram
eviery battlelield and patriot grove to every Hvimge heart
and hearthstomne all over this broad lnd, will yet swell
the chorus of the Ulnion, when again touched, as sure-
Iy they will be, by the better angels of oor nuture,

The crowd was surprised, but generally pleased
with the eloguent force of the new President's
address. When the applause died down, that
“anlvanized corpse,'” old Chief Justice Roger B,
Tuaney, administered the oath of office; and Presi-
dent Lincoln repeated these famous words: "1,
Abraham Lincoln, do solemnly swear that [ will
faithfully execute the office of President of the
United States; and will, to the best of my ability,
preserve, protect, and defend the Constitution of
the United States.”

It was proving exceedingly difficult for a presi-
dent 1o abide by this simple cath of office, as the
political and social fabric of the nation ripped
apart. Seven states had already seceded, and
several more were poised at the urink of secession,
ready 1o jump if Lincoln made the “wrong” move.
What was to be preserved; what was to be pro-
tected ? Omly two forts in the deep South remained
In federal hands; Fort Sumter and Fort Pickens.
The latter was situated on a sandy island off Pen-
sacola, Florida and would be relatively easv 1o
retain . Sumter was the problem.

The day after his inquguration, Lingaln would be
applying himsell to this problem; but on the éven-
ing of March 4th, for the sake of his wife and tradi-
tion, he made a stab at social gaiety. The event was
the Linion Ball; and the place was the new building
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fecetiously called ““the Muslin Palace,”” on
Judiciary Square. It was garishly decorated in white
and blue muslin, and brightly illuminated with the
latest gas chandeliers. From 8:15 to 10:30 that
evening Lincoln shook hands as hundreds of
Republicans, and a few dozen Democrats, stood in
line to meet him. While kid gloves protected his
hands somewhat, but the righi one tended to swell
up anyway from overuse.

AL 11:00, with the Marine Band playing “Hail Lo
the Chief," Lincoln led the grand march, and turn-
ed over Mary 1o Senator Douglas for the purpose
of dancing a quadtille. Aler that, the dance floor
was filled with happy people stamping through
watlhtzes, polkas, schottisches, and mazurkas; bur
Lincoln was conspicuous by his absence. He was
probably uncomfortable in his new formal clothes,
and he never really enjoved dancing anyway. In-
stead he was satisfied 1o see Mary looking radiani
al last. In the *““wee™ hours of the moming they
wenl 1o sleep in the White House for the first time,

The next day, his first in the ""Executive Man-
sion,”” President Lincoln was absorbed with the
critical state of Fort Sumter, which the commander
there, Major Robert Anderson, had declared could
hold out for only abour six weeks with existing pro-
visions. He must plan a course of action soon, or
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give up the lort, and with It all pretense of federal
sovereignty in “Secessin.” Meanwhile Mary had
examined the house from attic to basement and
declared the condition of Ws fumnishings as
“ahominable,”* Aesthetic matiers never struck Lin-
coln as being very important, but since Mary need-
ed a hobby he secured her 520,000 (voted by Con-
gress) for refurnishing the place; and she happily
threw' outl chairs and tables which the early
presidents had brought in.

Delegation after delegation of politicians came
by 1o see him, and hordes of individuals pressed
their demands for patronage appointments; bul
Lincoln's first official appointment, and the one
that pleased him the most, was that of John G.
Micolay as ""Privale Secretary (o the Président of
the United States. " Nicolay, soon (o be joined by
Johm Hay, knew how 1o lighten the burdens of the
President and reduce the flow of excited visitors
and clamorows correspondence to manageable pro-
partions.

[n his other appointments, Hlinolsans were not
especially favored, Ward Lamon declared tha *'he
had no heart. . .00 personal attachment warm
and sirong enough to govern his aclions,” Then
toe, Lingoln “*did nothing out of mere gratitude,
and foreol the devotion of his warmest partisans as

5000 as the occasion for their services hacl passed.”
Bul Lamon himsell was sof forgotien, and he was
promptly appointed Marshall of the District of
Columbia only a manth after Lincoln assumed of-
fice. Also Lamon's Hlinois riend, Capt. John
Pope, was made brigadier peneral of volunteers in
August, 1861, in o promotional legp that astound-
ed and offended many other officers.

That no Mlinoisan was named 1o the Cabinet
should not be a cause of wonder, for Lineoin felt
that he already gave that state ample representation
at the highest level of the administration, Lamon,
Leonard Swett, Herndon and others may have
been disappointed in discovering how little in-
fluence they had in the division of spoils, but after
all, hundreds of senators, congressimen, governors
and other powerful men were also making demands
upon him, They could not all be satisfied, so
perhaps it was better for the Union that those who
knew Lincoln less well nnd were less ardent in their
loyally to his leadership should be held in place
with the glue of paironage.

Lincoln desired the appointment of his yvoung
friend and one-time legal protege Ellmer Ellsworth
a5 chiel clerk of the War Department, but
Ellsworth reguired more glamorous service. On
April 12th warfare gol underway with the Con-
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federates firing upon Fort Sumter. A month later
Col. Ellsworth, proudly dressed in o Zouave of-
ficer's uniform, became *“the first casualiy of the
Civil War." This was only the heginning of the
tragedy, lor the Lincolns, like other American
families, lost many friends and relations to the
seemingly endless casualty lisis of the Civil War.

Upon the fall of Fort Sumiter, Lincoln had called
for 75,000 volunieers to angment the tiny sianding
army. The states thal hod voted Republican were
only oo glad to produce the soldiers, but the
border states were lncking in enthusiasm, and the
states of the upper South were hostile to the Presi-
dent's “aggression. ' Soon the latter, consisting of
Virginia, North Caroling, Tennessee, and Arkan-
sis, hod seceded and joined the Confedernte
Stales of America. In honor of thelr entrance to
that confederation, the Southern capital wos
relochted 10 Richmond. Lincoln fretted over the
possibility of a Confederate military lake-over of
Washington before volunteers like the Zouaves
began pouring in.

With a large army st last, and generally high
morale in what was left of the Union, some quick
decisions were made in Congress and the White
House: Kansas would enter as a free state, the
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South would be blockaded, snd General Irvin
MeDowell would prepare to march on Richmond.
But then, on June 3rd, came news that Stephen A.
Douglas had died in Chicago. This was a great loss
to Lincoln, for while Douglas had been his
strongest opponent in peacetime, he had frmly
declared himself Lincoln®s most eager supporter in
the face of war.

On July 2181, 8 Sunday, Lincoln went (o church
with his family, oceupled their front pew at the
Mew York Avenue Preshyterian Church, and
listened o an inspirational sermon by the Rev.
Phineas Gurley. It was too bad McDowell and his
troops foiled to hear it, for they were soundly
defeated tha nfternoon and sent into full and
disorganized retreat following the fiasco a
Muanassas Junction, known as the First Battle of
Bull Run, What a demoralizing effect the sight of
dirty, dazed troops straggling into Washinglon
mist have had upon Lincoln! For days after this all
was confusion in the natlon’s capital as the Presi-
dent and the people had 1o come 1o grips with the
enormity of the situation: this was a war which
could not be won easily, i it could be won at all,

Placing General George B. McClellan in defense



of Washington, Lincoln was sufficiently pleased
with his efforts at forging a well-trained Army of
the Potomac that the President, upon Scott’s
retirement, named McClellan general-in-chief of
the army. As a defensive general, McClellan was
excellent; but this war could not be waged suc-
cessfully by the Union without taking the offensive.
In this regard McClellan proved to be a great disap-
pointment to the President.

After General B.F. Butler took Cape Hatteras
on the North Carolina coast, Lincoln understood
that the Confederacy would retaliate, so he ordered
McClellan to strike the first blow, To show con-
fidence in the recently demoralized army, Lincoln
visited the encamped forces of the Army of the
Potomac on September 3rd. On that same day,
Confederate forces were invading Lincoln’s birth-
place, the “‘neutral” state of Kentucky; and the
President probably assumed that McClellan would
be taking the field very soon. Yet, cold weather set
in, the ardor for fighting in Virginia cooled off too,
and eventually* snowball fights constituted the
limit of hostilities around ‘‘McClellan’s
Bodyguard. ”

The Army of the Potomac was probably the best
equipped army in either the North or the South,
but there were constant shortages of the things that
soldiers prize the most, including blankets, Know-
ing this, Lincoln exploded in anger when he heard
from the Commissioner of Public Buildings, Major
Benjamin French, that Mary had exceeded her
generous $20,000 appropriation for White House
furnishings: *“It can never have my approval,’’ he
said of this cost overrun. “I’ll pay it out of my
pocket first—it would stink in the nostrils of the
American people to have it said that the President
of the United States had approved a bill overrun-
ning an appropriation of $20,000 for fiub dubs, for
this damned old house, when the soldiers cannot
have blankets.”

The Congress appropriated the money anyway
as a hidden item in its budget, but Mary began to
attract the abuse of the ever-vigilent American
press, just as did her husband. Then too, both were
open to attack when they entertained the likes of
Prince Napoleon of France, wining, dining and
flattering him; all this was too much in a
democracy—if indeed it still was a democracy.
Lincoln was assmning wartime powers, suspending
the writ of habeas corpus and coming under attack

*First there would be skirmishes, most notably
the Battle of Ball’s Bluff in October, during which
Lincoln’s old friend, Colonel Ned Baker, was kill-
ed.
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by anti-war Democrats (‘“‘Copperheads’) and
others for being a ‘‘tyrant.”

The Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, Roger
Taney, declared the President to be a ‘‘usurper”’ of
power, no better than Napoleon III. Lincoln
denied that he had violated the letter of the Con-
stitution, but equivocated by protesting, ‘‘Are all
the laws bur one to go unexecuted, and the govern-
ment itself go to pieces, lest that one be violated?”’
With every passing month more people were arrest-
ed for disloyalty. Over 13,000 people would be ar-
rested in violation of their constitutional rights by
war’s end.

General John C. Fremont, the previous Republi-
can aspirant for the presidency, was even more
cavalier in his treatment of civil rights. By
September he had effected martial law throughout
Missouri, and threatened the confiscation of slave
property. An embarassed Lincoln not only had to
contradict this proclamation for the sake of Union
solidarity (the border states were outraged), but
eventually had to replace the ineffective and
egotistical Fremont with General David Hunter, a
trusted friend of the President’s.

Elsewhere in the west, General Ulysses S. Grant
made himself known to Lincoln by capturing
Paducah, Kentucky on the eve of a planned Con-
federate take-over there. While commanders like
McClellan and Fremont were fairly consistent in
their negative effect upon the President’s morale,
Grant’s diligent and successful campaigning
cheered him on. He may never have said anything
about dispensing Grant’s brand of liquor to a/f his
generals—but then ,that is the kind of statement he
would have made, respecting Grant as he did.

Another subordinate who never really let Lin-
coln down was Charles Francis Adams, Minister to
Great Britain. Appointed to this post in March,
1861 Adams was on duty in London by May of that
year, and provided the nation with the high level of
diplomatic expertise which was required to prevent
Britain from recognizing the Confederacy and even
joining in the Civil War on behalf of the Southern
States. This was a particularly severe threat by early
November, when the Trent Affair took place.

Renowned as a man who had the courage of his
convictions and would procede with a course of ac-
tion when others were reticent, Lincoln was also
capable of painful discretion in the face of jingoism
and mindless national chauvinism, Such was the
case when Captain Charles Wilkes, commanding
officer of the San Jacinto, outraged the British
people by forcing the captain of the Trent, a British
vessel, to relinquish Confederates James Mason,
John Slidell and their secretaries to his custody.

Wilkes was treated as a conquering hero when he



returned home. He was wined, dined, and toasted
in virtually every city in the North. The House of
Representatives even voted him a gold medal. But
he had no right under international law to have
done what he did! Realizing this, Adams worked to
cool the tempers of the highest echelon of British
leadership while Lincoln released the Confederates
at the earliest possible moment.

As the British-American war fever subsided, the
Union blockade of the Confederate coast—an act
offensive to all foreign powers—was tightened.
This blockade, first called by Lincoln at the very
start of the war, was only a feeble demonstration
for many months, while the United States Navy
grew from infantile to moderately impressive size.
Lincoln ,aware of a glut in the cotton market in
Europe, may have seemed unusually naive when
Thaddeus Stevens protested that a “‘blockade’’ of
the Confederate coast was a tacit acknowledgement
of Southern independence. ‘“Yes. . . .I see the
point now, but I don’t know anything about the
Law of Nations and I thought it was all right. . . .”’
‘I supposed Seward knew all about it,’’ he added,
and ‘“I left it to him. But it is done now and can’t
be helped. So we must get along as best we can.”
Incredible!

Lincoln declared a special proclamation of na-
tional thanksgiving on November 28th, perhaps
thankful himself that America’s foreign relations
were not any worse than they were. Then, on
December 3rd, he presented his annual message to
Congress, confessing optimism over the state of the
Union: ‘“We have cause of great gratitude to God
for unusual good health, and most abundant
harvests.”” He seemed almost the boaster as he con-
cluded that America’s population had increased
800% in only 70 years; and “there are already
among us those, who, if the Union be preserved,
will live to see it contain two hundred and fifty
millions. ” He knew the importance of America’s
surplus wheat crop to the world; and one may
almost read between the lines his foresight that
Northern wheat would prove stronger than
Southern cotton in the struggle of economic
diplomacy.

That winter the rising spirits of the Lincoln fami-
ly were reflected in the pleasant dinners, Saturday
receptions and formal levees at the White House
(‘‘the Executive Mansion’’). The President was
pleased with the way his wife began to produce a
salon in the Blue Room and sparkle as the central
fixture therein. He appears also to have admired
the way she looked in her expensive new clothing,
although fashions meant nothing to him. On one
occasion, she wore a long dress with a train which
showed unusual (for her) decolletage. He com-
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plimented her upon it, then could not contain a
patronizing remark: ‘‘Mother, it is my opinion, if
some of that tail were nearer the head, it would be
in better style [taste].”’

The Lincolns, of course, entertained many guests
socially, but their favorites appear to have included
Senator Charles Sumner, Mr. and Mrs. Gideon
Welles, Mr. and Mrs. Gustavus Vasa Fox, New
Jersey Governor and Mrs. William Newell, the
poet Nathaniel P. Willis, bon vivant author Henry
(‘“‘Chevalier’’) Wikoff, lobbyist Oliver (‘*‘Pet’’)
Halsted, and others. Some of these and many
others, including son Robert, must have been pre-
sent when the Lincolns had a sumptuous Christmas
dinner on the 25th. There was much work for the
President to do even on that joyful holiday, but he
took off as much time as he dared to be with his
family.

Ordinarily at mealtime, a little dog called *“Jip”’
would bound into Lincoln’s lap, and he would
receive more attention than the bountiful platters
which filled the table, Tad and Willie would later
take Jip away and play with him as they had
“Fido’’> when that canine was with them. The
Lincoln boys also amused themselves with kittens,
rabbits, ponies, goats and other animals. The
White House grounds-keeper, J ohn Watt, had his
hands full keeping them out of the shrubs and
bushes, and the housekeeper, Ann Cuthbert, work-
ed overtime to clean up after them; but Lincoln was
pitiless in this instance, and allowed his boys to
keep any pets they desired. On one occasion Tad
even absconded with all the strawberries for a state
dinner , perhaps to satisfy his own hunger and that
of “Nanco” the goat as well. The Lincolns con-
tinued to refrain from using physical discipline.

Bored with being pent up inside the rambling Ex-
ecutive Mansion one cold winter day, Tadd put on
a regular army officer’s uniform and dismissed the
White House guards. In their place were impressed
cooks, butlers and other household help. Despite
the constant threats upon his life which required
the best security, Lincoln thought it all an excellent
joke.

The new Secretary of War gave Tad all the
uniforms he wanted and furnished him with what
appeared to be a legitimate lieutenant’s commis-
sion. This was the otherwise haughty Edwin M.
Stanton. Stanton took an immediate liking to the
audacious Tad, and probably had more respect for
him in those days that he had for his father.

The appointment of Stanton, in January, 1862,
was clearly called for due to his obvious ad-
ministrative talents and Cameron’s obvious fail-
ings. In addition to having a remarkably immobile
army, Lincoln also had a poorly equipped one,
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despite the great expense to which the government
went in providing the army with war materials.
This contradiction was due in part to the uncheck-
ed practice of purchasing ‘‘shoddy’’ goods,
clothing that fell apart in the rain and the like. The
gruff but efficient Stanton quickly put a stop to
some of the more obvious excesses of war prof-
iteering, but swindling on a smaller scale continued
unabated; and neither Lincoln nor Stanton were
able to do anything about it.

When Stanton failed to make one of his more-
or-less regular appearances at the White House,
Lincoln often betook himself to the War Depart-
ment, passed a few words with his Secretary of
War, and then picked up and read the official war
correspondence wired into the adjacent telegraph
office. Assisting him in straightening out the
significance of these messages were Major Thomas
Eckert, Hymer Bates, Albert Chandler, and
Charles Tinker. Some of the messages were
withheld from the President at the prior order of
Mr. Stanton, but a few of these were deciphered
code of only tactical significance.

The brutally cold, damp weather that winter
helped put many ordinarily healthy men in sick
beds; one of these was General McClellan. Confin-
ed to bed with “typhoid fever,”” McClellan could
not even erect a facade of make-work activity, He
heard that the newly-established congressional
Joint Committee on the Conduct of the War was
investigating his leadership capacity, and was
worried lest he be replaced by a healthier, more
energetic generalisimo. Lincoln heard of his con-
cern and assured “The Little Napoleon’’ that he
could rest easy on that score, as he had met with the
‘“‘Investigating Committee’’ on New Year’s eve and
“found them in a perfectly good mood.” But
people who are in a good mood on New Year’s eve
should not be expected to remain that way for long.
Within a week the ‘“‘Radicals’’ of the committee
were pressing hard for McClellan’s removal from
high command; and Lincoln had to defend the
General, while prodding him to take the field as
soon as he was up to it. On January 27th, after
McClellan had recovered, he understood the
General to have a plan of attack. It did not sound
very promising to the President, but he favored the
“Peninsula Campaign’ over inactivity,* and
issued General War Order Number One to compel
McClellan to advance by February 22nd.

*The only activity at this time was in the West
(west of the Alleghenies) when General George H.
Thomas was pushing the Confederate Army out of
Kentucky after the Battle of Mill Springs. This
battle was fought on January 19th.
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The same cruel weather which apparently laid
low the commanding general for a few weeks was
possibly also responsible, in part, for striking down
little Willie Lincoln. Willie was his mother’s
favorite due to his intelligence, good looks and sen-
sitivity. He was the boy his father listened to most
avidly, as if in concert, when he played a piano
piece for members of the family. No one ever had
an unkind word to say about Willie. He came down
with “bilious fever’’ (possibly malaria) around the
first of February, recovered somewhat on his
father’s birthday, suffered a relapse a few days
later, and died February 20, 1862.

During the early crisis of their son’s illness, on
February 5th, the Lincolns had scheduled a gala
ball for some 500 people in the East Room of the
White House. It was too late to cancel. That even-
ing the President and his wife took turns holding
Willie’s hand while the increasingly painful fever
took hold of their son. Then they were forced to
tear themselves away from his bedside, which was
located in one of the rooms upstairs that Mary had
so fancifully decorated. Rich purple draperies tied
ba¢k with bright gold cords complimented the fine
bed linen and shiny geegaws around the room. The
only thing out of place was the pitiful boy on the
bed.

Robert, home from Harvard again, spent con-
siderable time with his sick brother, as the Presi-
dent and Mrs. Lincoln could escape the artificial
gaiety in the East Room for only a few minutes at a
time. Most of that evening the Lincolns were forc-
ed to smile at a throng of politicians and guests
over a cake decorated to look like Fort Sumter
while the Marine Band played joyful tunes.

The 17th was another crisis period in Willie’s
pathos. Mary tried to spend every possible moment
with the boy, but the worsening of his condition
aggravated her usually nervous condition; and
Willie’s best friend, Bud Taft, was called in to give
him some comfort. The boy did an admirable job;
and once when Lincoln looked in on his son late at
night he saw that Bud, the son of his friend Judge
Horatio Nelson Taft, was still at Willie’s bedside.
“You ought to go to bed, Bud,” the President
said. ““If I go he will call for me,”’ was the simple
reply. Later Mr. Lincoln returned, found the Taft
boy asleep on the floor, and quietly carried him off
to bed.

Willie died the following Thursday, about 5:00
p-m. Nicolay, keeping vigil nearby, heard the Presi-
dent close a door, and then saw him standing
before him, choking back the tears. ‘‘Well,
Nicolay, my boy is gone,”” he said. ‘‘He is actually
gone!”’ Then he went to his office to be alone, and,
Nicolay was convinced, to cry.



Having to continue with the administration of
the government and give comfort to both his wife
and younger son, Tad, probably kept Lincoln from
having a psychological breakdown himself. He ask-
ed Senator Orville H. Browning to take care of the
funeral arrangements, then plunged himself into
domestic and foreign affairs. He made many ap-
pointments in the days immediately following the
death of his son, among them the nomination of
Winfield Scott as minister plentipotentiary to
Mexico; but he did not feel up to writing until after
the funeral, and a rare lapse of five days went by
prior to the 25th without any apparent letter
writing by the President.

The eleven-year old’s body was embalmed and
placed in a metal casket ornate with rosewood and
silver trim. The Reverend Gurley conducted the
funeral services. Willie’s remains were viewed in
state in the Green Room just off the East Room
where the recent ball had been held. Hundreds of
people came to see the most handsome member of
the Lincoln family one last time before interment in
Georgetown at the Oak Hill Cemetery. Among
them was his little friend Bud, expressly invited by
Mr. Lincoln. Bud became sick to his stomach and
had to be carried from the room. Mrs. Lincoln was
in even worse shape, and showed no sign of emo-
tional recovery even weeks after the funeral. To
make matters worse, Tad, suffering from a similar
illness, grew worse, and did not fully recover until
early March.

Even in his own depressed state, Lincoln did
everything in his power to subdue the depression of
his wife and young son. One day, while standing
near a window, he pointed out a building in the
distance. It was an institution for the insane.
“Mother,” he said, ‘‘do you see that large white
building on the hill yonder? Try and control your
grief or it will drive you mad, and we may have to
send you there.” With Tad he used a different tac-
tic to uplift his spirits (and get him to take his
medicine); a nurse came into the boy’s room one
day and found him happily clutching a check en-
dorsed: “Pay to ‘Tad’ (when he is well enough to
present). . .five dollars,”” signed ‘‘A. Lincoln.”

Robert also suggested that at a moment like this
the presence of another member of the family
might work wonders in restoring morale to the
Lincolns. On his advice the President invited
Mary’s sister, Elizabeth Edwards, to come for an
indefinite stay at the White House. Out of a sense
of duty, as much as love, she came promptly, arriv-
ing on the day of the funeral. For the next two
months Mrs. Edwards put up with her sister, and
was pleased to see her gradual recovery and the
speedier restoration of Tad. Their improvement
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was such a blessing to Lincoln that he wished his
sister-in-law would stay longer; but she was anxious
to leave the gloomy Executive Mansion in favor of
her lively Springfield manor.

During the two months of her stay, in March and
April, Mrs. Edwards noted several peculiarities
which now existed in the relationship between
father and youngest son. First of all they slept
together, not on rare occasions, but regularly. Tad
had apparently been accustomed to sleeping with
Willie, and the President was his only choice as a
SuCCessor .

During the spring of 1862 it was an emotional
impossibility for Mr. Lincoln to deny Tad
anything. When the boy refused to take his
medicine from anyone else, the President would in-
terrupt high-level conferences to play nurse-maid.
On at least one occasion even a Cabinet meeting
was disturbed because of Tad’s demands.

One day, “in order to calm his mind,” Mrs.
Edwards took her brother-in-law through the con-
servatory where numerous botanical specimens
were on display. ‘“How beautiful these flowers
are,” she gushed. ‘“‘How gorgeous these roses!
Here are exotics!” Lincoln took it all in without
much enthusiasm, and then replied: ‘‘Yes, this
whole thing looks like spring.”” But he admitted
that he had never bothered to visit this White
House greenhouse before, saying: ‘I don’t know
why it is so, but I never cared for flowers; I seem to
have no taste, natural or acquired, for such
things. ”

On another occasion, Mrs. Edwards broke away
from her female and juvenile charges to take the
President on a walk. It was just across Penn-
sylvania Avenue to the north a short distance,
where a little park featured the inspiring statue of
General Andrew Jackson; but Lincoln began to un-
burden himself of some of his feelings about the
passing of his beloved Willie, and told his sister-in-
law, in all sincerity, that he was sorry she would
soon have to return to Springfield. Upon arriving
back at the Executive Mansion, they found the gate
locked and Tad running off with the key laughing.
Mrs. Edwards was furious, but Mr. Lincoln was
just pleased to see the boy in good health and full
of mischief once again.

The Lincolns were now attending church services
fairly regularly; and Abraham, more than at any
time since his childhood, was reading the Bible for
inspiration. Still, at mealtime, he refused to give
the blessing. Mrs. Edwards later recalled that he
just sat down at the table ‘‘absorbed in thought,
and never, unless recalled to his senses, would he
think of food.” ‘“His habits,”” she added, *‘like
himself, were odd and wholly irregular. lie would
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miove around in a vagoe, abstracted way, as if un-
conscious of his own or any one clse's existence."’
As lor the food, when served, “he b no express-
ed londness for anything, and ate mechanically.”

Tad pot rid of some of the toys and objects he
associated with his dead brother, bul his parents
could not stand to part with any of these in their
possession . Lincoln used to shock visitars by taking
them hurriedly through a house full of masterpivoes
to o hearth and mantel over which hung a linle
“picture of [lineis." This tny picture, sketched in
a few minutes by his deceased son, was to him the
most valuable work ol art in the world.

His children so loved and admired their father
that they went (o great lengths 1o be at his side. As
lively & boy as Toad was, be often curled up beside
the President’s desk or in front of the fireplace in
his office. This way Mr. Lincoln could do his wark
and they could still enjoy one-another’s company.

Even the mature and “‘sophisticated”” Robert,
when spending some time a1 the White Houose dur-

*Among them was the Batle ol Fort Donelson
where Ulvsses Grant became famous for demand-
ing “unconditional surrender."
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ing Easter vacation , wis acoustomed 1o wailing in a
chair outside his father's office for hours, if need
be, 10 gain a few minutes of time with the man.
Lincoln enjoved talking to him, and probibly
learned of Robert's interest in giining an appoint-
ment o West Point at this time, But Mrs. Lincoln
would not hear of her oldest boy's preparation lor
wir, and the interedt evaporated—only 1o be
replaced by a desire (or an femediahe commission,

On Easter Sunday, March X0th, o traditional ege
rolling took place on the White House lawn. Tad
was observed playing there with a lame boy named
Tommy who lost his father inoa recent battle. When
Tommy indicated an Interes! in seeing the Presi-
dent, Tad did not hesitate, but went directly 1o
fetch him and have him shake hands with and talk
to the boy, Tad found that what fittle resistance his
father had lefi 1o his entreaties just melted away
when he held his hand and called him “papa-day**
(papa, dear).

During the months of February and March o
variety of small battles ook place in the West®
which showed that the nrmy was not entiredy inac-
tive, Then teo the navy was energetic in helping to
retake MNew Orleans and fighi off the C.8.5.
Firgieia (the famous clash between the Momitor
and the “"Merrimack, " Tought on March Sth). If
only the mighty Army of the Potomac under
General MeClellan had been on the move Lincoln
might have been in better spirits, The President
would have preferred more direct movements upon
Munassas Junction, bul General MceClellan was
determined to go ahead with a peninsular com-
paign, sctting out by water 1o Fort Monroe, and
from there northwest toward Richmond. This plan
took a lot of preparation, amd, being more com-
plex, had more room for error.

By the last day of March, Lincoln had to take it
upon himself to order back a division under
General Louis Blenker which MeClellan was plan-
ning on taking with him 1o “Fortress” Monroe,
but which was peeded closer 1o Washinglon,
Lincoln was afraid that MeClellan, eager for
preponderant  strength, would so  denude
Washington of its defenses that Confederate
Geteral **Stonewall' Jackson would be tempted to
attnck the capital, with the opportanity for 8 coup
af hand. But Lincoln also feared thar MeClelian
would rationalize away failure by claiming that he
had been denied critical support on the Peninsula;
therelore the President allowed the detachment of
Franklin's division of MeDowell's Corps 10 aug-
ment MeClellan's army (which now reached about
150,000 men, on paper).

While McClellan was slowly moving his men imo
position for an offensive against Yorktown,




these visitors was Robert, who sponsored a friend
of his for an appointment as assistant paymaster in
the navy. The appointment was approved by his
father. Mary and Tad remained at the Soldiers’
Home from the beginning of July until well into
October, and Lincoln spent as much time with
them there as he could. It was his habit to rise early,
dress, eat a simple breakfast of perhaps one egg, a
piece of toast and some coffee, and be on his way
to the White House by 8:00. There business of-
ficially got underway at 10:00 a.m., with dozens of
people in the anterooms and halls near his office all
wanting to see him at once, and hundreds of letters
had to be answered. Nicolay and Hay helped bring
some order out of chaos, and by noon they pressed
some lunch upon him. In the summers he usually
preferred fruit, especially grapes, as they could be
eaten quickly and efficiently. His afternoons in-
volved more vital work, often including Cabinet
meetings. Dinner fell between 5:00 and 6:00 p.m.,
his ““drink” consisting usually of pure water. Even-
ings at Anderson Cottage must have been very
pleasant, limited as they were to the family and a
few visitors and friends like General Daniel Sickles
of New York and Ozias M. Hatch, Illinois’ Secre-
tary of State. The President then retired between
10:00 and 11:00, unless important news from the
front was coming in by telegraph at the War
Department.

Disappointed in McClellan to the point of utter
frustration ,and of the opinion that Henry Halleck
would make a better general-in-chief, Lincoln call-
ed the latter east for high command in July.
Halleck visited the Peninsula and was aghast at the
stagnant state of the army. By August he had pull-
ed McClellan’s large but weakened force out of
there and closer to home where “repairs” were
effected.

Some of his generals had been inclined to liberate
slave property in the districts coming under their
charge, but Lincoln quickly put a halt to all such
premature liberation, as he considered it an uncon-
stitutional and (more importantly) a politically in-
expedient practice. When the Congress passed a
law ““to confiscate the property of rebels, etc.” on
July 14th, he objected to it until a joint resolution
weakened it considerably. The vast majority of
slaves, however, were held in bondage by *‘rebels’’
beyond the pale of federal power. Pressure
mounted upon him at home and abroad, to pro-
claim those slaves free. In a secret Cabinet meeting
held July 22nd Lincoln outlined his proclamation
on emancipation, and, upon Seward’s advice,
delayed publication of it until such time as a
military victory was forthcoming—unfortunately
for the Union, this was n#ot soon forthcoming.

The summer of 1862 saw President Lincoln sign
into law a number of important pieces of legisla-
tion: the law prohibiting slavery in the territories,
that establishing the first federal income tax, a law
to facilitate construction of a transcontinental
railroad, the Morrill Act for endowing land-grant
colleges, and the confiscation act previously allud-
ed to. His personal intercession was also necessary
in September to prevent the execution of hundreds
of innocent Indians following the Sioux uprising in
Minnesota. As it was, 38 Indians were publicly ex-
ecuted by hanging, Lincoln (humanely?) postpon-
ing their execution until the day after Christmas.

McClellan having proven such a disappointment
to Lincoln and Halleck, another officer was put in
charge of the federal forces in the Shenandoah
Valley, now designated the Army of Virginia—
General John Pope. The son of one of Lincoln’s
oldest friends in Illinois, Judge Nathaniel Pope, the
General had a very high opinion of himself. Ap-
parently, like McClellan, he thought he could “‘do
it all.” Lincoln gave him the chance to prove it,
and the result was the second Battle of Bull Run.
Coming at the end of August, it convinced the
President that his Emancipation Proclamation
would have to wait a while longer. As for Pope, he
was sent to Minnesota to contend with what was
left of the ‘‘hostiles’ there. Friendship had its
limits.

Finally, in mid-September, came news of
McClellan’s semi-victory over Lee at Antietam.
Lincoln snapped at the occasion to announce the
Emancipation Proclamation . In his own words, as
remembered by White House artist Frank
Carpenter:

I put the Proclamation aside, as you do your sketch
for a picture, waiting for a victory. . . .Things looked
darker than ever. Finally came the week of the Battle
of Antietam. I determined to wait no longer. The
news came, I think, on Wednesday [the 17th], that the
advantage was on our side. I was then staying at the
Soldiers’ Home. Here I finished writing the second
draft of the preliminary Proclamation, called the
Cabinet together the following Monday to hear it, and
it was published the next day [the 22nd].

The Emancipation Proclamation, which was not
to go into effect until January 1, 1863, and only
dealt with the states of the Confederacy, did not
free any slaves directly; but what it did achieve was
the realization of a second war goal: the freedom of
the slaves. This was an idealistic aim much appre-
ciated in New England, and in Europe where agita-
tion for interference in the war now dissipated. But
as Lincoln well knew, states like Kentucky, Indiana
and lllinois were generally satisfied with the
original war goal, the preservation of the Union;



and some soldiers from those states now deserted
rather than ‘‘serve the cause of the nigger.”

There also were fears among whites in the border
states that Lincoln would soon be putting
thousands of freed slaves into uniform and allow-
ing them to go armed into communities in Ken-
tucky, Missouri, etc. where slaves were still legally
held. When a deputation of ““western gentlemen”’
quizzed the President on this matter as late as
August 4th , he informed them “‘that it is the deter-
mination of the Government not to arm Negroes
unless some new and more pressing emergency
arises.”’ Lincoln felt that to do so would be to risk
the loyalty of the border states and ‘‘turn 50,000
bayonets from the loyal Border States against us.”’
He was at that very moment considering schemes
for colonizing the freedman in Haiti, Africa, and
Central America, although little came out of such
notions,

On September 18th Lincoln was pleased to sign
the appointment papers making Jacob Frankel the
first Jewish chaplain in the history of the United
States army. The only pain the ceremony caused
him was due to the fact that he had just sprained
his wrist five days before, trying to check his run-
away horse during what normally was a slow trot
down Vermont Avenue from the Soldiers Home to
the White House. The poet Walt Whitman, then a
hospital attendant, saw him negotiate this route
many times riding a large, ‘‘easy-going gray
horse,’’ in the company of some twenty-five to
thirty cavalry. If this horse was Lincoln’s favorite
““Jeff Davis,”” it may have been conducting itself in
the spirit of its namesake that day.

On the 22nd, Lincoln was expected to give a full
reading of the Emancipation Proclamation to his
Cabinet. To their amazement however, and to the
consternation of Stanton, Lincoln first quoted at
length from Artemus Ward’s ‘“High Handed
Outrage at Utica.” As usual, humor served to
soothe the troubled mind of the President. The war
still was not going well, and later in the day he was
to undergo a minor but painful operation (prob-
ably for corns) on his feet. In his words, Dr.
Isacher Zacharie ‘“‘operated on my feet with great
success, and considerable addition to my
comfort.”

As of October Ist, Lincoln felt up to a tour of
the Antietam battleground and a visit to the Army
of the Potomac (which Lincoln referred to wryly as
“McClelland’s bodyguard’’). Again humor
brought joy to the heart of the commander-in-chief
as he swapped stories with his companion Lamon
as they traveled about. On one occasion, however,
Lamon was overheard singing ‘“‘obscene ballads’’
while the President laughed. For this both were
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roundly criticized, even in the press. Lincoln then
commissioned Mathew Brady’s excellent photo-
grapher Alexander Gardner to take a series of pic-
tures, and Lincoln and Lamon left at the earliest
opportunity.

Each month Lincoln was paid via a salary war-
rant worth $2,083.33 which he deposited at Riggs
Bank in a savings program. The September warrant
which he drew on October 6th, however, amounted
to only $2,022.23, so what happened to the missing
$61?7 The answer is very simple—it went to pay the
first income tax in American history, one that
amounted to 3% of the President’s income. Of
course Lincoln would like to have saved every cent
of his paycheck, and could have used the tax
revenues to defray the cost of Mary’s ever more
numerous vacation jaunts up north; but everyone
was expected to make sacrifices in wartime, even
the President.

On October 8th the Battle of Perryville was won
by Union arms in Kentucky, and Lincoln now had
visions of a swift .federal invasion of east Ten-
nessce. He was sympathetic to the pro-Union
people of that mountain stronghold, and wanted to
do what he could to ‘‘liberate” them. But General
Buell was not the one to do the job, and Grant was
busy elsewhere (in west Tennessee and Mississippi),
so that hope was soon dashed.

Amusement now seemed to take up a significant
amount of his time as he called P.T. Barnum to the
White House with ‘‘Commodore Nutt” to enter-
tain him and his family. By all reports, Lincoln was
delighted with the ‘‘pigmy.”” Barnum was over-
joyed, and made arrangements for *‘General Tom
Thumb” to visit the Lincolns soon.

It also pleased the President to personally test
every new formula gunpowder and crack-pot
weapon offered the government. On November
15th Lincoln had Seward and Chase join him for a
ride down to the Navy Yard, and a test firing of a
“Hyde” rocket. The rocket exploded only a short
distance from where they were standing, but
miraculously none of them suffered any injuries.

Nothing pleased Lincoln any more than hearing
the gleeful squeals of little Tad. For this reason he
unashamedly spoiled the boy, giving him toys and
money, taking him (virtually) everywhere he went,
and tolerating some outrageous conduct. It was
this autumn, for example, that Lincoln had Cap-
tain John Dahlgren furnish Tad with a little brass
cannon that ‘‘he can not hurt himself with.”” By
war’s end the boy had an extensive ordnance all his
own.

Neither did Lincoln forget his friends as Lamon
had suggested, for a vacancy on the Supreme Court
was soon filled by David Davis; and Cabinet posts



were offered to Orville Browning and James Speed
before long . He also remembered black servants in
his employ who went elsewhere, like William
Johnson, whom he furnished with a letter of
reference. As for Mrs. Lincoln, her closest friend
and confidant was apparently Elizabeth Keckley,
the black woman who had begun her service in the
White House as a simple dressmaker.

Much of the winter of 1862-1863 was tedious and
uneventful, though a man by the name of Francis
X. Rabstock livened up a Wednesday in early
December when he broke in on the President at the
White House and threatened him. Rabstock was
arrested and taken away for questioning. Mrs.
Lincoln, having returned from a recent jaunt with
Mrs. Keckley, decided to shower dinner parties
upon the President and his Cabinet officers, and
few were the politicians and bureaucrats who were
not invited to at least one of them. The Foxes,
Brownings, and Harrises were particularly con-
spicuous at such times, and were obviously good
friends of the Lincolns.

On December 23rd Mary planned a different
kind of dinner—one for the wounded she and
Lincoln intended to visit on Christmas. Numerous
invalid soldiers enjoyed good food and warm
greetings from the President and the First Lady
that day. They also dispensed oranges and lemons
for which Lincoln paid $300 out of his salary.

On New Year’s Day, January 1, 1863, Mrs.
Lincoln naturally had a reception at the White
House. It was well attended due in part to the of-
ficial signing of the Emancipation Proclamation,
and it stretched from the late morning into the
afternoon.* An exhausted Mary then packed up in
preparation for another trip up north. A few days
later a blizzard swept the country, and a lonely
Lincoln claimed to enjoy hearing *‘frozen crystals’’
beating against his bedroom windows.

Burnside, defeated at Fredericksburg, had failed
as McClellan’s replacement, and Lincoln decided
to appoint General Joseph E. Hooker to replace

* At the signing ceremony, Lincoln used only one
pen, a wooden-handled steel one which he gave to
Senator Sumner. The ludicrous tradition of signing
important documents with a large number of pens
arose later.

94

him in high command. Personally, the President
liked Hooker better than either of his predecessors,
and would be especially saddened when called upon
to remove him. When other generals learned of this
and heard of the appointment they were amazed,
as Hooker was a notorious critic of his superiors,
and was rumored to favor a coup d’etat and
military dictatorship! But Lincoln actually con-
fronted Hooker with this rumor and dared to say:
““Only those generals who gain successes can set up
dictators. What 1 now ask of you is military suc-
cess, and I will risk the dictatorship.”

On February 13th Lincoln took Stanton with
him, and, mindless of the “Hyde” rocket fiasco,
watched the detonation of a bomb by electricity on
the grounds of Fort DeKalb. Again, no one was
hurt; and shortly after this the President’s
technological mind was stimulated sufficiently to
work out an idea for a “‘steam-ram’’ which could
be used to defend the ports of the Union, Like his
other inventions, it was lacking in practical applica-
tion, but showed a sound grasp of basic engineer-
ing principles. That evening Lincoln was further
amused with the planned visit of ‘‘General Tom
Thumb” (Charles Stratton) and his diminutive
bride, Lavinia Warren. The ‘‘General” and his
wife were invited to spend the night at the White
House, and did so.

Other forms of entertainment enjoyed by
Lincoln that winter, usually in the company of his
wife, included Shakespearean plays at Grover’s and
the Washington Theatre, and a Barney Williams
blackface minstrel show performed at Grover’s
Theatre especially for the President. The long,
uneventful winter months were a trial to Lincoln;
and many visitors found him, as Dahlgren did,
“‘nervous and uneasy.’’ His old friend, Dr. Anson
Henry, a guest at the White House late in
February, also found the President ‘*haggard and
careworn,’’ although he still had his old sense of
humor.



The Hardtack Regiment Meets Lincoln

By Mark H. Dunkelman and Michael J. Winey

Friday, April 10, 1863 was a memorable day in
the history of the 154th New York State Infantry
Volunteers. For on that day the regiment passed in
review before President Abraham Lincoln, the only
time they did so during two vears and nine months
of service, Springtime two vears hence would find
them marching in the Grand Review at Washington
after the close of the war, By then, after the
tragedies of war and assassination, there was a new
President, and the [54th New York could muster
but one third of its original strength.

AL the time of Lincoln's review, however, the
regiment had not yet been in combat. Organized in
the summer of 1862 in response 1o the President's
call for 300,000 volunteers 1o serve for three years,
the 154th New York was comprised of men from
Cattaraugus and Chautiugua Countles. Alter
mustering in at Jamestown on September 24-26,
1862, the regiment left the state and proceeded via
ol to Washington . After a short stay on Arlinglon
Heights, the 154th moved (o Fairfax Count House,
where it was assigned to the 18 Brigade, 2nd Divi-
sion, 11th Corps of the Army of the Potomac. In
carly November of 1862, the regiment participated
in an uneventful movement to Thoroughfare Gap
and back. December found rhem on the move
agnin, their destination Falmouth, across the Rap-
pahannock River from Fredericksburg. The 11th
Corps arrived too late to take part in the disastrous
baitle there, but was subjected to the subsequent
dismal Mud March. President Lincoin, with some
misgivings, replaced Burnside with General Joseph
Hooker as commander of the army, and the
depression which had haunted the troops gradually
dissipated. The 154th made some ill-appreciated
moves of their camp that winter and finally settled
down near Siafford Court House. They nomed
their camp **John Manley' after a citizen of Cat-
taraugus County who brought them an immense
amount of food, a barrel of whiskey and other
comlorts. Al CampJohn Manley they also received
their mickname when they engaged in some
unscrupulous dealings for extra hardipcks.

On April 2, 1863, General Oliver Otis Howard
(founder of Lincoln Memorial University) was
placed in command of the 11th Corps. One week
later he reviewed his new command, and the
following day the 11th Corps was reviewed by the
President.
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COURTESY OF THE AUTHORS
Caorp, Newell Burch

While researching and writing a regimental
history, (The Hardiock Regiment; An Mustrated
History of the [34th Regiment, New Yeork Siate [n-
Santry Volunteers, East Brunswick, N.J., Fairleigh
DPickingon University Press, 1981) the authors
located several diaries and hundreds of letters of
members of the 154th New York. Some of these
refer Lo Lincoln’s review, and range in scope from
brief mentions to fairly detailed accounts.

Private Harvey Earl of Company H, usually a
laconic writer, was content 1o nitify his brother
Alfred in a letver written Apol 12, **Wal we went
oul and see old Abe the other day he was here and
reviewed our Corps,”"' Corporal Newell Burch of
Company E, recovering from a long illness, noted
in his diary, “10 Pleasant. Reviewed to day by
President Lincoln and Gen. Hooker. Hard work
for a weak man But lots of fun and learn the
Presidents Salute. ™ First Licutenamt John C.
Griswold of Company F and Private Emory Sweet-
land of Company B, bath usually quite descriptive,
included only brief passages in letters home written
on April 12, Griswold informed his wile Susarn,
“We have had 1wo reviews the past week of this
Corps of the Army. One by General Howard our



COURTESY OF THE AUTHORS
Johm C. Grivwold

new commander & one by father Abraham. The
latter created guite a sensation & passed off guite
creditably."” Sweetland noted to his wife Mary,
“we had another review the president was there &
his wife & their two boys. also, Gens Hooker
Howard, Sickles & half a dozen others. there was
18 regiments there. it was a brilliant pagent. [ rode
Bro. Lowings [Henry Lowing, regimental chaplain]
horse over & got up close by the president & had a
good view of him & the other notables, ifi had time
I would write you more abbut jt.""

Al least three other members of the 154th New
York found the time to send more detailed descrip-
tions. Sergeant Richard McCadden of Company G
wrole 1o his brother Billic on April 10;

Wi were reviewed yesterday by Gen Howard and (o
day by Old Abe Lincoln, 1 had a fine view of the old
rail splitter he s about s homely o man as you woukd
wish 1o see altho he looks pood natured you would
kmow him by the picture you have seen s0 many [imes
af him.

The whole Comps wis present, consisting of about
15 thousand along with three Basteries of six guns
each riffed six pds light Artilery firon guns), and the
samie number of heavy brass pieces. | should think
they would cary a 12 1 round shot or  twenty b con-
jcal shell thare weg also o company of [oncers they
were mounted on horse back pnd each man hos o
lance about one foot long at the end of a seaff wn or
twelve feot long with o little red fug about as lane as
thiz sheet of paper when it is open they looked gav 1

COURTESY OF THE AUTHORS
Emory Sweetlond

can tell ye and each one was armed with o sword The
Prestdent had his wife and two litle bovs with him
they were in o carringe and the President was on a
splendid horse. We were formed n three baitle ooy &
as thare i theee Divistons in the Corps each Division
forming a Hpe of its own each line was 8 or 10 men
deep it was o grand slght now el you Old Abe rode
a long our lines in front of éach Division., Then we
marched he vrok his post in fran and we all marched
post bim, he s saluted 21 guns (iced by the Artilery
when be first came,

The Presidents stall consisted of 1 should think ot
{38 commissioned officers Thare was three lodies
amonpst them all o home beck _ Huntley
was one of them. It was o splendid sight and the day
was s bright as you ever saw which added beanty 10
the scene. Thare was three bross bands thare and
splendid ones too mke it all fogeather It was the most
splendid sights | ever saw.’

Private Barzilla Merrill of Company K was
similarly Impressed by the occasion. He wrote 1o
his wife Ruba after the review:

Ruba | would like 1o send youa picture of whit | have
seen 1o day but this | canl do but can wrile i little
ahouy it

The cleventh and twelfih hrmy corps were reviewed
oy by the President about one mile from our cemp
dindl of course your husban made one among the many
of that mumber yvou probably will see an pecount of
this review in the papers it was a grand thing may beif
vou can pet one of Frank Leslys papers the rite
number you could see an ingravend or picture of the
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same | could see 2 man 1o work on the other hill in
front of us bui he was so far that | could not see what
his business was."” [Both Alfred R. Waoud and Edwin
Forbes sketched the review, Waud's version appéared
in Harper's Weekly, May 2, 1863, Forbes" view ap-
pears in Bairfes and Legders of the Civil War, Vol,
11, P. 120). if you should seca picture of the same the
man that rode a bed of the gang of horsemen passing
amongst the troops will represent the Presiden he had
his hat in his rite hand about as high as his brest he
rode o doark bay horse and a verry good one

there was Tour or five women rode in this gang all
dressed in long black riding dresses and black hats
some like Nancys do you think vou could manage a
horse in such a spot they done it nice if you could gét a
picture of the thing you would gel a nice picture A few
words pbout the President his portrote domt do him
justice he is a smarter Tooking man than that
represents he has a verry good shaped forehed and an
intellectnal looking man but he looks wire worn and
palid his hair is dark gray he is all and slim buile the
pext 10 him is general hooker be @5 o man pbout the
same age and smart loaking next s general Howard
his right arm is off about 1o the elbow he lost his arm
in some of the baltles he looks (ke & smart man he
commands our corps now in place of Seigke and there
were Jots of other big men present our Corps was
reviewed by Howard on the same ground vesterday
when you set this in print you will ger a better idea
than 1 can give you this may help some

A little about the soldiers | dont know how many
waas present but 1 would think that they ocoupicd a
plece of ground as Targ &3 Blodgetts clenring on the
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south side of the rode supposing fences and buildings
were all out of the way and | guess this is to small a
patern the soldiers were well clothed and in good con-
dition and they made a fine appesrance and when
they marched in review the scene was sublime and in
order and it takes men that are drilled to do this they
marched in dooble colums ot half distance when they
passed the president and the rest of the big men pro-
bable vou dont understand what the command double
colwme ot half distance means | hant room 10 explane
there was verry nice muscik to march by and the
men marched nice our Regiment knows more now
than when they left Jamestown but the old Regiments
thit have been oul ever since the war Broke oul puts
us im0 the shades vet there old regiments can flank
right or left and do it nice as 8 pin well it 5ol po use
for me W0 undertake to write much about ihese scencs
but T would like to give you a few out lines and save
the rest uniil | get home then we will talk about i

Henry Van Aernam, the Hardtack Regiment's

surgeon, wrote Lo his wite Melissa on April 11

Yesterday was a big day in the 11th and 12th Corps,
Bath were received by the President in the same place
we were received the day belore. The President was
accompanicd by Mrs. Lincoln and a little boy about
as large as Charley and was escorted (o the feld by
Genersl  Hookel, Sickles, Schuez, Slocum pnd
Howsard with a nuomerous retinue of Brigadier
Cienerals and citicens who came up from Washingion
with him .

The troops were stationed in the fleld ot 11 odock.



The Divisions in line of battle with the several
Regiments massed with spaces between Brigades. The
1st Division of the corps forming the first line—then a
wide street or space and then the 2nd Division in the
same order and so on with the divising—with the
Artillery stationed away to the right.

At twelve o’clock the cannon on the right announc-
ed the coming of the President by firing a salute of 21
guns—a moment afterward the party came in sight.
The President and General Hooker in the advance
both upon horse—followed by a few horsemen as a
special body guard—then the carriage with Mrs.
Lincoln followed by a large guard of Lancers.

On approaching the troops the President bared his
head and rode in front of the first line at a slow gallop
with General Hooker just in the rear who was in turn
followed by the immense bodyguard of Lancers and
Cavalry. After passing the whole length of the first
line he passed to the rear and rode in the same way in
front of all the lines. I had forgot to tell you that the
young Lincoln, a fat fair haired boy of 10 or 12 rode
on a black shambling pony sometimes beside his
father and sometimes in the rear.

The carriage in which Mrs. Lincoln and some other
lady roede took a position some distance to the front of
the troops on a slight elevation near the National
colors. While the receiving party were passing among
the troops the several bands played ‘‘Hail to the
Chief”’ etc. in fine style.

After passing in front of all the troops the President
took his position by the National colors and the
troops by regiments passed in review before him.

The pictures carry a good idea of how old “Abe”’
looks—the most of them are exact likenesses—he
looks careworn, anxious and fatigued. Mrs, Lincoln is

a blond, [?] ““fat and fair and ‘Squshy’. She would re-
mind you of Mrs. L.I. Mason—though rather prettier
looking. She looks to me like a cow animal somewhat,
a coquetish, trifling woman without a single mark of
greatness about her. Perhaps I am unduly prejudiced
against her on account of her shameless conduct and
frivolity with General Sickles during the review. 1
wouldn’t be surprised if old Abe had a good cause to
shoot Sickles as he (S.) had to kill Key!!

President Lincoln returned to Washington after
the April 10 review and three days later the 154th
New York left camp on the first leg of the
Chancellorsville campaign. The regiment was
severely engaged in the Battle of Chancellorsville
and again two months later at Gettysburg. These
two fights cost them 493 casualties, and the regi-
ment went on to suffer further in the Chattanooga,
Knoxville and Atlanta Campaigns, the March to
the Sea and the Campaign of the Carolinas. In the
1864 election the Hardtack Regiment sent its votes
home from Atlanta by power of attorney, and
overwhelmingly favored President Lincoln. In
April of 1865, their elation at the end of the war
gave way to gloom at the news of the assassination.
Many of the soldiers must have recalled the plea-
sant spring day two years before when they had
seen and saluted their Commander-in-Chief.

A couple of individual members of the Hardtack
Regiment had other connections with the Lincoln
story - including one who was present during the
Gettysburg Address. But those are other stories for
another time.

NOTES

1. Newell Burch was captured at Gettysburg and im-
prisoned for twenty months at Belle Island and Ander-
sonville, (Ramsey County History, St. Paul, Minn., Spr-
ing, 1964.)

2. John C. Griswold was wounded and captured at
Chancellorsville and discharged for disability in 1864.
(Courtesy of Ruth Griswold and Margaret Green.)

3. Emory Sweetland served until the end of the war,
much of the time as a hospital steward.

(Courtesy of Lyle Sweetland.)

4. The review as drawn by Edwin Forbes.

(Battles and Leaders of the Civil War.)
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5. Lincoln and Hooker at the review, as sketched by
Alfred R. Waud.

(Harper's Weekly.)

6. Barzilla Merrill was killed at the Battle of
Chancellorsville.

(History of Cattaraugus County, N.Y.)

7. Henry Van Aernam left the regiment in November,
1864, when he was elected to the U.S. House of Represen-
tatives.

(Courtesy of the Adjutant General of New York,
Albany.)



Mary Anna Morrison Jackson

By Lowell Reidenbaugh

On a2 February evening in 1899, delegnies 1o a
DAR convention were guests at a White House
reception. As each lady approached President
William McKinley, an officer introduced her so
that she might recelve personal greetings, When the
head of the North Carolina delegation approached,
she was announced as Mrs, Jackson.

From behind, a voice corrected:
Stonewall Jackson."

At that, the last Union veteran o serve as Presi-
dent grasped Anna Jackson by both hands and ex:
claimed: **[ have long desired 1o meet the widow of
the great General Stonewall Jackson,™

Mrs. McKinley was seated nearby, clasping a
bouquel of fowers so as 10 discourage would-be
handshakers. “‘Dear," said the President, “'this is
Mrs. Stonewall Jackson.™

After the two ladies exchanged greetings and
Anna accepted the bouguet from Mrs. McKinley,
the President said, **Mrs. Jackson, won't you do
me the honor by receiving with me behind the
lings?""

Annn accepted the invitation, but shortly there-
after rejoined her DAR sisters in the East Room.

“Why didn't you stay with greatness?” she was
asked.

“I hael rather be in here with vou," she replied.'

The incident was nol unigue for Anna Jackson
who, in fifty-two years of widowhood, was idolized
throughout the nation. Presidents paid homage to
her, and no conclave of Civil War veterans was
honored so highly as when Anna Jackson was pre-
sent (o shake their hands or pin medals and ribbons
on their lapels.

When Theodore Roosevelt visited Anna’s home
town of Charlotie, N.C. in October 1905, Mrs.
Jackson was among those who extended official
greetings to the President and his wife at the
Southern Railroad depot near the Jackson home
an West Trade Streel, Seizing Anna's hands,
Teddy assured her: *“You don't know how glad |
am to see vou. . o is worth the trip down here just
to meel you."

Recalling that he had appointed Anna’s grand-
son, Thomas Inckson Christian, to the United
States Military Academy, Roosevell added, “*He's
a Mine fellow, a fine fellow,"”

While Anna and other ladies entertained Mrs.
Roosevelt in the Jackson home, T.R., in i speech

““Mrs,
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at Vance Park, commented: **1 know that neither
the Goveérnor nor the Mayor, nor the Senators will
blame me for what | am going 10 say. . .bul the
greeting that pleased and touched me more than
the greeting of any man could have touched me,
[came when] | was greeted by the widow of
Stonewall Jackson '™

On o third occasion, Anna oocupled a seat next
to William Howard Tafl when that President
visited Charlotie in 1909, In an unprecedented
downpour, the 300-pound Chief Executive held an
umbrella over five-foor Anna, and was seen 1o
place a second under her feet to keep them off the
waler-soiked floor,

When Anna was asked how a lady Democrit
fured with a Republican President, she responded,
“He is the harmonizer of all our hearts,™

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR
Mary Annag Morrison Jackson,
Mrs. Seongwall Jackson
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Anna's first introduction to & President occurred
during the Millard Fillmore Administration when
she and her sister, Eugenia, visited their unele,
William A, Graham, Secretary of the Mavy.

The Morrison sisters spent foar months in
Washington, seeing the sights, enjoying the social
whirl and becoming better acquainted with their
ungle, who also served as governor of ond senator
from MNorth Carolina.

“Being capital ladies,” Anna reported, *‘we
were invited, of course, to all the grand enter-
tainments and though some of us were not dancing
girls (for myself, as a minister's daughter, it would
not have been considered proper) certainly we did
ol need it to complete our enjoyment.'™

Ome evening, ol o White House dinner, Annn og-
cupied a spol next to Danlel Webster. The young
lady considered the great orator one of the dullest
persons she ever mel, He did not utter a word afl
evening S

Anna, christened Mary Anna, was born three
miles north of Charlotte on July 12, 1831, the third
daughter and fourth of twelve children in the
family of Dr. Robert Hall Mormzon and Mary
Graham Morrison,

Her fmher, o Preshyterian clergyman, was the
founcer and first president of Davidson College.
Her mother was a daughter of General Joseph
Ciraham of Revolutionary War fame.

w4
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Anna attended the Moravian female academy in

Winston-Salem, as had her mother and older
sisters, The school did not award diplomas at that
time, bul many vears later it presented one |0
Anna, and also established a scholarship in her
name.
In 1853, Anna and Eugenia visited Lexington,
Virginia, where their oldest sister, Isabella, was liv-
ing with her husband, Daniel Harvey Hill, a
mathematics professor at Washington College.

In Lexington, the girls met Major Thomas
Jackson, a close friend of the Hills and professor of
natural and experimental philosophy and instructor
in artillery tactics at Virginia Military Institute,

Although engaged to Elinor Junkin, daughter of
the president of Washington College, the Major
frequently escorted the Morrison girls to social and
chureh affairs. Four vears laler, as a widower,
Tackson renewed his friendship with Anna, The
two were married at the Morrison residence,
Cottage Home, on July 16, 1857, six days before
Anna's twemiy-sisth binthday. The bridegroom was
thirty-three.

Because De. Morrison did not trost himsell emo-
tionally to marry any of his davghiers. the
ceremony was performed by Dr. Drury Lacy, presi-
dent of Davidson College and great-grandfather of
Lenoir Chambers, a biographer of Jackson a cen-
tury later.
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The nuptinls, at "early candlelighting,” were
performed without a slip, but there were anxictics
beforehand, Anna's trousseau, ordered from New
York in ample time, did not arrive wuntil after
family and neighbors had combined their skills 1o
manufacture a last-minute substitute.

There also was a delay or uncertainty about the
marriage license, perhaps in the arrangement for
the $500 marringe bond, then required by North
Carolina. One member of the wedding party was
forced 1o ride to the county seal in Lincolnton to
strajghten aut the difficulty,

The groom gave the bride as her wedding gift o
sel of seed pearls and a watch engraved with
“M.ALLY

For four years Anna and Tom made their home
in Lexington, but on April 21, 1860, the Major
bade Anna goodbye and marched away at the head
of a contingent of VMI cadets, bound for Rich-
mond angd the start of a meteoric, two-year carcer
in Conflederate service,

Anna visited her husband shortly after the Battle
of First Manassas, where he received his sobriquet,
“Stonewall,"” spending several weeks in the vicinity
of Centreville.

102

When Jackson was transferred to the command
of the Valley District in early November, Anna
returned 1o Morth Caroling where, a short time
lnter, she received word that Jackson, now a major
general, had located quarters for the two of them in
Winchester. Anna wasted no time in rejoining her
husband. With friends, she obtained transporta-
tion to Richmond, then journeyed westward to
Strasburg in the company of an absent-minded
minister. She arrived in Winchester on a cold
December midnight, and for three months lived
with her husband in the home of Dr. James R,
Graham ,a Presbyterion divine.

The idyllic lifestyle terminaied when Jackson
launched his Valley Campaign in March. Anna
once more returned to Nocth Carolina where, at
the home of her sister, Mrs, James P. Irwin, she
gave birth o a doughter on November 23, The
baby was named Julia Laura, lor Jackson's mother
and sister,

Jackson obtained the first glimpse of his
daughter in April 1863 when Anng, Juliz and
Hetty, a nurse who had been parl of Anna's
dowery, arrived at Hamillon's Crossing, south of
Fredericksburg, where they found living accom-
modations in the home of William Yerby.

During the Jacksons' nine days togetlier, Julia
was baptized by Beverly Tucker Lacy, a chaplain in
Jackson's I Corps, belore a distinguished group of
officers that included Robert E. Lee.

Al the insistence of Anna, “Okl Jack™ also sat
for his final photograph, o three-quarter profile
that proved (o be the favorite picture of his troops.

But the big attraction in the household was baby
Julia, just five months old. **Everybody called on
Mrs. Jackson and little Miss Stonewall,” wrote a
staff member. ““Troops would be brought near for
parade and review and the baby would be carried 1o
where they could get a view of her. Mrs. Jackson's
altractive looks, manners and good sense did much
1o make these visits popular and pleasant and the
Creneral was g model of & guiet, well-behaved first
father.'™*

Another frequent visitor wrote of Anna; **She
was a, , gentlewoman, . of simplicity, character
and cheerfulness ol spirit and most amiable man-
per. . . Modest and unaffected, she was cordial
and considerate toward all with whom she came in
contact. Small in stature and well-rounded in form,
she was in siriking contrast with the erect and
soldierly man whose bride she became in her
youth.™

When Jackson received word that Federal forees
had crossed the Rappahannock at the start of their
spring offensive, Anna, Julia and Hetty boarded a
train for Richmond, There Anna received word a
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few days later thot the General had bedn wounded
in the Battle of Chancellorsville, that his lefi arm
had been amputated and that he was being remiy-
ecl 1o an outhuilding on the Thomas Chandler plan-
tation w1 Guiney Station south of Fredericksburg,

Escorted by Anna's brother 1oseph, 2 member
of Jacksan's staff, the wife, infant and nurse arriv-
ed at Juckson's bedside on May 7, three days
hefore his death,

Anna accompanied the body 1o Richmond for
funcral services, then 1o Lexington for burial
before returning once more to Cottage Home,

But even here she was unable to escape the war,
When Stoneman'’s Raid swept through the county
in late 1864, it took along all the family livestock,
including  Stonewall Jackson's two  favorite
mounts, Little Sorrel and Superior.

Recalling that Union General George Stoneman
had been o West Point classmate of her hushand,
Anna senl g note via her nephew, Paul Barringer,
and a slave, Abram, asking for the return of the
horses and the mules. She did not seek 10 recover
the cows, sheep, hogs and chickens.

General Stoneman was not 1o be found, but a
colonel listened sympathetically (o the entrenties
and returned their livestock.!

A vear after Anna rejoined her parents, her
mother died and the voung widaw assumed the
responsibilities of mistress of the busy household.
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She served in that position until 1873, when she
turned the duties over 1o a newly-acquired sister-in-
law and moved to Charlotle.

When the time arrived for Julia 1o enter finishing
school, she was enrolled in The Southern Home
School in Baltimore, conducted by Mrs. Hetty
Cary Pegram, hersell a war widow. Throughout
Julia's two yeurs at the school, Anna occupied a
nearby apartment.

During Julia's stay in  Baltimore,
newspaper recalled that

a local

Whien the Jackson stalve was unveiled in Richmond
some years ago, after the procession and the oratory,
Governor Kemper brought forward upon the plat-
form a stender little girl ond, addressing the crowd of
the old Conlederate soldiers, spid! " Comrades, let me
present o you the doughter of Stongwall Jackson,*
Somehow, the lears sprang 1o every eve af the sight of
this delicate child of their resistless leader. There was
i chierimg, bul gvery Dace showed o deep emodtion,
Ever since that time » tender and poetie fnterest hay
elung to the litle lady and there are muany thousands
who care to know af her well-being: She has recently
arrived in the city, under the clire of her mother, who
lever looses sight of her and who' brings her o
school, . . Miss Tulin Jackson is sbout sixieen years

LINCOLN MUSEUM, LMU
George Stonemarn, Brevel Major-Ceneral
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old, medium height, slender and graceful. She i
blonde, with fresh color and fair hair, Her eyes are of
exquisite clear gray, large and exprossive. Her man-
ners are gentle, but not shy or reserved, There Is a
marked resemblance 1o her illustrions father and she
seems hardly conscious of the distinction she enjoys,
and of the romantic interest that she carrles with her.*

On June 3, 1885, Julin married William Edmund
Christian in the Second Presbyterian Church in
Richmond. The ceremony was performed by Dr.
Moses Hoge. a longtime friend of the Jacksons.

The newlyweids resided in Richmond for a year,
then moved to San Diego. Anna accompanied the
couple and was present for the birth of a grand-
daughter, Julia Jackson Christian, and a grandson,
Thomas Jackson Christian.

After two years in California, the family return-
ed to the East, taking up residence in Anna's home
in Charlotte. One vear later, Anna suffered a dou-
ble loss in the death of her father, ninety-one, and
her daughter, twenty-six, from typhoid fever,

Initially, the young grandchildren lived with their
father’s relatives, but in 1893 they rejoined their
grandmother who was rapidly attaining a quasi-
sainthood as the “First Lady of the South."

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR
Julia Jackson, Daughter af Stonewall fackson

Tourists by the hundreds flocked to her
doorstep. Public officials clustered about her.
Everywhere she wenl she was the focus of atten-
tion, particularly when ex-Confederates gathered
for the unveiling of another monument.

In the years before Julin's marriage, Anna and
her daughter graced many a platform at dedication
ceremonics.

On June 6, L1880, they were a1 Winchester,
Virginia, where, with an estimated 30,000 others,
including lsane Trimble, Bradley T. Johnson and
Dabney Maury, they witnessed the unveiling of the
Maryland monument **to the Memory of Her Sons
Who Fell on Virginia Soil."”

On May 10, 1881, the eighteenth anniversary of
the death of Stonewall Jackson, mother and
daughter were in New Orleans for the dedication of
the Army of Northern Virginia Monument, With
Jefferson Davis, Fitz Lee and thousands of others,
they attended the ceremonies in Metnirie Cemetery.
Anmia pronounced the statue of her husband an ex-
cellent likeness, but she found additional reason o

be pleased.
“Julia, . behaved beautifully," she wrote, "*She

was sweet and gracious to evervbody; she certainly
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was & belle for once, if never again, 1 do hope that
she will not be spoiled by i all. T iry so hard 1o keep
her from being so, and make her realize that all the
attention we receive is not for our own sake, but a
reflection of the glory won by the father."™"

Two vears later, in 1883, Anna and Julia were in
Lexington for the unveiling of Edward Valentine's
recumbeni statue of Robert E. Lee on rhe Wash-
ington and Lee campus,

They were part of a distinguished assemblage
that included Wade Hampton, Jubal Early, Fitz
and Rooney Lee, George (Maryland) Steuart and
the widows of Generals Jeb Swart, George Picken
and George Anderson. For three hours they listen-
ed as Major John Warwick Daniel “held the au-
dience by the spell of his eloquence, moving it now
to applause and now to tears."" Afier Father
Abram Ryan, poet laureate of the Confederacy,
recited his best-known work * The Swoard of Lee,™
Julia drew the cord that revealed the famous
sculpture, and the throng started the long proces-
sion through the umiversity chapel that lasted until
nightfall.*

With her daughter gone, Anna took her grand-
children, four-vear-old Julia: and three-vear-old
Thomas, to the dedication of Valentine's statue of
Jackson in the Lexington town cemetery, The date
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wiis July 21, 1891, Anna's sixtieth birthday and the
thirtieth  anniversary of the Battle of First
Manassas,

An estimated 25,000 thronged the streets of the
Rockbridge County village for the ceretionies that
featured an address by **Jube’ Early. The chief
marshal for the procession to the cemelery was
James A, Walker, a YMI cadet during Jackson's
professorship and a late-war commander of the
Stonewall Brigade, The unveiling honors were ac-
corded the Jackson grandchildren. Years later
Julia's recollections were siill clear.

I gan remember the crowd,”™ she wrote, also my
buby indignation that my fother was pushed out of the
carrigge by some usurping woman. | later sow him sit-
timg on a fence with other spectators. | remember the
Tomg white sheet that covered the statue which seemed
to my eyes o reach the skv—my grandmother herding
us o the platform . 1 do oot remember the speaker or
the ceremony, but just before my brother and | were
to pull the cord, . .my brother was diverted by a
prasshopper on the small stand and, turning to grand-
mather, he exclaimed, **Oh, grandmother thera's n
grasshopper,”™""

Anna made a third visit to Lexington in June
1912, this time for the unveiling of Sir Moses
Ezekiels statue of Jackson at VM. Again, familiar
figures from the Civil War were present, although
in dwindling numbers.

The presiding ofTicer was Col, Thomas T. Mun-
ford, a cavalry commander under Jackson and one
to whom Old Jack had commented at Chancellors-
ville: **The Institute will be heard from today. ™

The day's speaker was R. Preston Chew, & bat-
tery commander under Jackson. The cord was
drawn by Anna Jackson Preston, the widow's
22-month-old great pranddanghter who was held in
the arms of her mother, the grasshopper-walcher
of 1891 who was now Mrs, Edmund Randolph
Preston,'*

Anna also was present in Dallas for the dedica-
tion of the Confederate monument in 1898, The
long, tiring journey and the overzenlous reception
in which her hand was shaken so vigorously that it
hecame swollen, forced Anna to bed on the eve of
the big event,

Her host, deeply concerned for the wellare of his
distingnished puest, summoned four of the ciiy's
mist prominent physicians for a consultation. All
were men of considerable corpulence. As they con-
ferred, Anna observed, "I ought to get well with
one thousand pounds of doctors working over
me. "

As she had predicted, she was fully recovered by
moming and was able to join Jefferson Davis'
daughter and John H. Reagan, the last surviving



member of the Confederate cabinet, in viewing the
monument that featured statues of Lee, Jackson,
Davis and Albert Sidney Johnston.'

Her role as a national celebrity produced a
similar reaction in 1910 when Anna visited Mrs.
Levi Leiter in Washington at the same time that
Mrs. G.F.R. Henderson, widow of Jackson's
British biographer, was a guest.

President and Mrs. Taft honored Anna at the
White House, scores of hostesses competed for the
privilege of displaying her before capital society,
and veterans clamored for a glimpse of the 78-year-
old symbol of the Lost Cause.

Her strength overtaxed, Anna was forced to bed.
Mrs. Leiter stood guard outside the room to make
certain that the doctor’s orders were faithfully
obeyed. ““She treated me as if I had small pox,”
quipped the guest.'

A newspaper account of Anna’s visit reported
that

Those who had the great honor of meeting Mrs.
Jackson found her a fragile little woman with keen,
bright eyes and the alert air which characterizes those
whose interest in life and its best endeavors is undim-
med by sorrow or the passing years. Time seems to
have passed over her lightly. Having known her worst
grief when life was young, she has been enabled to
take up the thread again and to weave some brightness
into what was left. She delights in recalling old days
and she speaks now with the calmness which comes
only from Christian resignation."’

Calmness was an Anna Jackson hallmark. A
brother remembered only one occasion when his
sister displayed a hint of temper. ‘It was when the
fever of politics was running high. . .between the
old-line Whigs and Democrats,’’ remembered Dr.
Robert Hall Morrison, Jr. “‘Sister Anna said she
would never marry a Democrat, a widower or a
soldier and as it turned out she did all three.”'®

Anna seldom refused an opportunity to attend a
veterans reunion— Nashville, New Orleans, Mem-
phis, Charleston, Charlotte, Willingly, she entered
into the spirit of the occasion even if it meant
appearing a trifle ridiculous.

At one event Anna and her sister Isabella, widow
of D.H. Hill, were in the receiving line on a large
veranda when Mrs. Hill’s granddaughter spied
Anna, immaculately attired but with an old hat
pulled loosely over her head.

‘““What are you doing?”’ inquired the great niece.

“This old soldier has asked me to honor him by
wearing his hat for a few moments,” explained
Anna, ‘“‘and I’m just doing it to gratify him.”’*®

When not traveling, Anna was at home on West
Trade Street, receiving callers, caring for
household responsibilities and conducting
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voluminous correspondence. She was an honorary
president of the United Daughters of the Con-
federacy and the Stonewall Jackson Chapter of
Charlotte, as well as a founder of the Children of
the Confederacy in that city.

For many of her adolescent years, Julia Jackson
Christian lived with her grandmother, sharing in
the domestic chores that included feeding the
chickens, caring for the kerosene lamps, soaking
the hominy and taking the silver upstairs at night.

Anna’s day started at 7 a.m. when, clad in wrap-
per and slippers, she drank a cup of hot water. She
always dressed for breakfast, after which she
engaged in morning devotions, The remainder of
the morning was spent at a small desk answering
mail or working on her books, Life and Letters of
General Thomas J. Jackson (1891) and Julia
Jackson Christian (1910).

After the noontime meal, she frequently went
for a walk. A late-afternoon nap ,supper, a glance
at the evening paper and some light conversation
completed her day before retirement at an early

hour,
““I never saw my grandmother hurried,” observ-

ed her granddaughter.

Anna’s tastes in literature ran to biography and
travel, or those books circulated by the Cranford
Book Club, of which she was a charter member. At
one time or another, however, she had read ““Uncle
Tom’s Cabin,’’ which she denied to young Julia as
‘‘unfair to the South.”’ Only after her marriage in
1907 was Julia able to satisfy her curiosity on the
book.

Anna’s daily routine was slightly different on
Sunday. After services at the nearby First
Presbyterian Chugch, the remaining daylight hours
may have been devoted to reading ‘“The Presby-
terian of the South’ or “‘Presbyterian Standard.”
Julia, on occasion, was permitted to take a walk,
but never ride a streetcar. Her Sabbath reading was
confined to ‘‘Sunday books.’’** Anna forswore the
Sunday newspapers until after nightfall, although
she would listen avidly to items that others had
gleaned from them.

Some of Julia’s happiest moments in her grand-
mother’s home were provided by visits from ladies
of Anna’s generation when “‘I sat unobserved. . .
and savored the talk expressed in the veiled Vic-
torian words of that day.

“Old ladies have always meant a great deal to
me. My whole young life and young womanhood
was passed in their company. . .ushering them in,
entertaining them in the parlor—or sitting room for
those more intimate—until grandmother appeared
and I could sit unnoticed, enjoying it all. When
their voices were lowered, 1 sharpened my ears for



some bit of neighborhood gossip, or when they
were skirting around the forbidden land of sex
where all was taboo and hush-hush in that day, I
listened more intently.”?!

While Anna was willing to receive honors and
accolades ““on account of my husband,’’ she did
not use her role as Stonewall Jackson’s widow for
personal gain or favor, except one time.

With her granddaughter, she arrived at a
railroad station as the train was pulling out. Raising
her voice, Anna called: ““‘Please hold the train for
Mrs. Stonewall Jackson.”

Cords were jerked frantically, brakes squealed
and the train backed up. Triumphantly, Anna and
Julia were escorted to their seats.*?

Widowed in her early 30s, Anna would have
been a capital matrimonial catch for some for-
tunate gentleman, but she never considered the
possibility because ‘I would never give up my
name. ”

However, she acknowledged the existence of a
Southern Presbyterian minister with whom she
corresponded until his death. There also was a
Southern governor who confessed tor her: ‘‘Mrs.
Jackson, if I hadn’t promised my wife on her death
bed never to remarry! God only knows how I suf-
fer!”s

In 1907, the North Carolina legislature voted
Anna a $100 monthly pension. She declined the
offer, writing: I most welcomingly appreciate the
patriotic and loyal tribute in the name of my late
husband, but 1 do not feel that [ would be justified
in accepting it. I am informed that the laws of
North Carolina limit all pensions to those who have
not five hundred dollars of personal property, and
as I do not come under the law, I respectfully re-
quest that the bill be withdrawn.”” She suggested
that the money be appropriated for the benefit of
destitute widows and orphans of veterans.**

For years Anna suffered from neuralgia about
the eyes and cheeks. Visits to eastern health spas
afforded no relief. In desperation she went to Hot
Springs, Arkansas, where a doctor recommended
morphine. Three months later, although free of
pain, she realized she would become a hopeless
drug addict if she continued to use the morphine.

Returning eastward, and in the face of vigorous
opposition from leading physicians, including a
kinsman, she went to Baltimore where the diseased
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nerve was removed. The surgeon refused payment
for the operation, explaining that her relief from
pain was sufficient reward.

When she was eighty, Anna had all of her twelve
remaining teeth removed without an opiate, then
walked home unaided from the dentist’s office. She
could endure physical and mental pain equally well.

Although the years were eroding her strength,
Anna mustered sufficient energy to attend
“‘Stonewall Jackson Memorial Day’’ in Richmond
in May 1910.

“Thinking not of herself but only of him,”
wrote Dr. James Power Smith, one-time member
of Jackson’s staff, ‘‘she was as gentle, unaffected
and cheerful as we had always known her. More
frail in body, showing the traces of her many years,
she was uncomplaining , placid in countenance and
peaceful in spirit. Happy in the enthusiasm of our
hero-worship, she was biding her time when she
would enter in through the gates and find those
whom by the wise and loving will of her Heavenly
Father she had lost awhile.’’?*

In August 1914, Anna suffered a heart attack
while at Walter’s Park, a Pennsylvania resort she
had visited in late years for simple food and
moderate exercise. She was hospitalized in
Philadelphia, but never regained full strength after
returning home,

A cold, contracted while sitting outdoors,
developed into pneumonia and she died at her
home at 4:20 a.m. on March 24, 1915.

In her final hours Anna continued to think of
others, telling her granddaughter: *“When we go to
Lexington [for the funeral], be sure that the
children [great granddaughters Anna and
Cortlandt] are in safe hands.”

Public activities in Charlotte came to a virtual
standstill on the day of the funeral. Mayor Charles
Bland, in a proclamation, suggested that “‘stores be
closed and all business be suspended at 4:30 that we
as a city can pay tribute to the memory of the
distinguished dead.”’*

After services before a capacity crowd at the
First Presbyterian Church, the body was taken by
rail to Lexington for interment beside Anna’s hus-
band and daughter.

Among those making the final journey was
James Power Smith, who had made a similar trip
with the remains of his chief fifty-two years earlier.
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THE WINTER GUNS OF OLUSTEE
By Allen A, Wil

[ i
COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR

Battle of Ofusiee

February drops a wet chill over backwoods Florida. In
the palmetto swamps west Trom Sanderson, og sits low
and thick above the grownd, Sometimes, if the wind s
right, it climbs up the hall-rotted pines antil all the forest
is an army of tall, dark forms sianding a1 attention in the
fog. On days lke that, it makes you remember,

It wais a February morning, late in the month, and the
fog rolled in from a muddy pond 1o the south. 1t was a
morning like any other in the swamp pear Olustes Sa-
tion, excet for one thing: mixed i with the army of
serub pines was pnother army, As e sun drove away the
last of the mist from the tress, the army could plainly be
seen, shaivering a little From the cold (or maybe just shiver-
|rgd, There were over 10,000 in all, Nearly hall wore gray,
the rest wore blue.

All of that mppened 100 vears ago, The survivors,
their children and grandchildren are gone. But, when
Felbruary comes (o Olestee, the people remember Lhelr
iead.

“Forgetr Hell'" reads a semi’s bumper sticker in nearby
Lake City (home of many of the Confedeome dead), and
truer words were never spoken, For a long weekemd, the
vsumlly quiet town of 14000 wrms the clock back 118
vears, nod lets out all the stops,

The seretie tle burg s transformed into a Cistl War
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celebration. Thousands of men in battle-worn umforms
siriil across the sguare, muskets slung beneath their arms,
Bormeted belles stie pots of origingl southern hopping-
John.

Generals and Colonels bark orders info the snappy
February alr, and hand artisans of every sorl hawk the
goods that grandma used to make.

The costuimes alone are worth the trip. (Imagine stan-
ding in line a1 MeDonalds with a Yankee mess sergeant
and three plstoons of Rebel shorpshooters.) The real
show, however, is the boitle.

Professionn] Civil War re-ensctors come from all over
the nation for the occasion and the effect s, well, just use
your imagination. Think ol a tow pine fGeld Huered with

hodies, . . magine 1,000 muskets going off a1 point
bank range, . . Jmagine Mags and droms and  bugle
calls, . . .cannons  blasting i the  distance, .. and

sereams of the injured and dying. IT you've closed your
eyes and really pictured i, wou have an iden of the
devastating effect of the Olustee re-gnnctment.

For one shart afternoon you could have stepped back
almiost a century and a quarter. No detail is forgolten,
Every possible effort is made to recronte exnctly what
happened on this histogie streteh of scrub land six genera-
tiore o, The only difference = the casualty lisg,




This year, officers expect only a few scraped knees and
stiff backs from sleeping in the reconstructed army
camps. Inthat other February, the numbers were stagger-
g, The Southern casualtics came close (o 1,0, in-
cluding the killed, wounded, and missing. The Union's
numbers topped the Coblederate’s climbing fo nearly
1, %K1,

But the battle is not the only reason for joining the
celebration . Top notional enteripiners (Johnny Cash ond
June Carter Cosh appeared last vear), musket fights, Civil
War displays, n 10 K run, fancy dress boll, and o full-
seale, Mgh-strutting parade also add 1o the logal blow-
oul,

“Why celebrate a battle?™ & voung cofleie student wos
heard 10 ask during lnst vear's festival. A philosopher
might have reminded him thar i we forget our history,
we're doomed Lo repeat " For the average citizens of
Lake City, though, philosophy-is the las thing on ther
minds. To them, it's simply an annual reason o bave a
good tme, take a look at the pas, and remember thial,
once wpon o time, something very important happened
here.

This year's festival was scheduled Tor February 18, 19,
and 20, 1983, For more information, write Olustee
Festival Information, P.0O. Box 2135, Lake City, FL
320535,

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR
Batile of Ofustee
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COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR
Battle of fusiee Station
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Linceln News Digest

By GARY R. PLANCK, Literary Editor

Items for this column should be mailed to the
Literary Editor at 901 Palmer Avenue, Winter
Park, Florida 32789.

* ok x % %

The speaker “‘of national renown’’ for the
Abraham Lincoln Association’s convocation pro-
gram on February 12, whose name was not released
““for security reasons’’ prior to the $40 a ticket
event, turned out to be not the President but
William Safire, New York 7imes columnist, on the
topic, “‘Lincoln’s Pundits: If Today’s Columnists
Were Writing in Lincoln’s Time.”” Unfortunately
Safire became snowed in at Washington and could
not appear in person. Therefore, a tape of his
speech was sent by telephone line and played for
the gathered assembly in the Hall of Represen-
tatives at the Old State Capitol in Springfield.
Harlington Wood, Jr., of the United States Court
of Appeals read excerpts from ‘“The House Divid-
ed Speech,” and a banquet followed at the Illinois
National Bank. As a memento of this occasion, the
Association distributed an actual-size reproduction
of the first separate printing of the famous Lincoln
speech given June 16, 1858, made from one of two
extant original copies published by O.P. Bassett of
Sycamore owned by the Illinois State Historical
Society.

* k % ¥ Xk

To commemorate Lincoln’s birthday this year, a
special program, ‘“‘Abraham Lincoln: A Musical
Biography,”” was presented February 12 at Spring-
field’s Lincoln Home Visitors Center. Music play-
ing an important part in Lincoln’s life was sung by
a choral group, the Voices of Love, Joy, and
Peace; Lincoln was portrayed by actor R.
Frederick Klein. The celebration on February 13
with a Grand Levee at the Lincoln Home from 1:00
to 4:00 P.M. Dressed in period fashions, Spring-
field Junior League members, along with **Mr. and
Mrs. Lincoln,”’ welcomed guests in the tradition of
the farewell party held at the house on February 6,
1861.

* % k Xk *

Seventy-eight people attended the annual dinner
of the District of Columbia Lincoln Group. Guest
speaker was Mark E. Neely, Jr., on “Lincoln and
the Constitution.” L. Bruce Laingen, the Iranian
hostage ranking diplomat, offered the invocation
and remarks and Paul Cormeilson, a Gettysburg
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College music student, sang Civil War songs. ‘““Mr.
Lincoln’s Washington,” a display of 6 panels with
26 photographs, was set up by Edward Steers, Jr.,
and Joan Chaconas, and a program about the ex-
hibit was distributed. Since July, 1982, the Group
has secured 38 new members for a total of 87 as of
February; some 37 others subscribe to the Group’s
publication, The Lincolnian.

* & * % X

The 14th Annual Lincoln Pilgrimage sponsored
by the Lincoln Trails Council of the Boy Scouts of
America in Decatur, Illinois, (Donald L. Dicker-
son, District Executive) was held on February 12.
Over 800 boys and leaders from 58 Scouting units
(28 packs, 29 troops, 1 explorer post) marched
from the Macon County Court House and heard
short Lincoln presentations by Mayor Elmer
Walton , Judge John L. Davis, Eric C. Brechnitz,
and State Senator Jim Rupp at each of the Lincoln
statues along the route. Lester Davis portrayed
Lincoln and State Representative John Dunn was
chairman. All participants in the 1 1/2 mile walk
received a pilgrimage certificate and patch featur-
ing ““The President™ statue by sculptor A.L. Van
den Berger and enjoyed hot chocolate and coffee at
the Old Courthouse in Fairview Park.

* k ok %k %

Lincoln’s Beardstown Almanac Case was one of
his most famous trials. The late Norman Rockwell
created a dramatic portrait, ‘‘Lincoln the Lawyer,”’
based on the event. Now River Shore, Ltd. (Box
338, Caledonia, Michigan 49316), ‘‘creators of
museum quality limited editions,”” is offering a
limited edition (1000 copies) of the portrait in
porcelain. It is 6 by 12 inches, 11 by 17 framed.
Issue price is $175 U.S. and $250 Canada. How-
ever, C. Richard Spiegal, River Shore president, is
granting 50% off the suggested retail price to those
identifying themselves as readers of the Lincoin
Herald, this is a favor to R. Gerald McMurtry, ad-
visor to his company and former editor of our
magazine. However, a $10 charge for shipping/in-
surance must also accompany orders. A free
brochure showing the work is available.

* %k % ¥ %
P. Don Kemp, Jr., prominent member of the

New York Lincoln Group, has mysteriously disap-
peared while driving to Jackson, Wyoming, to



write a book on Abraham Lincoln. His abandoned
vehicle with its motor running and stereo playing
was found November 16, 1982, by a patrol officer
on Interstate 80, 40 miles west of Laramie. All of
Kemp’s possessions were in the vehicle, and there
were no signs of foul play, robbery, or other
reasons for his disappearance. However, a shirt
and pair of socks belonging to him were later
discovered in a rancher’s haystack some ten miles
away. Although searches have been conducted, no
further clues have been found. Members of the
New York Lincoln Group have contributed funds
to help with expenses incurred by Mary Kemp,
Don’s mother, in her personal search for her miss-
ing son.
* %k % ¥ *

Actor/playwright Gary Bullock penned his one-
act, one-man play, A. Lincolin, in 1979. Following
numerous successful performances, he incor-
porated additional material, making it a two-act
production. ‘I feel [it] is now a better show than
the original by far,”” he writes. The drama, directed
by Mil Nicholson, is now handled by Universal
Speakers Agency, 235 Bear Hill Road, Waltham,
Massachusetts 02215 (617-536-1235), aiming
primarily at the college market. Currently Mr.
Bullock is preparing the outline of a new play
centered around the Lincoln marriage to be per-
formed by Ms. Nicholson and himself.

* % ¥ ¥ ¥

Affectionately, A. Lincoln by Jerome Alden is
yet another one-man Lincoln drama, this new one
scheduled to premier September 23 at Sangamon
State University in Springfield. It will star
singer/actor Ed Ames of the Ames Brothers fame;
he has been a Lincoln student for some years.
Organizations interested in presenting the play in
their areas may secure details regarding available
dates, fees, and production requirements by writing
Columbia Artists Theatricals Corporation at 165
West 57th Street, New York, New York 10019 or
by telephoning Ken Olsen collect in New York City
at (212) 841-9640.

* % % %k ¥

Wayne C. Temple, Illinois State Archives
Deputy Director, had a busy February 17 in
Jacksonville, Illinois. That morning he was a guest
on WLDS’s Ron Tendick Show, talking about
Lincoln and answering listeners’ questions. That
evening he gave the Convocation Lecture at Illinois
College, speaking on “Builders and Remodelers of
Lincoln’s Home.'’ Later that night he visited the
Phi Alpha fraternity house. Both Lincoln and
Douglas had been members, and Dr. Temple was
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elected to membership in 1982. While there he
autographed his latest book, Stephen A. Douglas:
Freemason, for the fraternity’s house library. In
the November, 1982, issue of The Northern Light,
a publication of the Scottish Rite of Freemasonry,
an excerpt from that book appeared under the title
“A Monument for Stephen Douglas” and the
book itself was reviewed at length by Alphonse
Cerza. The magazine’s cover carried a beautiful
color reproduction of a portrait of Douglas as
Grand Orator of the Grand Lodge of lllinois in
1840 painted by Lloyd Ostendorf for the Stephen
A. Douglas DeMolay Chapter at Springfield’s
Masonic Temple.
* % % ¥ %

The 49th Annual National American Legion
Pilgrimage to Lincoln’s Tomb sponsored by Post
32 was held February 12. Following breakfast at
the Hilton, a caravan of buses and cars carried
guests to ceremonies which included wreath laying,
music from the Lincoln Land Community College
Choir, and a speech by National Commander Al
Keller. A Lincoln Commemorative Luncheon
followed with further remarks by Keller.

* % ok ok %

Mark E. Neely, Jr., is the 1983 winner of the
New York Civil War Round Table’s Barondess/
Lincoln Award presented at the group’s February 9
meeting. In announcing its selection, the award
committee, composed of George M. Craig, Betty
Zinn, and R.C. Brown, pointed to the need for
such a reference work in the Lincoln field as Dr.
Neely has compiled—7The Abraham Lincoln En-
cyclopedia.

* % % k% %

The Prairieland Stamp Store in Springfield’s
Cork Street Post Office was dedicated February 12.
Wayne C. Temple cut the ribbon and spoke on
Lincoln as a Postmaster. To commemorate the oc-
casion, the Postal Service issued a cacheted
envelope bearing a picture of Lincoln’s Home and
carrying a special Prairieland Stamp Store post-
mark. First covers were presented to Dr. Temple
and Lloyd Ostendorf.

* % & % %

During February Thomas J. Dyba exhibited
Lincoln materials in Illinois Benedictine College’s
library. It featured a photographic presentation
showing how the Lincoln Home Site has changed
during the ten years it has been under National
Park Service supervision. The exhibit also contain-
ed the life of Lincoln as depicted in art produced on
first day covers and cachets.

* % * ¥ %



“(Nlothing Abraham Lincoln ever did in his life
quite so inspired—or profited—America’s artists as
did his death,’’ writes Harold Holzer in his illus-
trated article, *‘Portraits of a Martyr: Lincoln in
Death, Bigger Than Life”’ (The Antique Trader,
February 9). It covers badges and sketches;
murder, deathbed and funeral scenes; martyr por-
traits; and apotheosis scenes. Holzer’s “Lincoln
Mailbag’’ appears in the same issue.

* % % x %

A new President’s Day medal designed by Frank
Gasparro, former United States Mint chief
sculptor-engraver, depicting Washington and
Lincoln on one side with the monument and
memorial on the other is available from Design
Pak, Inc., 175 Maple Street, Marlboro, Massachu-
setts 01752, The coins in gold ($1250), gold vermeil
($50), and silver ($35) show the men in three-
quarter profile with Lincoln to the left.

* % & X %

A program on whether Lincoln suffered from
the Marfan syndrome featuring historian Gabor
Boritt and physician Adam Boritt was held at last
year’s meeting of the Organization of American
Historians in Philadelphia. Present in the audience
was Dr. Harold Schwartz to hear the Boritts argue
against the theory he has advocated for many
years; all “‘participated in a most lively fashion.”

* k% % ¥ *

Elijah Hanks, a cousin of Nancy Hanks Lincoln,
was pastor of Knob Creek Baptist Church, Maury
County, Tennessee, in the late 1820’s. After his
death in 1871, a brief biography of this respected
religious leader was published. Robert Holloway
(383 Tamarack Drive, Henderson, Nevada 89015),
a descendant of Reverend Hanks’ sister, has for
sale ($8.00) xerox copies of a typewritten version of
the biography.

* % % % %

“They all came to ruination,’’ says Tom Payton,
Ford’s Theatre assistant manager, of the April 14,
1865, Box No. 8 occupants in Barbara Rehm’s
““The Lincoln Legend Thrives’® (New York Daily
News, February 6). ‘“[Lincoln’s] wife. . .went in-
sane and died in an asylum.” Either Payton’s
knowledge of Mary’s life is deficient or he has been
seriously misquoted. The article focuses on Ford’s
Theatre, Petersen House, and Lincoln Memorial.

* K % % X

The February, 1983, issue of llinois History: A
Magazine for Young People is devoted entirely to
Abraham Lincoln again. This thirty-page illus-
trated periodical supervised by Kay MacLean
contains eleven articles by Illinois junior and senior
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high school students and one by Mark E. Neely,
Ir., “Why I Write About Abraham Lincoln.”
Copies are $.25 from the magazine at Old State
Capitol, Springfield, Illinois 62706.

* % ¥ X %

Masaham Mochizuki has given his Tokyo
Lincoln Center collection to Meisei University. To
celebrate its opening, the school has issued two
catalogues in both Japanese and English entitled
Abraham Lincoln Collection and A Collection of
Abraham Lincoln Pamphlets on American Civil
War. The story of this collection has been told in
the past columns and reviews in the Lincoln
Herald.

& %k ok K ok

Slide Factor (75 Gardner Street, West Roxbury,
Massachusetts 02132) has issued a folder with four
brown-tone Lincoln photographs as an advertise-
ment for its service—putting together ‘‘anything
from a window display to a lobby exhibit, from a
short set of slides to a full-blown multi-media
show” to help commemorate Lincoln’s 175th
birthday. It is run by the Gutmans, authors of John
Wilkes Booth Himself.

* %k 3 %k X

The Seventh Annual Schwengel Lincoln Contest
sponsored by the Lincoln Foundation of Northeast
Missouri State University at Kirksville was held this
spring. Elementary, secondary, and college stu-
dents competed in three categories—art, oratory,
and essay writing related to Lincoln. Fred
Schwengel, United States Capitol Historical
Society president, gave awards to the winners on
April 16.

* ok ok ok %k

Lloyd Ostendorf contributed *‘Was This Photo
of Lincoln Taken in Daytona? Maybe Yes Maybe
No’’ to the Dayton Daily News’s The Magazine of
February 6. This article about photographer
Thomas Walker Cridland and artist Charles W.
Nickum marks the thirtieth consecutive year the
Lincoln Herald art editor has had a Lincoln feature
in the Sunday magazines of the newspaper.

X ¥ k * X

One of the most beautiful Lincoln articles to ap-
pear in a long time is Harold Holzer’s “‘If I Had
Another Face, Do You Think I’d Wear This One’’
in the February/March, 1983, American Heritage.
It contains seven pages of likenesses in color and
black and white of Lincoln as candidate, nominee,
and President. ‘‘Lincoln was the first campaigner
and President to be aware of the potential of mass
communications,”” Holzer observes. ‘“With a



technological revolution taking place in the graphic
arts. . .Lincoln first came to realize that por-
traiture could help him win elections.’” And he also
understood it could help him maintain support
once in office. Therefore, Holzer finds that the
“variety and volume of Lincoln art helped
transform him from a relatively unknown prairie
lawyer into the most familiar face of his or suc-

ceeding generations.”
* %k Kk ¥ X

The second annual National Forum on Lincoln
and the Union sponsored by Jerry Russell’s Civil
War Round Table Associates was held in Spring-
field, Illinois, April 14-16, 1983. Speakers and their
topics specifically relating to Lincoln were Wayne
C. Temple on “Captain A. Lincoln in the Militia>
and “‘Builders and Remodelers of Lincoln’s
Home,” Thomas L. Vince on ‘““Lincoln and John
Brown,” and Robert Meinhard on “‘Lincoln: Was
He the Great Emancipator?’’ Mark E. Neely, Jr.,
addressed two banquet sessions, and the Lincoln
Home Staff offered two programs, ‘“The Real
Lincoln? Dramatized Interview with Mr. Lincoln’s
Law Partner and Biographer, William Herndon’’
and ‘‘Finding Mrs. Lincoln: Dramatized Interview
with Mary Lincoln’s Older Sister, Elizabeth Todd
Edwards.” Other speakers included Carrol Hall
(“The Four Lives of Camp Butler”’), Richard
Schachtsick (**Winslow Homer: His Paintings on
the Civil War”’), John Y. Simon (““The Paradox of
U.S. Grant”), Everett E. Quanstrom (‘““The
General Who Prolonged the Civil War’’), Richard
Lemal (*“The Springfield Rifle’’), Herman
Hattaway (‘“How the North Won’’), and John
Satterlee (““The Journal and the 114th Illinois’’).
Those attenaing also toured local historical
sites—the Old State Capitol, Lincoln Home,
Lincoln Tomb, Lincoln Law Offices, and New
Salem State Park.

* % %k B X

The Coles County Historical Society held an
Abraham Lincoln Symposium April 16 at Eastern
Illinois University in Charleston. Speakers included
Lloyd Ostendorf on ‘Historical Authenticity for
Paintings About Abraham Lincoln,’”” Robert Ster-
ling on “Union Army Desertions and Pardons in
the Civil War,’’ and Basil Moore on *‘The Wit and
Humor of Abraham Lincoln.”’ Ralph Y. McGinnis
served as General Chairman. The registration fee
included admission to the symposium and a packet
containing the printed addresses from the sessions
and an Ostendorf Lincoln sketch print.

* ¥ % ¥k %

The first Gettysburg Civil War Institute was held
June 26-July 2 at Gettysburg College. Directed by
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Gabor S. Boritt, the Institute’s central themes were
the Civil War, the Gettysburg Battle, and Abraham
Lincoln approached from a variety of perspec-
tives—history, literature, film, art, music, tours,
etc. The nationally known faculty included William
C. Davis (“The Civii War—The Long View”),
Robert L. Bloom (““The Gettysburg Campaign:
Then and Now’’), William A. Frassanito (‘‘Gettys-
burg A Journal in Time’’), Mark E. Neely, Ir.
(‘‘Abraham Lincoln; The Looming Presence’’),
John K. Lattimer (“‘The President Who Died in
1865’’), Harold Holzer (“Lincoln and the
Artists’”), Steven Sylvia and Mike O’Donnell
(*‘Collecting Civil War Relics”’), and Adam Boritt
and Gabor Boritt (“‘The President Who Was to Die
in 1866: Lincoln and the Marfan Syndrome’’).
Also included were viewings of The Horse Soldiers
starring John Wayne and The Red Badge of
Courage with Audie Murphy and visits to the Elec-
tric Map/Cyclorama, a Civil War encampment/
reenactment, and the Gettysburg National
Cemetery. The program concluded with a picnic by
the pond featuring Civil War music performed by
the West Orrtanna String Band.
* Kk % % ok

Constance Head attended the January 9, 1983,
performance of John Wilkes Booth by Chris
Dickerson featuring William L. Sanders mentioned
in our last column. “The research is impeccable,””
she reports to John Brennan; ‘‘the presentation is
extremely fair; and best of all, JWB comes across
as so human and understandable.” She found “‘no
real nastiness toward Lincoln’ in the character-
ization, but he is “‘not idolized either.’’ Dr. Head
had an opportunity to speak with Dickerson and
Sanders after the performance and learned that the
actor had grown up about five miles from Tudor
Hall although has not visited it yet. He has always
been interested in Booth, and ‘‘very definitely
LIKES him.” However, both playwright and actor
were “‘stunned” to learn from Dr. Head about
Clinton Case’s one-man Booth play activities.

® k & % X

Clinton Case has been made aware of William
Sanders’ one-man Booth play. “The info is mildly
distressing .. .,”” he told John Brennan,
‘“‘although I’ve always had a feeling I couldn’t have
been the only one doing a one-man on Booth.”
Recently he has been performing his show for west
coast high schools and colleges. And he has drop-
ped Sanders a note wishing him well with his pro-
duction .

* % %X ¥ X

A kit of medical instruments used for the autop-
sy on Lincoln’s body went on permanent display



last February at the Smithsonian Institute’s Na-
tional Museum of American History. It was given
by the King’s County [N.Y.] Medical Society which
had owned it since 1935. “The gift will fill a gap in
what is already a pretty complete exhibit on
Lincoln’s life and death,” a Smithsonian official
observed.
* % % % %

Lincoln was acutely aware of the importance of
his photographs, Harold Holzer is quoted as ob-
serving in an interview by Paul Kirby appearing in
the February 11 Rye [N.Y.] Daily Item. According
to Holzer, the Sixteenth President actually ex-
ploited developing technology to enhance his image
in the public eye, taking full advantage of new
photographic inventions and techniques.

* % ¥ % %

‘“Abraham Lincoln on Race, Slavery, and
Emancipation’” was a program held at the
Southern Historical Association’s annual meeting
in Memphis last November. David L. Lightner
spoke on ““Lincoln in the 1850’s: Egalitarian Ideals
and Political Realities’” and Richard O. Curry on
““President Lincoln and Slavery: The Problem of
Rhetoric v. Reality.”” Ludwell Johnson and Mark
Neely offered comments.

* Xk % % %

On May 8, 1862, a number of individuals
witnessed two personal precedents for President
Lincoln—it was his first exposure to enemy fire and
his first opportunity to directly exercise his powers
as commander-in-chief. These are recalled in
Robert H. Joynt’s February, 1983, Civil War
Times Hllustrated article, *“‘Commander Lincoln at
Norfolk: The President Captures a Confederate
Post.”

* % k %k Xk

Anne Arundel County Community College at
Annapolis, Maryland, offered last March a two
session course, ‘‘The Assassination of Abraham
Lincoin.” Its first three-hour class covered the
plot, conspirators, murder, and aftermath; the
second all day meeting consisted of an excursion to
Washington, D.C., and southern Maryland to visit
historical sites associated with the assassination
story.

* ¥ % %k Xk

Frank J. Williams, president of the Boston
Lincoln Group, spoke on ‘‘Abraham Lincoln: The
Making of a Constitutional Lawyer’’ at the
February 9 meeting of the New York CWRT. The
group’s February issue of The Dispatch contains
“The Assassins of a President’” by Benn Pitman
from a newspaper of about 1899, *‘Entries Review-

ed by the Barondess/Lincoln Award Committee,’’
‘“The Barondess/Lincoln Award,”’ and ““Directory
of Lincoln Groups.”’

% %k ¥k Xk %

On Lincoln’s birthday, 1982, 1000 people in St.
Albans, Vermont, shaped over 200 truckloads of
snow into Abraham, the world’s tallest snowman.
It was 148 feet in base circumference and 47 feet 10
inches tall with a stove pipe hat measuring 10 feet
high. This giant snow Abe will appear in the 1984
Guinness record book and is pictured in the
February, 1983, issue of Yankee.

* % %k * %

“If you collect Lincoln postcards, you have
chosen a specialty that you can never finish,”
writes Roy Nuhn in “Historical and Beautiful: Lin-
coln Postcards®’ (The Antique Trader, February 9,
1983). “It will consume you for a lifetime.” With
7000 to 8000 in existence issued by 1000 companies,
he may well be correct. Along with Uncle Sam and
George Washington, Lincoln’s image dominated
patriotic postcard publishing for many years.

* k % ¥ %

The State Department is thinking of leasing a
40-room Georgetown mansion as the temporary
residence for visiting foreign dignitaries while Blair
House is undergoing extensive renovation. The
house located at 3014 N Street N.W. now owned by
real estate broker Vicki Bagley was built in 1799
and purchased by Robert Todd Lincoln (in 1918)
who lived there until his death in 1926.

* % ¥ %k ¥

Copies of Thomas J. Dyba’s new booklet,
Seventeen Years at Eighth and Jackson, are still
available. Two hundred of the autographed,
registered first edition are $10.00 each and remain-
ing regular copies are $5.00 mailed. Proceeds go to
the Lincoln Humanities Scholarship Fund at
Illinois Benedictine College. Write Mr. Dyba at the
school, 5700 College Road, Lisle, Illinois 60532.

* k %k k ¥

And speaking of Mr. Dyba, an article (“‘A
Lincoln Collector’s Labor of Love’” by M.W.
Newman) containing beautiful color photographs
of his 1:12 Lincoln home model and collection ap-
pears in the March/April issue of The Franklin
Mint Almanac. The model will be unveiled to the
public in 1984. Dyba's next project is to be a model
of the original 1 1/2 story Lincoln house before its
expansion .

x ok Xk ok %k

Over the past half century, Earl C. Kubicek, Ex-
ecutive Director of the New Mexico Historical
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Society, has accumulated a personal Lincoln-Civil
War library of over 1300 publications which he is
currently interested in selling. A bibliography for
inspection will be made available to interested in-
dividuals and institutions. Write him at 1918 Fort
Union Drive, Santa Fe, New Mexico 87501.

x k% ¥ % %

Lincoln publications have been flowing from
Massachusetts’ Bridgewater State College recently.
These include Books About Mary Todd Lincoln: A
Contribution to a Bibliography by George A. Fiore
and Jean F. Stonehouse, Bridgewater Review’s first
volume containing ‘‘Myth and the Lincoln Assassi-
nation: Did John Wilkes Booth Escape?’’ by
Thomas R. Turner, and Abraham Lincoin Collec-
tion supplement.

* % ¥ * »

Additional articles to report: DEANE and
PEGGY ROBERTSON-“The Plot to Steal
Lincoln’s Body;; (4merican Heritage, April/May,
1982). . .PERCY E. MARTIN-**Samuel Bland
Arnold Revisited’” and JOHN C.
BRENNAN-*‘Excerpts from Lt. Col. Rath’s Ac-
count of the Execution’’ (Surratt Society News,
January, 1983). . .GABOR S. BORITT-Civil War
section (World Book Encyclopedia, forthcoming
edition). . .GUY W. MOORE-“‘Questions and
Answers’® (Surratt Society News, February,
1983). . . R.R. MORRISON-““Continued Visita-
tion of Homes in Springfield, Illinois that Lincoln
Would Recognize Today;”” THOMAS J. DYBA-
““An Expanded Chronology of the Lincoln Home,
Settling Into a Routine;”” and ARTHUR C.
HANSON-“The Rall Family and Abraham Lin-
coln’’ (The Lincoln Chronicle, February 86,
1983). . .GEORGE KACKLEY-“The Tie That
Binds’’ [Lincoln and Stanton) (The Lincolnian,
March/April, 1983). . .JOHN C. BRENNAN-
““The Three Versions of the Testimony in the 1865
Conspiracy Trial’’ (Surratt Society News, March,
1983). . .

L B B

Additional speeches to report: JOHN A.
LLOYD-“Mr. Lincoln Defines America’’ (Lincoln
Club of Delaware, February, 1982). . .WAYNE C.
TEMPLE-“New Research on A. Lincoln”
(American Legion Post 32, February 4,
1983). . .THOMAS J. DYBA-“Abraham Lincoln,
Homeowner and Neighbor’® (West Suburban
Council of Teachers, February 9; Wheaton Lions
Club, March 8; Naperville Rotary International,
March 10; Children of the American Revolution,
March 26; and Cantiguy War Memorial and
Museum, May 4, 1983). . .JOHN HOPE
FRANKLIN-*“Lincoln’s Evolving View of

Freedom” (Lincoln Club of Delaware, February
10, 1983). . .BASIL MOORE-*‘Entertaining and
Inspirational Stories By and About Will Rogers
and Abraham Lincoln’’ (Sangamon Education
Conference, February 25; Coles County Historical
Society, February 27; and Rotary International
District No. 651 Conference, May 13, 1983). . .
JOSEPH GEORGE, JR.-*“The Days Are Yet
Dark’: Louis J. Weichmann’s Later Years” (D.C.
Lincoln Group, March 15, 1983), . .JOHN Y.
SIMON-“The Grant-Lincoln Relationship® (Lin-
coln Fellowship of Wisconsin, April 17,
1983). . .HERMAN J. VIOLA-*Lincoln and the
Indians’> (D.C. Lincoln Group, April 20,
1983). . .GRANT ROMER-‘Methods Used to
Determine If Certain Daguerreotypes Show Lin-
coln’’ and RICHARD GUTMAN-“The Assassin’s
Act” (New York Lincoln Group, April 27, 1983).

* ¥ %X * %

Additional books to report: RICHARD D.
MUDD-Dr. Samuel A. Mudd and Descendants,
fifth edition (Richard D. Mudd, 1001 Hoyt
Avenue, Saginaw, Michigan 48607). . .HARRY V.
JAFFA-Crises of the House Divided: An Inter-
pretation of the Issues in the Lincoln-Douglas
Debates, reprint (University of Chicago Press, 5801
Ellis Avenue, Chicago, Illinois 60637. . .TAYLOR
JONES Add-Verse to Presidents, Lincoln section
(Red Dembner Enterprises Corporation, 1841
Broadway, New York, New York 10023)...
VIRGINIA BRADLEY-Holidays on Stage: A
Festival of Special Occasion Plays, Lincoln play
(Dodd, Mead and Company, 79 Madison Avenue,
New York, New York 10016). . . ANDY VAN
METER-A/ways My Friend: A History of the State
Journal-Register in Springfield, Lincoln sections
(State Journal-Register, P.O. Box 219, Springfield,
Illinois 62705). . .ROBERT PHILIPPE -Political
Graphics: Art as a Weapon, Lincoln references
(Abbeville Press, 505 Park Avenue, New York,
New York 10022), . . VAUGHAN SHELTON-
The View From Eternity: Biography of a Clair-
voyant, Ruth Shelton’s clairvoyant revelations on
the Lincoln assassination (Forbes Nichols, P.O.
Box 996, Pocatello, Idaho 83204). . .ROY MERE-
DITH -Mathew Brady's Portrait of an Era, 150
portraits (W.W. Norton and Company, Inc., 500
Fifth Avenue, New York, New York 10110). . .

* ¥ X k %

Forthcoming publications to report: MARK E.
NEELY, JR., and R. GERALD McMURTRY’s
““Furnace of Affliction’’: Mary Todd Lincoln
Declared Insane will be published later this year or
early next by the University of Tennessee Press. . .
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HAROLD HOLZER and LLOYD OSTEN-
DORF’s By the People, For the People: Lincoln
and the Printmakers’ Art is scheduled for publica-
tion in 1984. . .EDWARD SULLIVAN (Universi-
ty of Hartford, Hartford, Connecticut) is prepar-
ing a book relating to Lincoln campaign badges. . .
HELEN B. CROCKER (Western Kentucky
University, Bowling Green, Kentucky) is working
on a study of the Lincoln cult in the 1920's. . .
DANIEL E. PEARSON (P.O. Box 58, Beaver
Dam, Wisconsin 53916) is preparing a new pam-
phlet on the Lincoln home. . .JOHN C. BREN-
NAN has contributed ‘“John Wilkes Booth’s
Enigmatic Brother Joseph” to the Maryland
Historical Magazine (University of Maryland,
Catonsville, Maryland 21228). . . ARNOLD
GATES' The Rough Side of War, the edited
Mosman Civil War journal, is seeking a publisher
among university presses. . .ROBERT W,
JOHANNSEN (University of Illinois, Urbana-
Champaign, lllinois) is expanding a 1978 paper into
a full-length book on the life-long association of
Carl Sandburg with Abraham Lincoln. ..
LAURIE VERGE’s proposed booklet on the Sur-
ratt House has been ‘“‘put on the back burner”
pending completion of the kitchen restoration, ac-
quisition of additional funds, and additional time
to edit the completed research.. .JAMES O.
HALL estimates that his book, Murder at Ford’s
Theatre, should be published within the next
eighteen months. . .
% % k &k ok

Names in the Lincoln news: JOHN C. BREN-
NAN and five guests were allowed to visit Fort
McNair’s Quarters 20-5, the site of the Lincoln
Conspiracy Trial. . . GETTYSBURG HOTEL, the
183 year old structure in Lincoln Square, Gettys-
burg, Pennsylvania, was destroyed by fire on
February 10, 1983. . .GEORGE L. CASHMAN,
former Lincoln Tomb curator, died in Springfield,
Illinois, on March 27 at age 85 and was buried at
Oak Ridge Cemetery. . .CITIZENS STAMP AD-
VISORY COMMITTEE is considering issuing a
Lincoln commemorative stamp for the 175th an-
niversary of Lincoln’s birth.. .FRANK J.
WILLIAMS has been added to the New York

CWRT’s Barondess/Lincoln Award Committee
Advisory Board. . .RALPH Y. McGINNIS (1910
University Drive, Charleston, Illinois 61920),
author of Quotations from Abraham Lincoln, is
available to lecture on various Lincoln subjects. . .
CHUCK LEVITAN displayed his giant portraits of
Lincoln during February at the New York Universi-
ty Graduate School of Business Administration. . .
ABRAHAM LINCOLN BOOK SHOP (18 East
Chestnut Street, Chicago, Illinois 60611) has issued
Catalog 105 containing sections on Lincoln and
Civil War publications. . .NATIONAL PARK
SERVICE opened a new book shop in the Lincoln
Home Visitors Center at Springfield in April. . .
JOHN K. LATTIMER took his Lincoln assassina-
tion collection to Washington on April 15 for the
benefit of the D.C. Lincoln Group, Surratt
Society, and Mudd Society members. . .FATHER
KEESLER has secured a CDV of the assassination
poster photo of a man now identified as Isaac Sur-
ratt with a pencil signature on the back that looks
like John Surratt. . .BOOTH ESCAPE ROUTE
TOURS were held April 16 (Surratt Society nar-
rated by James Hall), April 30 (Lord Baltimore
Middle School of Clinton narrated by Joan
Chaconas), and May 14 (D.C. Lincoln Group nar-
rated by Edward Steers). . . ART LOUX has
located the graves of Harry C. and Blanche Ford in
Clifton, New Jersey. . .

* % % % K

The Holland-Zeeland Civil War Round Table
met Tuesday, March 15 at 7:30 in the New Gron-
ingen School, located at 10542 Chicago Drive near
Zeeland.

Edgar G. Archer, Director and Chief Conser-
vator of the Abraham Lincoln Museum, Lincoln
Memorial University at Harrogate, Tennessee was
the speaker, his topic was “‘Surgery and Medicine
in the Civil War.”

Ed Archer is highly trained in the sciences involv-
ed with restoration and preservation of historical
and archaeological objects and is working on a
doctorate in Forensic Medicine. He is the great
grandson of Brigadier General James J. Archer,
Confederate States Army.
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BOOK/RECORD REVIEW

ATTACK AND DIE
CIVIL WAR MILITARY TACTICS AND
THE SOUTHERN HERITAGE
By Grady McWhiney & Perry D. Jamieson

Book, cloth, 6% x 9%, 209 pp, University of
Alabama, Tuscaloosa, Alabama, 1982. Price $17.95.

Innumerable books have been written on why the
South lost the Civil War, but this latest one takes a new
and unusual tack. McWhiney and Jamieson attempt to
explain how Civil War tactics were well behind weapons
development and how Southerners’ geneology made them
more predisposed to using outdated tactics than their
Northern counterparts. Therefore, they were susceptable
to the wasteful bloodbaths which eventually proved fatal
to the Confederacy. While the authors succeed in the first
part of their endeavor, they do not in the second.

This work covers the subject of tactics before and dur-
ing the war quite thoroughly. Theories and recommenda-
tions of Antoine Henri Jomini, Dennis Hunt Mahan,
William Hardee, Winfield Scott, John Gibbon, and
others are examined meticulously as to their effect upon
the way the war was fought. Weapons development
undergoes equal scrutiny. The authors painstakingly
point out that changes in weapons shortly before the war,
particularly the advent of rifled ones, gave the individual
soldier a much greater capacity for killing. The failure,
and in many cases refusal, of officers and commanders to
compensate for this increased capability by altering of-
fensive tactics offered an overwhelming advantage to the
soldier and army on the defensive.

This is nothing new to students of the Civil War. The
rapid development of weapons coupled with antiquated
codes of honor and chivalry has long been one of the
most interesting and appealing aspects of the war. Despite
its failure to break new ground with respect to the con-
sideration of tactics, the compendious nature of the
volume would seem to make it ideally suited for a text-
book in Civil War or military history courses. The main
thesis of the book, however, is seriously flawed in its con-
ception and, therefore, precludes any consideration for
using this work in the classroom .

The authors contend that Southerners, being primarily
of Celtic lineage, were more prone to using tactics that
were brave, glorious, and manly, but foolish in view of
the weapons employed by defenders. They were partial to
the charge, be it bayonet or saber, as a means of carrying
the enemy’s position . McWhiney and Jamieson’s reason
for asserting this is that the ancient Celts themselves
favored these very same traits of bravery and manliness,
using tactics that would exhibit them. Southerners being
descendants of these glory-seeking warriors inherited
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these traits. But what the authors fail to recognize is that
the Teutonic and Anglo-Saxon ancestors of the North-
erners admired the same traits and sought to glorify
themselves by using them, too. No one familiar with the
battles of Brunanburh (937) and Maldon (991) would ac-
cuse the Anglo-Saxons of not favoring ‘‘emotional,
foolhardy and romantic” tactics. To contend that
Southerners inherited these traits from their forerunners
while Northerners did not is rather arbitrary.

On more technical points, the reading is tedious at
times. The text is composed to an excessive degree of
quotations and examples intended to bear out the
authors’ contentions. The first chapter is composed
almost exclusively of innumerable statistical tables re-
flecting the comparative losses of both armies, many of
which seem not only ambiguous but superfluous. The
fact that the authors repeat themselves throughout the
book with maddening frequency coupled with not infre-
quent grammatical errors implies that they were in need
of a good editor. The book is not without its attributes,
but ineffective presentation and an ill-conceived thesis
leaves it seriously flawed.

William J. Miller
University of Delaware

ABE LINCOLN LAUGHING
By P.M. Zali

Book, cloth, 6 1/4°" x 9 3716, 193 pp., University of
California Press, 2223 Fulton Street, Berkeley, Califor-
nia, 1982. Price $15.95.

First there was Old Abe’s Joker (1864), later McClure’s
“Abe” Lincoln’s Yarns and Stories (1901), and more
recently Jennison’s The Humorous Mr. Lincoin (1965).
Over the vears many volumes have been devoted to
Lincoln’s appreciation for and frequent use of humor.
Now P.M. Zall, Professor of English and American
Studies at California State University has assembled a
new book on the subject—Abe Lincoin Laughing.

As the late Ray Allen Billington points out in his
Foreord, “this is no uncritical, helter-skelter assembling
of Lincoln yarns.” While it is rich in humor, it is also a
work of scholarship. Its basic purpose is ‘‘to separate the
authentic from the apocryphal Lincoln stories.” And his
anecdotes both ‘‘mirror the times in which Lincoln lived”’
and ‘‘shed light on Lincoln as a warm, compassionate,
witty, and earthy human being.”

Professor Zall, who is no newcomer to the humor field
with such books as Comical Spirit of Seventy-Six: The
Humor of Francis Hopkinson (1976) and Ben Franklin



Laughing (1980), indicates that his work is not an ex-
haustive one. Rather it represents only those stories hav-
ing a semblance of authenticity, each given in its earliest
form available with notes indicating earlier sources that
Lincoln could have known.

‘“‘While not intended to be a ‘final authority,’ >’ writes
Zall, “the present edition is designed to resolve some of
the confusion by providing reliable tests along with alter-
native choices from credible witnesses.”” Lincoln was
more of a ‘“‘performer’’ than a ‘“‘creator;’’ about sixty
percent of the stories assigned to him can be linked to
earlier printed sources—books, newspapers, and
periodicals.

Abe Lincoln Laughing, which includes sections on
‘“‘Sources: Main Entries,”” ‘‘Resources: Notes,”” ““Topical
Index,’”’ and ‘‘Subject Index,’’ offers readers 325 anec-
dotes by and about Abraham Lincoln in a well-designed
format, except perhaps for the rather small, light-colored
type style for this size of volume. Nevertheless, it should
appeal to serious students of Lincoln and of humor as
well as to those who would just enjoy laughing with
Lincoln.

Professor Zall has performed a useful service for
Lincoln scholarship in his attempt to document what
Lincoln really said and did not say. But as he somewhat
sadly points out, no one living can truly recreate the way
Lincoln told his stories—the tone of voice, the timing of
the tale, the facial expressions and hand gestures. *‘[W]e
are at the mercy of cold print,”’ he laments. But that is
better than nothing.

Gary R. Planck

ABE LINCOLN: THE YOUNG YEARS
By Keith Brandt

Book, cloth/paper, 7 5/8°° x 9 3 /16”°, 48 pp., Troll
Associates, Mahwah, New Jersey, 1982, Price $5.89 rein-
Jforced library edition, $1.95 paperback edition.

“The poor backwoods boy grew up loving people, the
land, and the law,” writes Keith Brandt in his new book,
Abe Lincoln: The Young Years, aimed at readers in
grades four through six. Dealing only with the Kentucky
and Indiana years, this volume depicts Lincoln as an
unusual frontier child—one who found books, people,
and the law more interesting than farming. Although the
publisher claims that “‘young readers discover how these
interests led to [Lincoln] becoming the 16th president,”’
this reviewer is not so certain the connections will be
made from the text as written.

Nevertheless, the author does no damage to historical
fact. His prose is clear and concise. And it is illustrated
with numerous drawings by John Lawn. There is an ex-
tremely eye-catching one in color on the book’s front
cover of a bare-footed Lincoln reading. Those inside are
all in black and white and not nearly as satisfying. Most
of the faces are too pretty or idealized to give the impres-
sion of frontier reality a century ago. Although
youngsters may enjoy these pictures, Mr. Lawn is no
threat to outstanding Lincoln illustrators such as Lloyd
Ostendorf.

Gary R. Planck
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NEW HAMPSHIRE FIGHTS THE
CIVIL WAR

By Mather Cleveland, M.D.
Book, 7172 x 12", cloth, 230 pp , New London, New
Hampshire, 1969. $20.00.

Dr. Cleveland has created with his book New Hamp-
shire Fights the Civil War a unique regimental that will
appeal to both the regional historian and the general Civil
War buff. It is a summation of brief outline histories of
each of the eighteen infantry regiments and four support
units raised by the state during the war, thumbnail
biographical sketches of some of the native New Hamp-
shiremen who led them, and, perhaps best of all, excerpts
from the letters and diaries of many of the common
soldiers who served in those units.

The book is put together in a manner which could
easily classify it as a reference work. The chapters are not
arranged in a historical chronological order following all
New Hampshire units’ contributions as the war progress-
ed from 1861 through 1865, but rather they treat each
regiment’s entire history separately. Each regiment’s
story is presented in order of its numerical designation
and by the theater of operations in which they served.
This arrangement causes a little confusion at first;
however, once the reader sees the arrangement for what it
is it becomes natural. The Special support units such as
the cavalry, artillery and sharpshooter companies are
covered in a separate section at the end of the book.

The book is filled with many interesting surprises. One
of the most shocking is the educational background of
not only the enlisted men but the officers as well, Dr.
Cleveland has reproduced their letters with the original
spelling and grammar unedited. These men, from a
region highly regarded for its emphasis on educational
and universal literacy, sound through their writings hard-
ly any different from those Civil War participants who
were reared in the rural South or along the Western fron-
tier. Another surprise is the statistical research that shows
that this small state contributed one of the highest percen-
tages of war related deaths among all the states sending
substantial numbers of troops to the Union armies.
About eighteen percent of the 28,000 men who served in
the Union Army, Navy and Marine Corps failed to sur-
vive the war. This figure includes three regiments who
served only for a short time and never saw any combat.
Three of the remaining regiments lost more men in battle
than they did to disease which over all was the leading
cause of death during the war.

One of the best features of the book is the twenty-six
pages of photographic plates at the end of the book, It in-
cludes portraits of many prominent New Hampshire of-
ficers as well as a fine representation of lesser known
figures and common soldiers. The eminent war
photographer Henry P. Moore produced an excellent and
historically valuable pictoral record of Union activities at
Hilton Head, South Carolina. This is the only book
known to this reviewer to contain his entire collection.

New Hampshire Fights The Civil War is expensive and
may be hard to find but it is worth it if your interest lies in
how the ordinary man from an ordinary New England
state fought the war and their personal reactions to it.

Robert 1. Newsome



BATTLE CRY OF FREEDOM
Military Music of Union Army Bands
Performed On Original Civil War Instruments

By Heritage Americana
Record, Heritage Americana, Inc., Washington, D.C., 2
sides, 12 Inch, 33 1/3 RPM-CP STEREO, $750.

Those who have been interested in the music of that
most tuneful of our military conflicts, the Civil War, are
aware of the immense outpouring of music-vocal and in-
strumental - that the war inspired and that was heard
everywhere, especially on the battlefields. Such musically
inclined people were also aware of the music that was
played, reproduced and recorded during the late 1950’s.
The very fine recordings made by the National Gallery
Orchestra under the direction of Richard Bales (““The
Union,” and “The Confederacy’’) come to mind; and
who, having heard *“The Lonesome Train®’ can forget the
mournful whistle of that train as it sped across mid-
America with its very special cargo, the mortal remains of
Abraham Lincoln. But it was not until 1964, during the
later part of the Civil War Centennial that we were given
the chance to hear the music of the Civil War as it was
played/sounded on original instruments. In October of
that year Milwaukee Rendent Fred Benkovic and a group
of musicians and Civil War collection formed a band to
play 1860’s period musical instruments and compositions.
Several different groups have come forth since that time
but none have attained professional quality until Heritage
Americana came on the scene. The sounds/music produc-
ed by Heritage Americana are far superior to any 19th
century reproduction attempted yet.

All instruments used by the band are originals dating to
1865 or earlier. Band members dress in 1860’s period
uniforms and play only original Union and Confederate
music. The group’s long-playing stereo record album,
Battle Cry of Freedom, consists of 19 selections, the ac-
tual arrangements of each having been played for Lincoln
during his lifetime. These include ‘‘Hail to The Chief,”
“Battle Cry of Freedom & Kingdom Coming Quick-
step,” The Star Spangled Banner’’, “When This Cruel
War is Over and Hoist Up the Flag Quickstep”, and
“Dixie Medley Quickstep.”

All music has been methodically researched by Mark
Elrod and therefore it is even more fascinating to hear the
music the soldiers heard as they heard it from the period
instruments and arrangements. Dr. Robert Garofalo,
Bandmaster, has conducted his group in a series of rous-
ing numbers. The album jacket, and a 12 page insert,
contain an interesting history of each selection as well as
appropriate illustrations picturing bands and instruments
of the 1860’s,

Here is presented a good opportunity to hear music ex-
actly as the Union soldiers heard it. A band that plays
with feeling and understanding, a band that puts real
meaning into each rendition of these manifestations of
grief that overwhelmed the American people in mid 1860.
They have re-created the mood, the atmosphere, the
tragedy of that time - one is caught up in that mood and
atmosphere, and the tragedy takes on new emphasis. The
recording is expertly done, and is clear and distinct.

Edgar G. Archer
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THE VIEW FROM ETERNITY
By Vaughan Shelton

Book, paper, 6 1/2°* x 9 1/4°*, 186 pp ., Forbes Nichols,
P.O. Box 996, Pocatello, Idaho, 1982. Price $5.95.

Almost twenty years ago Vaughan Shelton’s Mask For
Treason: The Lincoln Murder Trial was published to
mostly negative reviews. As Lincoln students recall, it of-
fered a rather controversial theory about those allegedly
involved. In Shelton’s new book, The View From Eterni-
ty (subtitled on the cover ‘‘Biography of a Clairvoyant,”
and on the title page *“The Outlines of Reality According
to Ruth’’), a biography of his late wife, he reveals for the
first time that his research for Mask was pursued in col-
laboration with her. ““Though the book itself was based
entirely on documentary evidence,” he states, ‘‘The value
of clairvoyant collaboration can’t be exaggerated.’’

The contributions of Shelton’s wife wook two major
forms—an analysis of evidence with clairvoyant insight
and a knowledge of when preliminary conclusions were
solid. He believes that the intellectual mechanics of
historical research involve reasoning from cause to effect.
‘‘But being able to establish the validity of reasonings as
one goes along,”’ Shelton observes, ‘“allows one to build
progressively to valid conclusions. . . .”’ In an appendix
he presents a ten-page summary of the Lincoln case ac-
cording to the Sheltons as it was ‘‘reconstructed by a
combination of conventional research and clairvoyance.”

However, the summary omits “‘the tedious documen-
tary references included in Mask.” That seems ap-
propriate, since those interested can turn to that work for
such citations. But another comment by Shelton is
somewhat disturbing. He writes: “‘Painstaking documen-
tation is a waste of time in any case. No one takes the
trouble to check it out.”’ That is probably true for most
lay-persons and even some so-called historians. But there
are many professional and amateur historians around to-
day who are taking the time—for example, James O.
Hall’s recent research into Robert H. Fowler’s 1961 arti-
cle, ‘“Was Stanton Behind Lincoln’s Murder?’’

It is not clear from Shelton’s summary exactly what
Ruth specifically contributed to his research. In an in-
troductory chapter he tells us that when they first met she
*“referred to a heretofore unknown conspiracy’’ and gave
him several clues. One was that Louis Paine and George
Atzerodt were entirely innocent. He collected the pieces
of the “historical jig-saw”’ and she helped him put them
together . Mask's publication was a double satisfaction to
the Sheltons. “It was both a significant historical work,”’
he says, ‘‘and the end-product of a successful, four-year
experiment in psychic research.”

However, some might suggest that these conclusions
are highly debatable ones.

Gary R. Planck
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“THE PREMIER CIVIL WAR EVENT OF THE YEAR"
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‘Summered in Vermont Mansion

Robert Lincoln: He Guarded His Famous
- Father’s Papers for More Than 50 Years

By RICHARD H. STEWART, The Boston Globe

MANCHESTER, Vt.—Each spring for seven years,
beginning in 1911, a train that included two private cars
pulled into the station in this New England village..

In one car were eight trunks containing some of the
most sought-after documents in American history, the
personal papers of President Abraham Lincoln. -

Nearly 50 years had passed since Lincoln’s assassina-
tion in 1865, yet the personal papers of one of the world's
most famous men remained shrouded in secrecy.

In the second car, a private coach, sat an imposing,
bearded man who controlled the fate of the documents
and who guarded their contents with the zeal of a man
protecting a priceless legacy.

Only Surviving Son .

The man was Robert Todd Lincoln, the eldest and
only surviving son of Abraham Lincoln. For 22 years, he
spent his summers here at Hildene, the mansion that he
built at the turn of the century.

Each spring from 1911, the trunks with their precious
cargo would accompany Lincoln to Vérmont from
Washington or Chicago; each fall, they would be loaded
aboard the train again for the return trip.

Then, in 1919, Lincoln turned over his carefully
guarded legacy to the Library of Congress with
instructions that the trunks not be opened until 21 years
after his death.: ;

It was at Hildene that Robert Todd Lincoln would die

in his sleep July 25, 1926, at the age of 82, the last of
President Lincoln’s family and the last survivor among
the men who stood around the bed that held the dying
President in April, 1865.

Hildene, sitting in quiet splendor surrounded by the,

‘Vermont hills, is New England’s most prominent link to
the 16th President of the United States. But it is a
little-knotn link.

Hildene is built on a rise that provides a panoramic
view of a sprawling valley and the Battenkill River, The
24-room Georgian Revival mansion with its eight
fireplaces and formal garden was Robert Lincoln’s
retreat from the pressures of his corporate duties in
Chicago and the oppressive heat and humidity of
Washington summers. =~ . . i

Constructed at a cost of $63,000 by a Boston
architectural firm, Shepley, Rutan & Coolidge, Hildene
is the centerpiece of the 412-acre estate Lincoin
purchased in 1902. Most of the furnishings in the
splendidly restored mansion are the originals.

The “Battle Hymn of the Republic,” the song that has
come to be associated with President Lincoln and the
Civil War, still resounds throughout the majestic home
by virtue of the 1,000-pipe Aeolian organ installed by
Lincoln in 1908. It is played for tours and the occasional
weddings and other social events held at Hildene.

Conducted Office Business

It was from an office in Hildene (a mixing of the words
“hill” and “dene,” the old English word for valley) that
Robert Lincoln for many summers conducted the
business of the Pullman Co. of Chicago, first as president
and later as chairman of the board.

In that office, behind a glass partition, are, among

other things, one of President Lincoin’s stovepipe hats

aggza hat box lined with an Indiana newspaper dated
1852. .. s e !
' It was'in {He library of the mansion, according to one
report, that Robert was discovered burning some of his
father’s documents in the fireplace. Nicholas Murray
Butler, then the president of Columbia University and a

friend of Robert's, claimed to have been alerted and
dissuaded Robert from burning any more papers.
Butler’s story is greeted with some skepticism
because he insisted the event cccurred in August, 1923,
four years after the trunks filled with the President’s
papers had been turned over to the Library of Congress,

Tenacious Guardianship

But the question remains, given Robert’s tenacious
guardianship of the presidential papers, as to whether
these were documents that Robert had purposely
withheld from the Library of Congress because he
believed them to be too sensitive or embarrassing to
share with history.

After the death of Robert’s wife, Mary, Hildene was
retained as a year-round home by Mary Lincoln
Beckwith, Robert Lincoln’s grand-daughter, until her
death in 1975. It is now maintained by the Friends of

. Hildene as a public memorial to the Lincoln family.

While it is the most obvious connection, the mansion
is not New England’s only assdciation with the Lincoln
family, though much of that association has been
clouded by time. C )

President Lincoln traced his heritage to New Eng-
land. His father, Thomas Lincoln, was a descendant of
Samuel Lincoln, who came to Massachusetts from
England and settled in Hingham in 1636.

Abraham Lincoln was a congressman from Hlinois
when his son Robert, then 16, journeyed to Mas-

" sachusetts in 1859 to take the entrance examination for

Harvard. He flunked, but was determined to win
acceptance. Robert later wrote of the experience. “I was
determined not to be beaten. I entered the well-known
academy at Exeter, N.H.” He enrolled Sept. 15, 1859, for
one year, one of 134 students attending Phillips- Exeter
Academy. The tuition was $24 for the year.

Five months later, his father, Rep. Abraham Lincoln
of lllinois, who was gaining national notoriety from the
much-publicized Lincoln-Douglas debates on the slav-
ery question, journeyed to New Hampshire to visit his
son. :

En route, Lincoln stopped in New York City to deliver
a speech (the fee was $200, plus expenses) at the Cooper

Please see LINCOLN, Page 2
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Institute, which historians have credited with enhanc-
ing his popularity in the Eastern United States and

. . helping him win the Repubhcan nomination for Presi-
.- dent three months later in Chicago. In the audience that

night were such luminaries as William Cullen Bryant
and Horace Greeley.

In his New England visit, Lincoln delivered speeches
in Exeter, Concord, Dover and Manchester, N.H.;
Providence and Hartford, R.I.

Witness Describes Speech

A witness to the speech in Exeter wrote of Lincoln:

“He rose slowly, untangled those lanky legs from
their contact with the rounds of the chair, dre% himself
up to his full height of 6 feet, 4 inches, and began his

_mefpeech. Not 10- minutes had passed before his uncouth

appearance was absolutely forgotten by us boys, and, I
believe, by all of that large audience.”
Robert won acceptance at Harvard in the fall of 1860.
His mother, Mary Todd Lincoln, twice journeyed to
Harvard, in the spring and fall of 1861, to visit her son.
On her first visit, she was tendered a reception at the
Paul Revere House in Boston hosted by Sen. Charles

Sumner.

Robert’s First Visit

Mrs. Lincoln also summered in the White Mountains
of New Hampshire in 1863 and in August of the same
year traveled to Manchester, Vt., with her sons, Tad and
Robert, and a servant. They stayed at the then-fashion-
able but now decaying Equinox House.

It was Robert’s first trip to the community that wasto
become his summer home and the place of his death.

"LINCOLN: Guardian of Father’s Papersfor More Than 50 Years

Mrs Lincoln returned to Manchester the following
year, 1864, with Tad. President Lincoln was scheduled
to make the journey to Manchester with them the next
fummer plans thwarted by the Presxdents assassina-
ion

Following his graduation from Harvard in 1864,
Robert spent a brief time at Harvard Law School but left
to enter the Army. He became a captain on the
headquarter’s staff of Gen. Ulysses S. Grant and was
present at Appomatox when Gen. Robert E. Lee
surrendered to Grant.

Robert went on to become a successful Chicago
lawyer and head of the Pullman Co. Though he never
held elective office, Robert Lincoln served as secretary
of war in the cabinets of Presidents Garfield and Arthur,

Please see LINCOLN, Page 3
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+and minister to England under President Benjamin
Harrison. y
* On at least two occasions, he was promoted for the
presidency by Republican leaders such as Henry Cabot
Lodge and Theodore Roosevelt. But Lincoln denied
interest. .
In 1887, he told an interviewer:
“I have seen too much of the wear and tear of official

* life to ever have a desire to re-enter it. Though I was but

* a bey when my father became President, I can well

remember the tremendous burden he was called on to

' bear. . . .The presidential office is a gilded prison. The
. care and worry outweigh, to my mind, the honor which

surrounds the position.” .
In addition to that of his father, two other presidential

. assassinations touched Robert Lincoln’s life. He was

present at the train station in Washington when
Garfield was shot. He was getting off a train in Buffalo
when he received word that McKinley had been shot.
He went to McKinley's bedside to console him.

There is one other touch of irony in the life of Robert
Lincoln.

In 1864, when a student at Harvard, Robert was in a.
crowd of people on the platform at the New York train
station. He was spun off his.feet by the crowd as the
train began to move and fell in the space between the
train and the platform.

He was “personally helpless, when my collar was
seized and I was quickly pulied up and out to secure
footing on the platform.” As he turned to thank his
rescuer, he recognized him immediately as one of the
most famous actors of the day, Edwin Booth. -

Within a year, Edwin’s brother, John Wilkes Booth,

would become infamous as the slayer of Abraham ,

Lincoln. ) .
(Independent Press Service)










The Lincoln Notebook

MNational Memorlal

——

THOMAS LINCOLN
January 6, 1778 - January 15, 1851

Thomas Lincoln moved from his birth place, Rockingham County,
Virginia, to the state of Kentucky in the 1780's with his parents —
Abreham and Bathsheba -- and with his brothers and sisters. In May,
1786, Thomas witnessed the murder of his father by Indians "...when he
was laboring to open a farm in the forest." That fall, his mother
moved the family to Weshington County, Kentucky (near Springfield),
where Thomas lived until the age of eighteen. From 1795 to 1802,
Thomas held a variety of jobs in several locations -- Jjobs that
increesed his earning power and helped to feed the Lincoln family. In
1802 he moved to Hardin County, Kentucky, where one year later, he
purchased & 23B-acre farm. Four years later, on June &, 1806, he
merried Nancy Hanks. Their first child, a dasughter named Sarah, was
born a year later. In 1808 Thomas bought a 300-scre farm on Nelin
Creek. There, on February 12, 1809, his son Abraham was born. A
third child, named Thomas, died in infancy.

Thomas was active in community and church affasirs in Hardin County.

He served as a jury member, a petitioner for & road, and as & guard
for county priscners, He could read a little, was a skilled
carpenter, and was a property owner. Thomas was a member of the
Little Mount Separate Baptist Church. In 1815 he purchased — for
cash -~ still another farm, the Knob Creek farm. This Knob Creek farm
wes the first home Abraham Lincoln could remember in later life,
Dozens of Kentucky farmers, slong with Thomas, fell victim to
Kentucky'e chaotic land laws. The title to each of the three farms he
had purchased proved to be defective. He lost land or money in each
case and in disgust moved to Indians in December 1816. There, the
land ordinance of 1785 ensured that land once purchased and paid for
was retained. Abraham Lincoln claimed many years later that his
father's move from Kentucky to Indiana was "partly on account of
slavery, but chiefly on account of the difficulty of land titles in
Kentucky." Slavery was ocutlawed in Indians. It is interesting to
know that in Hardin County, Kentucky there were 1007 slaves and only
1627 white males over the age of 16 in the yesr 1811. The Little
Mount Separate Baptist Church separated with the Regular Baptist
Church over the issue of slave ownership. Thomas Lincoln, a
carpenter, farmer, and laborer was forced to compete for wages against
wageless workers.

Lincoln Boyhood National Memorial, Lincoln City, Indiana 47552, 812-937-4757 ,




In Indiana, the Lincolns settled near Little Pigeon Creek in what was
then Perry County, later part of Spencer County. Here, Thomas farmed
and sold his skills as a carpenter. He put his unusually strong and
tall eight-year-old son to work -- planting, harvesting, cabin
building, and wielding an axe. Autumn frosts of 1818 had already
colored the foliage of the huge trees of oak, hickory, and walnut when
Nancy Lincoln became desperately ill. She was stricken with milk
sickness, a poisoning caused by the plant, white snakeroot. Cows
occasionally ate this abundant weed and passed the poison on in their
milk. People who drank this poisoned milk or ate its products faced
death. On October 5, 1818, Nancy died.

Left without a wife and mother for his children, the resourceful
Thomas remarried on December 2, 1819. He chose a widow from
Elizabethtown, Kentucky, Sarah Bush Johnston. These two hardy
pioneers, Thomas and Sarah, united their two families. Sarah's three
children -- Elizabeth, Matilda, and John -- joined Abraham, Sarah, and
cousin Dennis Hanks to make a new family of eight. Besides trading
his carpentry skills, managing a farm, and looking after his family,
Thomas found time during the next few years of his life in Indiana to
assist in building the Little Pigeon Creek Baptist Church, become a
member of the church, and serve as church trustee. By 1827 Thomas
realized his dream by becoming the outright owner of 100 acres of
Indiana land. .

Fear of white snakeroot poisoning, news of the fertile Illinois soil,
and the possible breakup of his family, lured Thomas westward in March
1830. Thomas sold his Indiana land and moved first to Macon County,
Illinois and eventually Coles County in 1831. His son Abraham left
home to make his way in the world during the family's move to Coles
County. Thomas Lincoln remained a resident of the county for the rest
of his life. His record as a citizen in Illinois seems to be less
commendable than that in Kentucky and Indiana. He was a defendant in
five lawsuits, four of which he lost. In all the suits but one, John
D. Johnston, his stepson and a notorious idler, was co-defendant.
Johnston was obviously a bad influence. By 1841 Thomas owned 120
acres of Illinois land, but within a year he had to sell a third of
his land to his son Abraham to get out of financial difficulty.

Thomas used the money from the sale of his land to get his stepson out
of trouble.

Thomas Lincoln's status as a respectable, responsible, and talented
citizen is now secure from his detractors. He, no doubt, did leave a
mark on his famous son. Thomas, was by all accounts well liked by his
neighbors, and he was a good storyteller, as was his son. Thomas's
evident dislike of slavery created an atmosphere in Lincoln's youth
that would allow Abraham to say many years later that he could not
remember a time when he was not antislavery in sentiment.

The house where Thomas Lincoln died in 1851, and where his widow died
in 1869, stood three miles from Shiloh Cemetery where they are buried.
Thomas Lincoln had reached the age of 73 years. He and his family had
lived in the states of Kentucky, Indiana, and Illinocis. He had paid
his taxes regularly, and left no unpaid debts behind him. He was a
good man, a good husband, and a good father.

LN-003 Rev. 07-29-86 .
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State Capitol

The year 1988 marked the one hundredth
anniversary of the complation of the lllinois State
Capitol Bullding. Archives staft assisted the
Secretary of State in observing this event. Fora
Fourth of July weekand ceramony it assemblad
more then sixty items which went Info a time
capsule. These items ranged from a curment
Springfield High Schoal yearbook to the No. 34
football |ersey of Chicago Bear Walter Payion.
Stalf also prepared 1he nomination which placed
the Capitol on the Natlonal Register of Historic
Places. A plague indlcating this accomplishment
was affixed 1o the Capltol’s facade af iis cast
antrance and was first displayed at this
caremony. Inside the Capitol's sast hall was
another Archives contribution, “One Hundred
Years Beneath The Dome" [a the title of a
display prepared by Archives staff. Sianding
over eight feet tall, its center and two flanking
panels highlight the structure's construction,
artwork, reconstruction, and renovation. Also
treated are the General Assembly, the Offices of
the Governor and the Secretary of State, and the
history of room 309 which successlvely has
been home to the Matural History Museum, the
State Library, a legisiative lounge, the Sacretary
of State’s Automotive Department, a legislative
lounge asgain, a press room and, currently, the
Senate Minority Leadership Office. The display
s now located outside the Governor's Office on
the Capltol's second floor whare it will ramain
for the nexi two vears,

Alsa In 1988 the Secretary of State in his
capacity as State Archivist issued a call for
papers in obaervance of the centennial of the
dedlcation of the Capital Bullding. The Obsarva-
tlon Committes consisted of E. Duane Elbert,
Eastern lllinols University; Maynard J. Brichford,
University of Iliinois at Urbana/Champaign;
Parry Duis, Unlversity of lllinois al Chicags;
Lesglle J. Stegh, John Deere and Company; and
John Daly, State Archives. The result of this call
was a special session at the Ninth Annual lllinois
History Symposium, sponsored by the lllinols
State Historical Soclety and held on Decamber 2,
in tha Capitol Bullding. The sassion was entitied,
“The Architect and Architecture of the Stata
Capitol,” and was chaired by Mark Sorensen of
the State Archives. Presentations Included
“David Littler va. the Statehouse Commissioners
(1885-1888)," by Mark Plummer, lllinols State
University; “Alfred H. Plguanard, Architect,” by
Wayne C. Temple, State Archives; and “Cartan
Pierre: A Lost Art Used to Decorate the lllinols
Statehouse Interior,” by Robert Willlams,

ILLINGIS STATE CAPITOL

University of Illinois at Urbana/Champsalgn,
Comments were provided by Mark Heyman,
Sangamaon State University. These three papers
will be published by \he Secretary of State lo
commemorate the Capitol's centennial.

Supreme Court
Case Files

Whan the Illinols State Archives first
published the Descriptive Inventory of the
Archives of tha Stats of lllinols In 1978, its entry
of Record Serles 801.1, Suprame Court Case
Files, covered the period 1820-1938, and con-
sisted of 4,714 cubic feet of material. Publication
of the Supplement to the Dascriptive Inventary
in 1885 reflected the accession of an additional
thousand cublc feat which coversd the years
1846-1970. Another 600 cublc fest was acces
sioned in 1988 from the Law Library at the
University of lliinols at Urbana/Champaign
where for a number of years these (iies had bean

In basement slorage and infrequantly consulted
by law studenis. This recent accession filled in
the perlod gap of 19371845, Consaquently the
case files now run unintermupted from 1820
through 1870 and in total bulk at 6314 cubic
faet. This record series is extremealy Ierge and its
impartance is obvious. The following summary
of thess case files |s taken from the Archives'
Dascriptive Inventory.

Records conslst of individual files
for every case appealad to the Suprema
Court, The quantity and substance of
materal in each file varles greatly and
depends both upon the disposition of
each case and on the removal of materlal
in accordance with Supreme Court rules.
However, for those cases In which the
Court did make a ruling, the official
opinion of the Court forms the core of the
record.

Material relating to action of lower
courts includes record of lower court pro-
ceadings, including briefs and absiracts
filed: opinions of lowsr courts.
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Documents filed with the Supreme
Court by appailant, appellee, patitioner, ar
reapondent Include briefs and reply
briets; briefs amicus curlae; abslracts,
additional abstracts, and short abstracts
of record; notlce of Intention to {lle peti-
tion for rehearing; petitions and motions,
Including petltions for rehearing; respon-
dant's reply to petitions; suggestions In
support of and in oppeosition to mations;
affidavits filed In support of motlons;
counter suggestions and objections to
motions; cross maticns; prool of service
of brief and abstract and atfidavit of ser-
vice; declaration of Intent to argue orally
before Court; application for supersedeas;
appearance by attorney or by counsal;
asalgnment of error (often a part of lower
court procasdings).

Flles also Include opinions of
Suprame Court; report of commigsioners
of Suprema Court, approved and promul-
gefed as official opinion_of Court,
1927-1933; Supreme Court orders, often
to effect ruling on motion; writs issued by
Court; transcript of testimony for casesin
which Supreme Court exercised original
Jurisdiction; abstract of agreed facts;
stlpulations, consisting of agreaments
betwesn appelies and appellant or petl-
tloner and respondent; notice that trial
records were returned under Rule Forty-
Two. Files also Include Incoming and out-
golng correspondence to Clark of
Supreme Court concerning individual
cases.

Much of this documeantation has evidential
value in that it shows the functioning of the
Court. Of wider interest is the informational
value of these files. Besides demonatrating
court procedures, they provide insights Into the
subjects the Court has dealt with. This is parti-
cularly true of the testimony transcripis from
the lower courts which In bulk dominate most of
thasa files.

The problem now becomes one of Intellac-
tual @coess. The Archives has defendant indexes
to these files for the years, 1920-1938, and the
Buprame Court ilsalf has similar indexes for
more recent cases. But this type of index Is anly
useful if oneé knows the defendant’'s name as it
applies to his or her research purposes. Leslis
Reagan, & doctoral candidate in history from the
University of Wisconsin at Madison, came to the
State Archives last year and asked to examine a
large number of Supreme Court case (iles which
she had identifisd as relating to abortions in
Chicago. Archlves staff were naturally interesled
In knowing how Reagan had been able to identity
these particulsr cases as pertaining to her topic.
She Indicated that a law librarian had used tha
LEXIS dafa base to conduct an on-line search of
llingls Supreme Court Opinfons, using the
appropriate key words. LEXIS is a product of
Meads Data Publishing. Its courterpart Is
WESTLAW, a property ol Wesl Publishing
Company. Both ara tools currently used routinely
In legal research. Although ceraln Archives
staff membears had knowledge of these commer-
clel data bases, none had ever consldared them
as powarlul subject access systams 1o the infor-
mational contant of the Supreme Court Case

OCCGS REFERENCE ONLY

Flles, the Archives' largest records sertes. Now
that staff has been made aware of these
valuable finding aids, we will be able to direct
users to these outslde resources.

Lincoln Document

A heretofora unknown Lincoln documeant
was disoovered recently at the IRAD depository
at Sangamon State University, It was found inan
accession of Sangamon County Probate Court
Casa Files which apan 1821-1834, forty cubic feet
of material, The document found associated
with Lincaln was an 1838 estate administrator's
bond. The bond was for Henry Lucas to admin-
ister the estate of David Cloyd. One of the
bond's signatories had been A. Lincoln. How-
ever, his signature had been struck ofl baldly
and another's substituted.

Probate Court Judge James Adams proba-
bly had besn the ong who struck out Lingoln's
signature, Adams was born in Hartford County,
Connecticut in 1783, He married Harrist Denton
in 1809 and at that tima thay lived In Crange
County, New York. By October, 1813 he was
sltting as a justice of the peace in Onondaga
County and four years later was admitted to the
New York State Bar. Through political connec-
tions he was appointed colonel in the state
militla in 1816 and promoted to brevet brigadier
general the year following. Agsin through
political clout, the governor appointed him Road
Commissioner for the Westmoreland and Sodus
Bay Turnplke Company in 1818. But also in 1818
the Court of General Sesslons at Oswego
indicted him for the forgery of & deed. After
posting bail he fled the county and by 1821 he
was living In Springflield, Illinols, and thers he
was licensed 1o practice law. His family later
|oinad him in Springfield whara he became active
in Democratic Parly politics. By 1823 he was
appointed a Justice of the peace and early In
1825 he was appointed Judge of Probale in
Sangamon County. In his early attermpis al
elactive office Adams was not successful, He
was consistently defeated in his races for LL
Gowvernor, 1826; Sangamon County Justice of the
Peace, 1827; Lt. Governor, 1830; Governor, 1834;
and Sangamon County Recorder of Deeds, 1835,

The law was changed so that probate
justices of the peace became elected instead of
appointed officials in 1837. That year Adams, a
Democrat, sought to retain his position in a race
agalnst Dr. Anson Henry, @ Whig and Lincoln's
parsonal physician and pollfical ally. The race
was heated. Beginning In June the Sangamo
Joumnal began a series of articles purportedly
authored by “Sampson’s Ghost" The deceased
Andrew Sampson had once owned the land on
which Adams |lved. In a total of six articles by
the specter, Adams was accused of fraudulantly
gcquiring his own homestead and of defrauding
the widow of Josaph Anderson of a land tract by
means of a forged mortgage, These letters prob-
ably were composed Jointly by Lincoln and his
cohorts, Edward Baker, Stephen Loganand John
Stuart. Further, Lincoln publlcly filed a court
suil apgainst Adams on behall of the widow
Anderson and with Just two days remaining
before the election, he personally circulated a
signed handbiil opposing the sitting probate

judpe. Despite Lincoin's and others' efforts,
Sangamon County went solldly Democratic In
1837 and Judge Adams was alected to retain his
seat on the bench, However, his opponents
were not quieted. Whig leaders obtained a copy
of Adams' Indictment In Oswego and published
the same in the Sangamao Journal on Movember
25, 1837,

David Cloyd died Intestate on March 31,
1B3B and his estata went Into the probate court
of Judge Adams. The judge selected Cloyd's
daughter's husband, Henry Lucas, to administer
the estate. Luces was required 1o post a §1,000
bond. Thomas Neale and Lincoln affixed thair
signatures as sureties to Lucas' bond on August
21, 1838, (This date in Lincoln's life has not been
previcusly accounted for In Lincoln Day by Day,
A Chronology, 18081865 Judge Adams no
doubt knew that Lincoln was in debt from his
Mew Salem mercantile adventuras and therafore
not -a rellable surety. And in all probability he
consequently crossed out Lingoln's signature
with soma-personal- pleasurs-and caused-Lucas
to find another to sign. George Bridges, Cloyd's
nalghbor and a farm owner, came forward as a
substitute,

Daspite highly unfavorable publlcity,
Adams, the Democrat, was reelected In 1838,
Eariy in 1841 he joined the Mormon Church.and
began to spend more and more time in MNauvoo,
Therein 1843 he succesaively took a second wife
whille atill married to his first, was elected as a
probate court justice for Hancock County, and
died of cholera. His estate was consldarable,

Because Lincoln's signature was struck oul
on the document in quastion and becauss of the
cirocumstances outlined above, the monstary
value of this estate administrater's bond is
significantly farger than it would have bean had
Lincoln's signature been accepled.”

*This article is an sbstract of & paper pre-
pared by Archives Chief Deputy Director Wayne
C. Temple, His paperisentitied, "“An Aftenmath of

i ‘= Ghost:' A New Lincoln ment"
Sﬂﬁf’.‘"@?angf Loy & i
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Hecﬁ;ds Disposals

The Archives's HRecords Management
Soction supervised the disposal of an unpre-
cedented number of state and local records in
1988, After records have bean inventoried and
scheduled for disposition by Archives" stafl, and
these schedules approved by the appropriate
Siate, Local or Cook County Records Commis-
slon, agencies can procesd with actual dis-
posals of obsolete records, Using approved
schedules, agency records offlcers complate
Records Disposal Certificates which identify
records saries o be destroyed. After these Cer-
iificates are approved by Archives' staff,
physical disposals take place. Last year 108,608
cublo feat of state records and 62,998 oublo feet
of local records were approved for disposal by
the above procadure. In total the 172,698 cuble
feel figure represenis & 2.5 percent Increasa
over 1987 and stands as an all time high to date,



Lincoln Family

The following Is a revised schedule of
grant cycles Iszusd by the National Historical
Publicatlons and Records Commission, The
brochure, Records Program Guidslines and
Procedures: Applications and Grants, may be
requested by mall or by phone: Records
Program, NHPRC-NPR, National Archives
Building, Washington, D.C. 20408, (202)
523-5388.

RECORDS PROGRAM GRANT CYCLES
{Effective Octobar 1, 1888)

NHPRC February Meating
(application Deadling: Oclobar 1)
Mational, Regional, and Statewida Projacts
Archival Programa: College and Universities
Archival Programs: Local Governments

Proposals Addresalng Native American
Initiative

NHPRC Application Deadlines

NHFRC June Meeting
(Application Deadline: February 1)
Archival Programs: Local Governments

Archival Programs: Musesums, Service
Organizations, Religious Institutions,
and Similar Applicants

Historical Photographs, Motion Pictures, and
Sound Recordings

Collection Projects: Arrangement and
Description, Praservation, etc.

NHPRC Oclobar Mesting
(Application Deadline: June 1)

National, Reglonal, and Statew|de Projects
State Board Regrant Propoaals

CAPITOL DISPLAY

Editor’'s Notes

This issue of For the Record . . . is the first
aince summer 1987 (vol. 10, no. 1} This lapse Is
due to more pressing prolects on which the
editors have bean engaged. In the last yearanda
half, routine Archives activities have continued
at pace and some of the special projects that
have been compleied are reported hereln.

Of particular note In this issue s the artlcle
on Supreme Court case files. It reminds us that
archivists are but a small componant of the
larger fleld of Information management and
consequantly we nead to Inform ourselvas of
the activities of our associates.

Kennedy Library Gift

Tne John Fiizgerald Kennedy Library, a
presidential library administered by the National
Archives, recently donated two Movembar 4,
1856 alaction tally lists to the State Archives.
One I8 from Peteraburg and the other Locust
Grove, both precincts In Menard County, In that
presidential electlon James Buchanan ran as
the Democratic candidate, John C. Framont as
the Republican one, and Millard Fillmore as a
Know-Nothing. A Linceln was listed as an
elactor for Fremoent, the first candidaie of the
naw Fepublican Party. In each of these pre-
cincts Fremonl cama In a poor third with
Buchanan leading In Petersburg and Fillmore In
Locust Grove. Statewide In 1858, Buchanan
received 105,528 voles, Fremont, 86,278, and
Fillmora, 37,531, Thesa two tally sheats comple-
mant the Archives' holdings of similar election
records at the pracinct level.

System NEBO

Pravious [ssues of this nawsletter (apring
1882 and winter 1887) have described System
MEBQ, tha Archives' aulomatad data processing
system which provides a high level of contral
ovar county records In the IRAD system. This
automated system was expanded In 1988 to
Include municipal, townshlp, town, and village
records as well, Since the lllinols Historical
Records Advisory Board's reporl of 1982 recom-
mandad more attention to local records other
than those al the county level, IRAD staff
increased efforts to make significant acces-
alons from these other levels of local govern-
manl, Successes In these arsas made enhance-
manls lo the NEBO System necessary and now
they have besn implemented. NEBO remains
limited to local government records from all
Ilinols counties with the exception of Cook. For
the Clty of Chicago, Cook County, and other
local government entities therein, a separale
system has been developed for control at the
record serles level, Because an IRAD deposilary
ler Cook has not yet been opaned, this systam
remains to be fully implemented,



ILLINDIS REGIONAL ARCHIVES DEPOSITORY
CARBOMDALE

Southern lllinois University
IRAD

The IRAD depository -al Southam llinols
University, Carbondale, was moved lo new
quariers in May. The current facility s located at
tha new Mormis Library Annex on McClafferty
Road. Because SIU's region encompasses the
earliest settlad part of the state, IRAD records
thera are the ofdest in the system. St. Clair
County Wills, for Instance, date back to 1772, As
-a conseguence of the richness of the collection
al the Carbondale depository, referance demand
there is the highest of the regional depositories,
The naw facillty is most welcome because it
offers a larger and more attractive reference
space; an expanded, environmentally improved,
well lighted, and securs records storage area;
and convenient parking access.

IRAD Microfilming

Tha Archives has engaged a contractual
employes, Don Baptist, o assist the IRAD Unit
in ita microfliming activities. By the terms of an
agreement with the Genealopgical Soclety of
Utah, the Archives has agreed to [denlify types
of local and state records which the Soclaty
wishes to microfilm and to negotiate with local
officlals for the Socisty's filming of certain of
theze records, The Socisty has targeted vital,
cansus, probate, land, milltary, naturalization,
immigration, and divorce records, In return for
these services, the Archives will recalve one
silver negative copy of each resl! filmed. Part of
Mr. Baplist's responsibilities will ba to maka
positive coples from these master negatives,
one each for: the appropriate IRAD depository,
the local official Involved, and the Stale
Archives as a use copy. Additionally he will be
engaged in microfiiming county, municipal and
township records that the ¢ =~t=l I™4N affira
has borrowsd for filming. A
will film are of tha type nc
Genealoglcal Society of Ut
include the minutes ol variol
bodies.

Illinois State
Genealogical Society

As part of recent inltlatives to Increase
cooperalion batween the Archives and the
lllinols State Genaalogical Sociaty, the Sociaty's
businass office has bean located In the Archivas
Bullding. Joyce Standridge, Executive Secratary
for tha Society, ocouples this new office. In
addition to processing memberships, her
responsibiliities Include promotional activities
such as workshops, membership drives and
publications other than the Socisty's Joumal
and nawsiotter.

Publications

Sevaral publications are available for
purchase from the Information Services
Section, Illinols Stata Archives, Archives
Bullding, Springfield, lllinois, 62756. Please
make checks payable (o: Secretary of Stale,

Descriplive Inventory of the Archives
of the State of lllinols (1878), 708 pp. Also
includes Supploment (1985), 224 pp., and an
Index (1978), 131 pp. A revised index will be
automatically sent to purchasers when

completed,
Price:; $20.00
A Guide lo Counly Records In the
lilinals Regional Archivas (1983), 376 pp.
Softcover Price; $ 5.00
Hardcovar Prica: §12.50
lliinpls Public Domain Land Snles
(1985), 7 pp. explanatory booklet, 144
microfiche (538,750 enlries).
Prica: $25.00

Two publications are avallable free of
charge to Illinois school taachers. Please
make raquests for these secondary sghool
curriculum packets on school letterhead
stationary,

Windows 1o tha Past, 1818-1880: A
Selection of lllinols County Records from
the lllinols State Archives (1982), leacher's
manual and 38 document facsimiles.

Early Chicage, 1833-1871: A Selection
of Clty Council Procasdings Flles from the
lllinols Stale Archives (1886), teacher's
manual and 50 document facsimilas.

For the Record... Is published twice a year,
by the lllinals State Archives, Offioe of the
Secretary of Stals, Archives Bullaing,
Springfield, Ilinols B2756.
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Lake Elsinore Genealogical Society
P.O. Box 807, Lake Elsinore, CA 92330

LINCOLN LINEAGE submitted by Bob Butterfield ' :

Friday November 15, 1912

Dear Mrs. Butterfield:

According to my promise made during a call of courtesy recently, I
herewith send you a copy of the Lineage of your husband, Charles Lincoln
Butterfield, for the information and use of your sons when they may marry
and have families of their own. The figures after each name indicate
each generation; Thus:- Thos. Linco'ln,2nd generation was the son of Thos.
Lincoln, 1st Generation; Thos. Lincoln of 3rd Generation was son of Thos.
Lincoln 2nd Generation and he the son of Thos. Lincoln 1st Generation, so
down all along the Line of Lincolns until your own people are reached.
Where the blank 1ines appear in the Butterfield 1line, effort should be
made to secure date of birth, marriage, and death, giving full name
in every case, also places of birth, marriage, and death. Nicknames are
not allowable in Genealogical records. If records are not perfectly kept,
their value is impaired for future Generations.

The first of your sons to marry will insert his name at the foot of
his father's record, adding the lineage of his progenitors; name in full
of wife, date of birth, also place and date of marriage. Then the 1ine-
age line will become his own, and can be copied with his name at the head

as on page one.

Your sons should know that it is a proud privilege to show a
correct lineage of nearly 300 years and very few are able to produce such
a record. It is to be hoped that it will inspire them to keep their
"honor bright".

After leaving your home I called on Mr. Bert Henry, 3608 E. 27th St.,
K.C. I then went to St. Joseph, Mo. and called on John W. Henry and .
W. M. Henry. 1 partook of supper at the latter's home, and have
mailed him a copy of our family lineage which he is to perfect as to
his own people, and supply copies to his brothers and sisters.

And you may desire to know something of my own family history;
I will state that I am the second son of Charles (R.) and Lucretia
Burtsell Lincoln, who in 1835 went to Greece as missionaries of the

! > .y
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| Protestant Episcopal Church. My only sister, Frances Rogers Lincoln,
was born at the mission station, and died while on a visit to England
several years ago. On their return from Greece, my parents settled in
Flushing, N.Y., where my father established the "Journal". a weekly
newspaper. It was here that Edward Butterfield learned to set type
prior to the Civil War. He then was an orphan boy, who ultimately
left our home for the West, and was Tost to our acquaintance thereafter.

I would be pleased to have a receipt of this letter and inclosures
acknowledged in the enclosed stamped envelope bearing my address.

With best wishes for yourself and sons, I remain sincerely,

Henry F. Lincoln

In this connection will say that I came to Missouri in 1890 and
published newspapers in Unionville, Lamar, and Brunswick. Was appointed
to my present position during the Spanish American War. While 1living in
Missouri, I was not aware that descendants of my Aunt Cornelia Lincoln
were residents of K.C., and St. Joseph. I came into possession of an old
letter of my Aunt, 5 or 6 years ago (written to my father in the 50's).
In this letter she mentioned her marriage to William Greer, and that she
had a baby boy, and was living in Independence, Mo. I wrote to the
County Clerk there and was given the address of Alice Bridges with whom
I have occasionally corresponded; calling upon her during my recent visit
to Missouri; Alice has the letter referred to in her possession - a gift
from myself.

Remind your sons that all their ancestors were truly devout Christian
people people and with them should "honor their father and their mother
and remember their Creator in the days of their youth.

********************************************************%

A friend of ours took her eight-year-old son to visit his
grandmother in Texas. When they arrived, the boy ran to a
loarge pegcan tree in the front yard, put his arms around the
massive trunk and asked, "Is this the family tree?"

Reader's Digest
4 —_—




LINEAGE
of
Charles Lincoln Butterfield
. from records of
The Lincoln Historical and Genealogical Association
of
Taunton, Massachusetts
Family Bible and other sources

Presented by
Henry Freeman Lincoln, Washington, D. C.

Thomas Lincoln1 born in England about 1603, Died October 1683 aged
about 80 years. He was a miller in Hingham, Massachusetts about 1635.
Moved to Taunton, Mass., before 1650, established a mill, irom works
and acquired largertracts 9? land. Married in England, 1627; name of
first wife unknown. Had five children:
Thomas?, b England 1628; d.1695  Samuel?, baptized February 1637
John2 b England 1630; d 1719 Maryz, baptized October 16, 1642

Sarahz, baptized December, 1645

Thomas Lincoln1 (on) December 10, 1665, married 2d wife, Elizabeth Street,
widow of Francis Street of Taunton, Massachusetts, by whom he had a

daughter, Maryz.

Thomas Lincoln2 (Thosl) born England, 1628. Settled in Taunton, Massachu-
setts (in) 1649; died 1695 aged about 67 years. He was a farmer, miller &

owner og iron works. Married Mary Austin. _Had ten children:

Mary b 1652 Sarah b 1654
Thomas® b 1656 Samuel® b 1658
Sarah3 b 1660 Hannah3 b 1663
Constant3 b 1665 Marcy3 b 1670

Jonah3 b 5 Experience b before 1694

Lake Elsinore Genealogical Society
P.0. Box 807, Lake Elsinore, CA 92330
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Thomas Lincoln3 (Thosz,Thosl) born Taunton, Mass., April 21, 1656. He was
a farmer and married Mary Stacy, of Taunton, Mass. Had seven children:

Thomas4 4 b 1680 Jonathanz b 1687

Benjamin 4 b 1681 Willigm b 1689

Nathaniel b 1684 Lydia b
Hanna b 1692

Jonathan Lincoln4 (ThosB,Thosz,Thosl) born Taunton, Mass., 1687, died
January 15, 1773, aged 86 yrs. He was a farmer. Married Hannah Andrews, b 1690.
d. in Norton, May 23, 1762, aged 72 yrs. Had seven children:

Jonatgan5 b 1713 Hannahg b 1723
James b 1715 Geogge b 1727
Elkangh b 1718 Job b 1730
Abiel b 1719

Abiel Lincoln5 (Jonathan4,Thos3,Thosz,Thosl) born Norton, Mass., 1719, d 1808

He was a farmer. Married Sarah Fisher, 1747. Had eight children:

Sarahg b 1748 ¢ b 1763

Abigl b 1750 Moll%e b 1766

Asa b 1752 Lucy b 1770 ~
Timothy b 1760 Abner b 1774 f

Abiel Lincoln6,Jr., (Abiels,Jonathan4,Thos3,Thosz,Thosl) born Norton, Mass.,
May 26, 17503 d Sept. 3, 1821. He was a farmer and served in the Massachusetts
Militia during the Revolutionmary War; 1775-1780. Married Hannah Wetherell,
April 5, 1770; she died February 27, 1774. Had two children:

Calvin’ b 1770 and oliver’ b 1772

Abiel Lincoln6 (on) January 22, 1778, married 2d wife, Lois Smirh. She died
February 25, 1795. Had six children:

Lois’ _ b Feb. 9, 1779 Charles! b April 22, 1783
Eunice, b May 3, 1780 Preston 7 b August 31, 1784
Calvin® b June 23, 1781 Stillman b July 27, 1787

Abiel Lincoln6 married 3d wife, (on) December 10, 1795, Mrs. Hannah (Morey)
Smith, widow of Dr. Tim Smith. Has three children:

Ebanezer Morey Lin oln7 b November 5, 1796
Lois Smit9 Lincoln b December 28, 1798
Charlotte b July 9, 1804

Charles Lincoln7 (Abie16,Abiels,Jonathan4,Thos3,Thos2,Thos1), born Norton, Mass.;

Monday April 21, 1783, died at Copake, New York March 1841, aged 56 years., 1l mos.
Buried in Hudson, N.Y. Cemetery (Lot 105, sec. 1B, Quaker section) March 21, 1841.
He was a builder and contractor. Married Nancy Coney (b Boston, Mass. Friday
October 31, 1788). She died in Brooklyn, N.Y.; aged 58 years, and was buried
September 16, 1846, in Greenwood Cemetery (Grave 47, Lot 951). Had ten children:

ﬁ




Lake Elsinore Genealogical Society
P.O. Box 807, Lake Elsinore, CA 92330

Charles b Feb. 9, 1806 Cornelia® b May 27, 1819
Eunice® b Dec. 20, 1806 Stillman® b Nov. 2, 1821
oliver® b Dept 14, 1810 Franklin B® b April 30, 1825
George8 b June 6, 1812 Eugene M.8 b Feb., 14, 1832

Harriet N.2 b Nov. 1, 1814

Cornelia Lincoln8 (Chas7,Abiel6,Abie15,Jonathan4,Thos3,Thosz,Thosl) born

Poughkeepsie, New York, Thursday May 27, 1819; Marriedg. c s g Butterfield.
Married 2d husband, William Greer; had children William™ and Alice”.

Cornelia Lincoln died at St. Joseph, Missoure.

Cornelia Lincoln and her Ilst husband ., . . . . . « « « « « . Butterfield had

children:
Harriet9 born married
Rosa9 born married
Charles9 born married
Edward9 born married
e Edward Butterfiel_d9 (qun§1§§_L}qqg}nggphas7,Abie16,Abiels,Jopathgn4,Thos3,
' Thos™ ,Thos ) :
: born:
married
died

Had children:

Charles Lincoln Butterfield10 born

Rcbert Butterfieldlo born

Charles Lincoln Butterfield10 (Edward Butterfieldg,Cornelia Lincolng,

Chas7,Abie16,Abie15,JonathanA,Thos3,Thosz,Thosl)
born
married
had children (11th generation)

L e 2 e e A R D T T N A T Tyl
BAD SEED....

A man was boasting of his ancient 1lineage and his
distinguished ancestors who had come over on the Mayflower.

The farmer, listening patiently, finally said, "That's too
bad, friend, vecause in my business we say: 'The older the
- seed, the worse the crop.'"

Tal D. Bonham. The Treasury gf Clean Country Joke, 1986. L
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FALLEY COLLFCTION

Margaret Dickson Falley donated her collection of boocks on Irish and
American geneology in 1980. In her study of family history and geneclogy
she acquired over 3,000 volumes, published in both the United States and
the British Isles. The collection includes more than 1600 American ref-
erence bocks, and nearly 200 volumes from other parts of the United King-
dom, as well as 170 microfilm reels of parish records, deeds, and emigra-
tion passenger lists from Irish sources.

Mrs. Falley is the author of a two-volume gquide to geneological study,
IRISH AND SCOTT-IRISH ANCESTRAL RESFARCH (BEvanston, 1962), which suggests
methods of research and oculines the nature of records and sources for the
American student of Irish and Scott-Irish family history. "The geneclogist
must first locate the geographical area of of his earliest known branch of
the family, and also the geographical origin of the earliest known ancestor,
whether he lived and died in Ireland or emigrated.” (p. iv) He must ex-
haust all-American sources to trace the ancestor who actually emigrated:
his place of birth, residence at the time of emigration, householder status
both in America and Ireland, the names of a wife and her parents and any
other family members, etc. Published sources are as vital to this search
as private family records: probate and marriage records, deeds, mortgages,
chancery and court records, pension documents, emigration passenger lists,
naturalization and alien registration lists, and records of indenture.

The Falley Collection contains many of these published materials
which would aid a geneologist's early research. Included are more than 100
family histories tracing early Zmerican families and their descendants.
State and local histories with information on wills, marriages, census re-
cords, and other vital statistics of public record are traced over 450
volumes. Represented are the New England states, particularly Massachu-
setts, the Midwest, and a few of the Southern states.

Reference bocks of a broader scope include U.S. Burean of Census in-
formation inventories, guides by such organizations as the D.A.R., the
Mormons, and the Quakers; the INDEX OF REVOLUTIONARY WAR FPENSICN APPLICA-
TICNS (Washington, 1966); the National Archives' PRELIMINARY INVENTORY
OF THE LAND ENTRY PAPERS OF THE GENERAL LAND CFFICE (1949); and general
books on methodology with suggestions for research procedures.

When American research has been completed, the geneologist must consult
materials in principal Irish repositories which house published works,
maruscript collections, and microfilmed records. The Falley Collection
contains Irish reference bocks including atlases and gazeteers, anomy re—
cords, published census statistics, and THE CIVIL SURVEY, a.d. 1654-1656.
Also represented are more than 50 indexes to marriage reccrds, baptisms,
school and chancery rolls, deed, tombstone inscriptions and memorials,
wills, calendars of state papers, and the reports of Ireland's Public
Record Office which alone run to nearly 60 volumes.
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